Perspectives on Linguistics and Ancient Languages 3

Greek Indicative Verbs in the Christian Palestinian Aramaic Gospels

Translation Technique and the Aramaic Verbal System

Tarsee Li

C

gorgias press

Greek Indicative Verbs in the Christian Palestinian Aramaic Gospels



Perspectives on Linguistics and Ancient Languages

3

Series Editor Terry Falla

Editorial Board

Aaron Michael Butts

J. K. Aitken

Wido van Peursen

Daniel King

Perspectives on Linguistics and Ancient Languages (PLAL) focuses on the theory and practice of ancient-language lexicography and subjects relating to it. Contemporary approaches to ancient-language lexicography in an age of digital technologies are linked to the study of modern linguistics and to virtually every aspect of ancient-language endeavour, including socio-cultural inquiry. Accordingly, the series contains collections of peer-reviewed essays, monographs, and reference works that have relevance to the ever-increasing reaches of ancient-language lexicography and that allow a better view of the linguistic universe in which every particle and galaxy are interrelated.

Greek Indicative Verbs in the Christian Palestinian Aramaic Gospels

Translation Technique and the Aramaic Verbal System

Tarsee Li



Gorgias Press LLC, 954 River Road, Piscataway, NJ, 08854, USA www.gorgiaspress.com

Copyright © 2013 by Gorgias Press LLC

All rights reserved under International and Pan-American Copyright Conventions. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise without the prior written permission of Gorgias Press LLC.

2013



ISBN 978-1-61143-895-6

ന

ISSN 2165-2600

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Li, Tarsee.

Greek indicative verbs in the Christian Palestinian Aramaic gospels : translation technique and the Aramaic verbal system / By Tarsee Li.

pages cm. -- (Perspectives on Linguistics and Ancient Languages ; 3)

1. Aramaic language--Grammar. 2. Greek language, Biblical--Verb. 3. Greek language, Biblical--Grammar, Comparative--Aramaic. 4. Translating and interpreting. 5. Bible. N.T.--Language, style. I. Title.

PJ5242.L5 2013 492'.356--dc23

492'.356--ac2

2013018574

Printed in the United States of America

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Contents	V
Preface	Xi
Acknowledgments	X111
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Terminology	2
1.2. Textual Basis	10
1.3. Methodology	12
2. The CPA Translation of the Greek Imperfect Indicative	15
2.1. Translation of Regular Greek Progressive Imperfects	
2.1.1. Translated by CPA $\prec \circ \circ \circ$ + Participle	
2.1.2. Translated by CPA Passive Participles	
2.1.3. Translated by CPA ≺om + Verbal Adjective	
2.1.4. An Ambiguous Instance	
2.1.5. Instances with Textual Variants or Interference	
2.2. Translation of Regular Greek Non-Progressiv	ve
Imperfects	21
2.2.1. Stative Continuous Imperfect	22
2.2.1.1. Translated by CPA 🗸 om + Participle	
2.2.1.2. Translated by CPA Participles	23
2.2.1.3. An Ambiguous Instance	23
2.2.1.4. Instances Requiring Additional Comment	23
2.2.1.5. An Instance with Textual Variants	24
2.2.2. Habitual Imperfect	24
2.2.2.1. Translated by CPA A Participle	24
2.2.2.2. Translated by CPA Participles	25
2.2.2.3. Translated by CPA Perfects	25
2.2.2.4. Ambiguous Instances	26
2.2.2.5. An Instance with Textual Variants	26
2.2.3. Inceptive Imperfect	27
2.2.3.1. Translated by CPA CPA 	

	2.2.4. Tendential Imperfect	28
	2.2.4.1. Translated by CPA $\prec \circ \circ \circ$ + Participle	28
	2.2.4.2. Instances with Textual Variants	
	2.3. Translation of Special Types of Greek Imperfects	28
	2.3.1. Periphrastic Imperfect	
	2.3.1.1. Progressive Periphrastic Imperfects	29
	2.3.1.2. Non-Progressive Periphrastic Imperfects	30
	2.3.2. Imperfect Indicative of εἰμί as a Simple Verb	30
	2.3.2.1. εἶμί with a Noun Phrase Predicate	
	2.3.2.2. εἰμί with an Adjectival Predicate	33
	2.3.2.3. εἰμί with an Adverbial Predicate	34
	2.3.2.4. εἰμί with a Prepositional Phrase Predicate	34
	2.3.2.5. εἰμί in Possessive Expressions	35
	2.3.3. Imperfect Indicative of ἔχω Expressing Possession	
	2.3.4. Imperfect Indicative of Verbs That Frequently	
	Introduce Direct Speech	
	2.4. Non-Active Instances in Greek and CPA	
	2.4.1. Deponent Verbs	
	2.4.2. Non-Deponent Non-Active Verbs	
	2.4.3. Active Verbs Translated as Non-Active in CPA	
	2.5. Summary	43
3. T	he CPA Translation of the Greek Present Indicative	45
	3.1. Translation of True Greek Presents	
	3.1.1. Translated by CPA Pronoun + Participle	48
	3.1.2. Translated by CPA Participles	
	3.1.3. Translated by CPA Passive Participles	52
	3.1.4. Translated by CPA Imperfects	53
	3.1.5. Translated by CPA Pronoun + Verbal Adjective	53
	3.1.6. Translated by CPA Nominal Expressions	54
	3.1.7. Instances with Textual Variants	
	3.2. Translation of Greek Historical Presents	56
	3.2.1. Translated by CPA Perfects	
	3.2.2. Translated by CPA Pronoun + Participle	
	3.2.3. Translated by CPA Participles	
	3.2.4. Ambivalent Instances	
	3.2.5. Translated by CPA rom + Participle	
	3.2.6. Translated by CPA 🗸 on + Verbal Adjective	
	3.2.7. Instances with Textual Variants	
	3.2.8. An Additional Instance	
	3.3. Translation of Greek Futuristic Presents	62

3.3.1. Translated by CPA Pronoun + Participle	63
3.3.2. Translated by CPA Participles	63
3.3.3. Translated by CPA Imperfects	64
3.3.4. Instances with Textual Variants	64
3.4. Translation of Special Types of Greek Presents	66
3.4.1. Present Indicative in Indirect Discourse	66
3.4.2. Present Indicative of Past Actions Still in Progress	67
3.4.3. Periphrastic Present	68
3.4.4. Present Indicative of εἰμί as a Simple Verb	69
3.4.4.1. εἰμί with a Noun Phrase Predicate	70
3.4.4.2. εἰμί with an Adjectival Predicate	
3.4.4.3. εἰμί with an Adverbial Predicate	76
3.4.4.4. εἰμί with a Prepositional Phrase Predicate	77
3.4.4.5. εἰμί without an Expressed Predicate	78
3.4.4.6. εἰμί in Special Expressions	79
3.4.5. Present Indicative of ἔχω Expressing Possession.	
3.4.6. The Verbs δεῖ and ἔξεστιν	81
3.4.7. The Verb ἥκω	
3.4.8. Present Indicative of Verbs That Frequer	ıtly
Introduce Direct Speech	
3.5. Non-Active Instances in Greek and CPA	
3.5.1. Deponent Verbs	
3.5.2. Non-Deponent Non-Active Verbs	
3.5.3. Active Verbs Translated as Non-Active in CPA	
3.6. Summary	93
4. The CPA Translation of the Greek Future Indicative	97
4.1. Translation of Regular Future Indicatives	
4.1.1. Translated by CPA Imperfects	
4.1.2. Translated by CPA Pronoun + Participle	
4.1.3. Translated by CPA Participles	99
4.1.4. Translated by CPA Imperfect of مهم + Participle	
4.1.5. Translated by CPA Passive Participles	
4.1.6. Instances with Textual Variants	
4.2. Translation of Special Types of Greek Futures	102
4.2.1. Periphrastic Future	103
4.2.2. Future Verb Phrases with μέλλω	
4.2.3. Future Indicative of εἰμί as a Simple Verb	105
4.2.3.1. εἰμί with a Noun Phrase Predicate	
4.2.3.2. εἰμί with an Adjectival Predicate	
4.2.3.3. εἰμί with an Adverbial Predicate	

	4.2.3.4. εἰμί with a Prepositional Phrase Predicate	108
	4.2.3.5. εἰμί without an Expressed Predicate	108
	4.2.3.6. εἰμί in Possessive Expressions	109
	4.3. Non-Active Instances in Greek and CPA	109
	4.3.1. Deponent Verbs	
	4.3.2. Non-Deponent Non-Active Verbs	111
	4.3.3. Active Verbs Translated as Non-Active in CPA	112
	4.4. Summary	113
5. T	he CPA Translation of the Greek Aorist Indicative	115
	5.1. Translation of Regular Greek Aorist Indicatives	115
	5.1.1. Translated by CPA Perfects	
	5.1.2. Translated by CPA rom + Participle	
	5.1.3. Translated by CPA Passive Participles	
	5.1.4. Translated by CPA Pronoun + Participle	
	5.1.5. Translated by CPA Participles	
	5.1.6. An Ambiguous Instance	
	5.1.7. Translated by CPA Imperfects	
	5.1.8. Instances that Involve Textual Variants	
	5.2. Translation of Special Types of Greek Aorists	125
	5.2.1. Aorist Indicative of ἔχω Expressing Possession	125
	5.2.2. Aorist Indicative of Verbs That Frequently	7
	Introduce Direct Speech	126
	5.3. Non-Active Instances in Greek and CPA	128
	5.3.1. Deponent Verbs	128
	5.3.2. Non-Deponent Non-Active Verbs	130
	5.3.3. Active Verbs Translated as Non-Active in CPA	131
	5.4. Summary	131
6. T	he CPA Translation of the Greek Perfect Indicative	133
	6.1. Translation of Regular Greek Perfect Indicatives	133
	6.1.1. Active Perfect Indicatives	
	6.1.1.1. Translated by CPA Perfects	134
	6.1.1.2. Ambiguous Instances	
	6.1.2. Non-Active Perfect Indicatives	
	6.1.2.1. Translated by CPA Passive Participles	136
	6.1.2.2. Translated by CPA ≺om and T-Stem Participle	
	6.1.2.3. An Instance Involving a CPA Addition	
	6.2. Translation of Special Types of Greek Perfects	
	6.2.1. Perfect Indicative Verbs That Express the Present	
	Tense	

6.2.2. Periphrastic Perfect	140
6.3. Summary	
7. The CPA Translation of the Greek Pluperfect Indicative	143
7.1. Translation of Regular Greek Pluperfect Indicatives	
7.1.1. Translated by CPA Perfects	143
7.1.2. Translated by CPA ≺om + Participle	144
7.2. Translation of Special Types of Greek Pluperfects	145
7.2.1. Pluperfect Indicative Verbs That Express the Simp	
Past Tense	145
7.2.2. Periphrastic Pluperfect	147
7.3. The CPA Translation of the Greek Periphrastic Futur	re
Perfect	149
7.4. Summary	150
8. Translation Technique and CPA Verbal Function	151
8.1. Observations on Translation Technique	151
8.2. Observations on the CPA Verbal System	154
8.2.1. The CPA Perfect	154
8.2.2. The CPA Imperfect	156
8.2.3. The CPA Participles	159
8.2.3.1. rop + Participle	160
8.2.3.2. (Pronoun +) Participle	162
8.2.4. The CPA Passive Participle	171
8.2.5. The CPA <i>qattil</i> Verbal Adjective	
8.2.6. CPA Conditional Clauses	178
8.2.6.1. Counterfactual Conditions	179
8.2.6.2. Factual conditions	
8.3. Observations on CPA Nominal Clauses and Clause	es
with ≺om	183
8.4. Observations on Textual Issues	187
9. Conclusion	189
Bibliography	
Index of Passages Cited	201

PREFACE

The early seeds of this study go back to a 2004 NEH summer seminar on Aramaic at Duke University, in which Lucas Van Rompay introduced several of the participants including myself to Christian Palestinian Aramaic. At the time I was also considering a long term project on a historical grammar of ancient Aramaic. A key issue in such an undertaking is the function of the Participle in different forms of Aramaic, which also has some fascinating implications for historical linguistics. However, my desire to explore the function of the CPA Participle had to be placed on hold for a few years due to other duties and projects. A grant for the summer of 2011 allowed me the time and resources to pursue this research, and my original intention was to publish my findings as a journal article on the CPA Participle. However, in the process of doing the research, I realized that I needed to expand the study to include other parts of the verbal system. As a result, I decided to survey the translation of all Greek Indicative verbs, and the study evolved into this small monograph.

> Tarsee Li April, 2013

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was made possible by a United Negro College Fund (UNCF) Henry C. McBay Research Fellowship for the summer of 2011. Special thanks are due to Kimberly Hall, Director, Program Services at UNCF, and Lucy Cort, Proposal Development Specialist, Office of Sponsored Programs at Oakwood University, for their assistance with administrative matters of the grant.

It is my pleasure to acknowledge two individuals who read earlier drafts of this study. Stephen Kaufman granted me access to the Christian Palestinian Aramaic texts of the Comprehensive Aramaic Lexicon when I first decided to embark on this study. He also read an early draft of this book and offered some valuable comments. Lucas Van Rompay, who introduced me to Christian Palestinian Aramaic some years ago, read a later draft of this book and also offered valuable comments and suggestions. The opinions expressed and any mistakes are my own.

Thanks are also due to Paulette Johnson, Kieren Bailey, and Elizabeth Mosby of the Eva B. Dykes Library at Oakwood University for processing inter-library loans and accommodating requests related to my research. This may not seem exceptional for scholars used to working with large research libraries. But their help was significant in light of the fact that this is a small library in a historically black university with limited resources.

I also wish to thank Terry Falla, the editor of this series, and the anonymous readers of the series for their helpful suggestions. Thanks also goes to Melonie Schmierer-Lee for her fine work in the copyediting and the final preparation of the book for printing.

1. Introduction

Christian Palestinian Aramaic (hereafter, CPA)¹ belongs to the western group of the late ancient Aramaic languages that flourished from the 3rd century of the Christian era to the rise of Islam, along with Samaritan Aramaic and Jewish Palestinian Aramaic. CPA was used by Aramaic-speaking Christians in Syria-Palestine and Egypt during the Roman, Byzantine, and Arab periods, as a living language until the beginning of the 8th century CE and as a written language until the 13th century CE. Extant texts consist mainly of translations from Greek, and can be subdivided into three periods. The early period can be dated to the 5th-7th centuries CE, the middle period to the 8th-9th centuries, and the late period to the 10th-13th centuries (Müller-Kessler 1999: 631). In contrast to the early and middle periods, texts from the late period show much more interference from other languages, such as Syriac and Arabic. Though the extant texts consist mainly of translations, they are still valuable for the understanding of ancient Aramaic dialects because CPA was a living language in the early period.

Although extant texts in CPA have been known for a long time, and many were published over a century ago, Aramaic scholars are indebted to the works of Müller-Kessler and Sokoloff for more accurate editions of CPA texts based on manuscripts of the early and middle periods, resulting not only in corrections to earlier editions, but also in a clearer distinction between the different periods of CPA. These newer editions of CPA texts allow for more accurate descriptions of CPA grammar. Müller-Kessler (1991) published a grammar that deals with the script, phonology, and mor-

¹ This dialect has also been called Syropalestinian Aramaic. More recently, Desreumaux (1997) called it Melkite Aramaic.

phology of the CPA language. However, a promised forthcoming volume on syntax has not yet appeared. In fact, a thorough study of CPA syntax has never been published.² It is my hope to contribute to filling this lacuna by a study of the CPA translation of Greek Indicative verbs in the New Testament Gospels. Specifically, this study involves a description of translation technique and of its implications for the understanding of CPA verbal function.

1.1. TERMINOLOGY

Since there is no universally accepted terminology for the study of grammar, it is useful to begin by briefly explaining the grammatical terminology adopted in this book. Both Greek and Aramaic have a long history of study, and each language has its own tradition of grammatical terminology. The names of the grammatical forms in Greek and CPA follow the common terminology of their respective traditions. As for the function of these forms, however, inasmuch as this study involves both languages, it was deemed useful to adopt linguistic labels and categories that are cross-linguistically valid. Therefore, though not ignoring the traditional terminology for verbal functions in Greek and Aramaic, which will be referred to as necessary, the labels used here for morphosyntactic function follow primarily those of Comrie (1976).³ Whereas tense describes

² Studies on specific points of syntax have appeared, e.g., Bar-Asher (1988), as well as short sketches of CPA syntax, e.g., Nöldeke (1868: 506–513), whose observations on verbal function comprise only a few lines. The most comprehensive study of CPA syntax was that of Schulthess (1924: 80–99). However, his remarks were extremely brief. For example, the discussion of the function of verbal forms occupies little more than three full pages (pp. 86–90). The recent publication of more accurate CPA texts makes it necessary to update earlier observations and affords us the possibility of presenting more a complete description of CPA syntax and morphosyntax.

³ Since the labels for verbal function can be the same as or similar to names of verbal forms (e.g., "perfect" in perfect aspect vs. Greek Perfect Active Indicative or CPA Perfect), I have adopted here the common practice of distinguishing them by capitalizing the names of verbal conjugations (e.g., Greek/CPA Perfect) and leaving names of tense/aspectual functions in lower case (e.g., perfect).

the relationship between an event and some other point in time, such as the moment of speech (e.g., past, present, future), grammatical aspect describes how its internal temporal structure is viewed. That is, aspect may describe a portion of the time of occurrence (beginning, middle, or end), or the frequency of occurrence, etc. Thus, "the perfective looks at the situation from outside, without distinguishing any of the internal structure of the situation, whereas the imperfective looks at the situation from the inside" (Comrie 1976: 4). For example, in the sentence, "John was reading the book, when I entered" (pp. 4-5), the last verb, "entered," can be said to be "perfective" in that the action is viewed as a single whole, whereas the verb phrase "was reading" is "imperfective," because it makes an explicit reference to a portion of the action, i.e., in this case, the act of reading is described in the middle, excluding the beginning and the end of the action. Comrie (pp. 24-25) also subdivided the imperfective aspect into "habitual" and "continuous," the latter consisting of "progressive" and "nonprogressive." However, Bybee, Perkins, and Pagliuca (1994: 137-139) subdivided imperfective aspect into "habitual" and "progressive," because they observed that, although examples can be found of grammatical forms expressing habitual, progressive, and imperfective aspects, there are no examples in cross-linguistic data of a non-progressive continuous grammatical construction. The label "habitual" refers to customarily repeated actions. As used in this book, it also serves as an umbrella term for not only habitual actions, but also those that are iterative, i.e., repeated actions that have a well-defined end point, or frequentative, i.e., actions that occur frequently in a specific period of time. The label "progressive" refers to a grammatical expression that describes an action as ongoing at reference time. And the label "imperfective" refers to a construction that can express both habitual and progressive meanings. These functions can be illustrated by the following examples.

- 1. Elle lisait.
- 2. She was reading.
- 3. She used to read.

Sentence 1 above contains a French *imparfait*, or a past imperfective that can denote either the past progressive (sentence 2) or the past habitual (sentence 3), depending on context. English does not have a past imperfective construction, but can express both the past

progressive (sentence 2) and the past habitual (sentence 3) by means of distinctive constructions. Furthermore, as Comrie's discussion suggests, there is some inevitable variation from language to language, and grammatical constructions for "progressive," "habitual," or "imperfective" do not always express the exact same range of meanings across languages.

There is also a relationship between imperfective aspect and present tense. Bybee, Perkins, and Pagliuca (1994: 126) argued that the present tense is a type of imperfective, because present tense constructions in most languages can usually express not only the actual present, i.e., an action that is occurring at the moment of speech (e.g., "He is eating lunch"), but also the general present, i.e., a statement of fact or an action that habitually or customarily occurs but may not be occurring at the moment of speech (e.g., "He drinks with his meals").4 That is, since the first type of present is in essence progressive and the latter is gnomic or habitual, the fact that both can be expressed by the same construction means that it is proper to consider the present tense a present imperfective.⁵ Whereas a general (i.e., atemporal) imperfective construction can function in the past, present, or future, a past imperfective, on the other hand, is primarily restricted to the past time. Hence, in most contexts, a past imperfective construction does not express the present, nor does a present construction express the past imperfective.

Another group of grammatical functions relevant for this study can be labeled "perfect." According to Comrie (1976: 52), "the perfect indicates the continuing present relevance of a past situation." In reality, the label "perfect" has both a broad and narrow meaning. In its broad sense, perfect serves as an umbrella term for both anterior and resultative. In the narrow sense, a perfect is an anterior. According to Nedjalkov and Jaxontov (1988),

⁴ These English present examples also illustrate the fact that modern English dynamic verbs do not have a true "present tense," but rather two separate constructions for progressive and general present.

⁵ Bybee (1994: 236) does allow for exceptions. The present can be perfective in performatives or in the narration of ongoing events, such as a sports event. Otherwise, presents are imperfectives.

resultatives are "verb forms that express a state implying a previous event" (p. 6), whereas an anterior (called a "perfect" by Nedjalkov and Jaxontov) refers to "a form that expresses an action (or process or state) in the past which has continuing relevance for the present" (p. 15).6 Anteriors can be derived from any verb, whereas resultatives are formed from limited lexical sources. Moreover, languages can have various configurations of what and how perfect notions are expressed. Some languages only have an anterior grammatical construction, others only a resultative one, and others both anterior and resultative constructions. Some languages even have more than one type of resultative construction.

There is also a sense in which the different types of perfect are diachronically related. In general, Maslov (1988) explained the grammaticalization of the perfect as follows: "from denoting a state to denoting an action that causes that state, and then—to simply denoting an action" (p. 70). As part of this general development, "it may be said that the statal perfect evolves into the actional perfect" (p. 71), i.e., a resultative tends to eventually develop into an anterior. Another way to state it is that stative grammatical constructions grammaticalize into resultatives, which in turn grammaticalize into anteriors, and the latter grammaticalize into perfectives or past tenses (see Bybee, Perkins, and Pagliuca 1994: 51–105). Grammatical constructions can, and often do, have more than one function, because they may retain some of their previous functions along the path of their development.

It is also relevant for this study to briefly mention terminology related to voice. The labels "voice" and "diathesis" are sometimes used interchangeably and sometimes distinguished. In the present study, these two labels will be used interchangeably. Shibatani (2006: 220–221) explains the relationship between aspect and voice as follows: "Aspect asks *where* the vantage point is with regard to the temporal structure of an action. . . . Voice, on the other hand, asks *how* an action evolves — that is, it asks about the nature of its origin, the manner in which it develops, and the way that it termi-

⁶ The label "perfect" can also apply to the "inclusive perfect," which denotes actions or states that began previously and continue at reference time. For example, "I have lived here for three years" (Maslov 1988: 65).

nates." However, there is some diversity in the definition of voice and of its main divisions, active, passive, and middle. Further, voice is not limited to verbs, but nominal forms can also be marked for voice. Traditionally, a verb has been described as in the active voice when its grammatical subject is the agent or actor, and in the passive voice when the grammatical subject does not perform the action, but is the patient, target, or undergoer of the action. However, according to Haspelmath (1990: 59), it "may not be possible to resolve the question of the main function of the passive crosslinguistically." He suggests instead that the passive is best understood as primarily a morphological category (p. 62). As for the middle voice, according to Kemmer, the middle voice denotes a transitive situation performed by a single entity on itself, which is distinguished from reflexive voice in that the latter denotes a transitive situation where the actor and patient/undergoer are coreferential. This distinction can be illustrated by the following two sentences:

John is bathing in the river. John is bathing himself in the river.

In the above examples, although the verb in the first sentence is intransitive in terms of traditional English grammar, both sentences must be understood as denoting a semantically transitive situation, assuming that they describe the same event. Therefore, the first sentence expresses the middle voice, i.e., a transitive situation performed by a single entity on itself, whereas the second sentence expresses the reflexive voice, i.e., a transitive situation where the actor and patient/undergoer are co-referential.

For the purpose of this study, it is not necessary to base our terminology on the most comprehensive description of voice phenomena. That is, since this study is limited to verbal phenomena, it is sufficient to state that voice or diathesis describes the relationship between the verb and the participants in a clause. Further, although it is acknowledged that Active, Middle, and Passive grammatical forms do not necessarily correspond to active, middle, and

passive semantic functions,⁷ since the present research includes the study of translation technique, the translation of formal categories is the natural starting point for any discussion. At times, it may be necessary to single out a specific diathesis for discussion, e.g., passive. At other times, more than one type of non-active voice can be grouped together. In such cases, for the sake of simplicity, I will use the label "non-active" to refer to any voice other than active.

Mention must also be made of deponent verbs. Greek deponent verbs are those that never occur in the Active form, e.g., ἔρχομαι "to come." There are some verbs, however, that do not occur in the Active form in the New Testament, but do so outside the New Testament, and are, therefore, not true deponents (e.g., διαστέλλω, ἐκπλήσσω, περιβλέπω, φοβέω). Nevertheless, some of these are provisionally included among deponent verbs in this study, because their syntactic behavior or semantic content in the New Testament may qualify as deponent. For example, since the object of the New Testament verb φοβέομαι occurs in the accusative (e.g., Luke 18:2,4), it is grammatically marked as the direct object rather than the agent or cause of fear. Thus, φοβέομαι means simply "to fear," not "to be frightened," as if it were the passive of φοβέω "to frighten." It must also be acknowledged that the notion of deponency in Greek has been challenged (Taylor 2004). My classification of Greek verbs as deponent is due to practical rather than theoretical reasons, i.e., deponency is a notion that is still currently employed in standard Greek lexical and grammatical terminology and many deponent verbs in Greek are in fact translated by active forms in Aramaic. Hence, even if deponent may not be the correct label for these verbs, the category has at least some heuristic value, i.e., there is a practical usefulness in classifying them separately.

Although there are differences in the definition of some voices, the cross-linguistic data concerning their diachronic development is less ambiguous, at least for some functions. Kemmer (1993: 151–242) observed that the most common source of gram-

⁷ As already stated, the present study distinguishes between form and function by capitalizing the names of grammatical forms, including voice, but not the names of their functions.

matical markers of middle voice consists of markers of reflexive voice. According to Heine and Kuteva (2002: 252–53) reflexives tend to grammaticalize into anticausative⁸ or middle, which in turn grammaticalize into passive.⁹ A more comprehensive account of the grammaticalization of passive voice can be found in Haspelmath (1990), who also observed that it is more likely for a language to lack a passive than to have one, and that some languages have more than one way of marking the passive (p. 28). For the purpose of the present study, it is not necessary to describe in detail all of the attested paths of grammaticalization.

In passing, I should mention that Farina (2011) made a strong argument for categorizing the Syriac (and Semitic) T-stems as expressing middle diathesis. However, it is important to note that her use of the label "middle" does not refer to one specific function, but to a "network" (p. xi) of phenomena, a "spectrum of meanings" (p. 96), or "the net of semantic, syntactic and morphological phenomena" (p. 135) that relate to middle diathesis. Thus, her characterization of T-stems as middle does not deny, inter-alia, certain passive functions. Although I partially agree with her conclusions, it is beyond the scope of this study to categorize any grammatical form in terms of an overarching semantic meaning that encompasses all attested functions. Rather, this study will simply list the various attested functions, because, from the perspective of grammaticalization, it is normal for a grammatical construction to

⁸ It is useful to give a brief description of unaccusative and anticausative diathesis. An unaccusative verb is an intransitive verb whose subject is not the agent. That is, the grammatical subject is the semantic patient, i.e., it does not actively initiate and is not responsible for the action. English examples include "to die," "to fall." Some unaccusative verbs are also anticausative, i.e., they are verbs whose subject is the patient of the action or event, but whose agent or cause cannot be syntactically expressed. For example, in the English sentence, "The car drives well," the addition of an agent (the driver) in the same clause would be ungrammatical.

⁹ Heine and Kuteva suggest that, since middle is not clearly definable, the grammaticalization of reflexive to middle may be better explained as part of the development of anticausative to passive.

have more than one function. These multiple functions often reflect its historical development.

It is also important to mention and explain a few terms related to grammaticalization. Grammaticalization denotes the study of how certain lexical terms and constructions come to serve grammatical functions and how grammatical items develop new grammatical functions. It is beyond the scope of this research to give a full discussion of grammaticalization. Other works have done this quite well (e.g., Bybee, Perkins, and Pagliuca 1994; Hopper and Traugott 2003). However, it is useful here to briefly describe some relevant facets of the process of grammaticalization assumed in this book. As a word or grammatical construction develops along the path of grammaticalization, traces of earlier functions or lexical meanings tend to persist, a phenomenon called "persistence" (Hopper 1991). Hopper cites Bybee and Pagliuca's example of the present-day English future marker "will," which not only expresses a prediction (i.e., simple future), but also the earlier Old English modal notions of willingness (e.g., "someone who will sign for ...") and intention (e.g., "I'll put them in the post today"). Thus, at any synchronic point in time, a given form may have more than one function (i.e., "persistence"). When a form begins to express the meaning already expressed by another existing form, a process called "renewal" (Hopper and Traugott 2003: 122-124), two or more grammatical forms overlap in expressing the same function, a "layering" (Hopper phenomenon called 1991). grammaticalized forms "compete with existing constructions" and eventually replace them (Hopper and Traugott 2003: 126).

I should also explain my use of the label "Participle" for CPA forms. It is sometimes used broadly, including Active, T-stem, and/or Passive Participles. However, in some instances a distinction needs to be made, and in such cases the type of Participle will be specified in the discussion. Since the instances discussed in this book are translations of Greek finite verbs, unless there is evidence to the contrary, both Active and T-stem Participles are included in the tally of verbal participial expressions, e.g., $\prec con$ + Participle or pronoun + Participle. On the other hand, Passive Participles are more likely than T-stem Participles to be nominal in function, and are, therefore, treated separately. This will be more clearly explained in the course of this study.

Finally, I need to explain how I use three terms that will occasionally occur in this study. The terms "idiomatic" and "stylistic" are used in reference to translation technique, whereas the term "optional" is used in reference to grammar. An optional constituent refers to an element of a grammatical construction that is nonobligatory. For example, in contrast to English, which requires a subject personal pronoun with a verb that has no other word as subject, in most languages such a pronoun is non-obligatory, and therefore, at least in some contexts, optional. An idiomatic translation refers one that departs from the original because of the grammatical or usage constraints of either the source or the target language or both. For example, since there is no verb "to have" in Aramaic, the Greek verb ἐχω "to have" is generally translated with a nominal clause that includes a Δ of possession. Some Greek grammatical constructions requiring idiomatic translations occur so frequently as to justify a separate section for their discussion in some chapters. The term stylistic refers to an individual choice by the translator that is not prompted by grammatical constraints. Needless to say, all optional grammatical elements allow for stylistic choices. However, stylistic choices go beyond instances where a CPA translator chose between two optional forms of the same grammatical construction, and also include instances of choices between different lexical and grammatical constructions.

1.2. TEXTUAL BASIS

Since this study explores the CPA translation of the Greek New Testament Gospels, it is important to mention the textual basis of the study. The CPA text of the corpus used here is that published by Müller-Kessler and Sokoloff (1998). I also consulted Desreumaux (1997), who published a new edition of portions of Codex sinaiticus Zosimi rescriptus (CSZR), i.e., the manuscript called Codex Sinaiticus Rescriptus (CSR) by Müller-Kessler and Sokoloff. However, since I did not have access to the actual manuscript, I was not in a position to resolve disagreements between his text and that of Müller-Kessler and Sokoloff. The Greek text used for this study is the current edition of Nestle-Aland, *Novum Testamentum Graece* (hereafter, NA²⁸). Although, it is clear that the Vorlage of the CPA translations is different from the text of NA²⁸, it is best to start with the standard published text and note the textual variants, rather than a priori select another hypothetical Vorla-

ge as a starting point. Besides, there is also a large amount of agreement among the Greek witnesses. For the Greek textual variants, I consulted not only the apparatus in NA²⁸, but also the texts of Pierpont and Robinson (1995) and Holmes (2010).¹⁰

In the chapters on translation technique, occurrences are cited according to the chapter and verse number of the published Greek text (i.e., NA²⁸), and, where more than one instance of a Greek tense occurs in the same verse, these are cited with a letter after the verse number in alphabetic sequence (e.g., Matt. 27:11b). There is a practical advantage to citations based on Greek occurrences, rather than CPA. Due to the fragmentary nature of the CPA texts, many verses are only partially attested, and different parts of the same verse may be attested in different manuscripts. Thus, for example, the fifth instance of a Present Indicative in the same Greek verse (e.g., Matt. 26:45e) may be reflected as the third attested instance in one CPA manuscript (e.g., Matt. 26:45 CCR1) and as the fourth instance in another (e.g., Matt. 26:45 CSRPd). Therefore, at least in the chapters focusing on translation technique, it is simpler to cite occurrences according to the Greek numbering of chapter, verse, and instance.

Unless otherwise stated, all passages cited as CPA examples are from Müller-Kessler and Sokoloff (1998), and are referred to by both the biblical reference and the manuscript, the latter according to the abbreviation system of Müller-Kessler and Sokoloff (e.g., Matt. 27:30 CCR8). However, in the lists and/or discussions of the Greek text, only the biblical reference is given. In most cases, I have also given the English translation of the CPA text and the standard published Greek text (NA²⁸) in separate lines, but I did not consider it necessary to give a translation of the Greek text, even where it differs from the CPA translation, unless it was relevant to the discussion. Greek textual variants mentioned in the discussion are from any or all of the published texts consulted.

 $^{^{10}}$ Since the publication of the latest edition of the Greek text was fairly recent, to be more precise, I consulted the apparatus of both NA^{27} and NA^{28} . Though the changes in the main text of NA^{28} only concern the Catholic Epistles, the format of the apparatus for the entire edition has also been changed.

1.3. METHODOLOGY

As Bar-Asher (1988: 31) observed, the study of CPA must pay attention to real or supposed influences of other languages with which it was in contact. Such influences can be detected in many facets of the language, i.e., phonetic, lexical, grammatical, etc. One of the most useful sources for evidence of foreign influence in any language can be found in translated texts. Translated texts can be studied both in terms of translation technique and grammar. In general, the starting point for the study of translation technique is the original text from which a translation is made, whereas the starting point of grammatical study is the translated text itself, especially if there are non-translated texts that can serve as reference points for the latter. However, since virtually all CPA texts are translated, one cannot discuss grammatical function in CPA apart from translation technique. Therefore, the present study examines both translation technique and the CPA verbal system. Nevertheless, the study will neither include a full discussion of all aspects of translation technique nor of all aspects of CPA grammatical function. Rather, the focus will be on those aspects of translation technique that provide clues for the understanding of CPA verbal function. As can be seen in the ensuing study, the interplay between literal translation and stylistic variation can provide clues that help explain the functions of the CPA forms.

This study is limited to instances of Greek Indicative verbs and periphrastic expressions that are semantically equivalent to Indicative verbs, because temporal distinctions are grammatically expressed in the Indicative mood, but not in the other moods or nonfinite forms. Thus, although the distinction between Present and Aorist Participles in Greek is relevant to the study of aspect, the said forms are atemporal, resulting in more subjectivity in distinguishing between past imperfective and present, etc. Furthermore, the functions of some constructions may be different in subordinate clauses from main clauses. Therefore, since this study focuses primarily on the way translation technique yields clues concerning the function of CPA verbs, I decided to limit it to the study primarily to instances of Greek verbs that occur in the Indicative mood. Periphrastic expressions that are semantically equivalent to Indicative verbs are also included.

The fact that the CPA corpus chosen for this study consists of translations from the Greek has some advantages for grammatical

study, in spite of the unavoidable presence of issues related to translation technique. For example, since the use of the imperfective aspect in many languages can often be a stylistic choice made by a speaker/writer rather than a requirement, an a priori assumption as to how imperfective aspect is rendered can sometimes result in circular reasoning. That is, if one assumes that a certain grammatical construction has an imperfective function, it is tempting to simply conclude that whenever the said construction is used, the author/speaker is expressing an imperfective aspect. Therefore, the use of a translated corpus is more objective than an original Aramaic composition, because, although the translator is free to either depart from the aspect and tense of the Greek original or to translate it mechanically even when it is unnatural for genuine Aramaic, one expects a preponderance of instances where the original is rendered by an Aramaic expression that has a similar range of meanings (and it is generally agreed that the CPA translators had a good grasp of the Greek language). Thus, since in a translated text the employment of the Aramaic past imperfective is motivated by the Greek original in the majority of instances, rather than solely by the stylistic choice of the translator, one can use the instances of past imperfective in the Greek original as a preliminary guide to the instances where the Aramaic translator most likely intended to express it.

On the other hand, it should also be acknowledged that, although a translated text has in its favor an element of control in the interpretation of the CPA form, the nature of the corpus poses a few of complicating factors in the interpretation of the data. One of these is that biblical texts often have textual variants. Text critical issues cannot be avoided, and textual variants, either among the Greek or in the CPA witnesses, are mentioned where relevant. However, it is beyond the scope of this study to engage in an extended discussion of all textual variants or of the Greek Vorlage of the CPA translators. Thus, issues related to textual criticism are only mentioned if relevant to this study.

The imperfectly preserved state of the CPA text can also pose problems in analysis. In some cases, though the CPA translation is only partially preserved, a sufficient amount of text is preserved to analyze the Aramaic construction used. For example, in some instances, the (partially) illegible letters of a word can be easily reconstructed. In other instances, though entire words are missing, the grammatical form of a missing word can be inferred from the context. For example, if the CPA translation of a Greek Imperfect contains the verb Kom "to be" followed by an illegible lacuna, it is often reasonable to conclude that the illegible word was a Participle. On the other hand, however, there are many instances where the text is too poorly preserved for analysis. Further, partially preserved CPA translations of other Greek tenses can be even more challenging. If the CPA translation contains a Participle next to an illegible lacuna, it might be reasonable in some contexts, such as in the translation of the Greek Present Indicative, to conclude that the illegible word was a pronoun. But the reverse is less certain, i.e., if a pronoun occurs next to an illegible lacuna, it is not a given that the illegible word is a Participle. Therefore, although this study includes reconstructed instances such as those in brackets in Müller-Kessler and Sokoloff's text, I have also indicated in the discussion those instances where missing words must be supplied.

Even if the CPA manuscripts were in perfect condition, some ambiguities would still exist due to CPA orthography. For example, since the text is unvowelled, many verbs have the same form for the Peal Perfect 3ms and the Peal Active Participle ms absolute. In many cases, contextual indicators can be helpful, such as the forms of the other verbs in the context, or the form of the same verb in similar contexts where it is feminine or plural. On the other hand the same grammatical form may be written in more than one way (and orthographic differences may also be peculiar to individual manuscripts). Thus, علمقع in Mark 9:34 CSRPe is an Active Participle (Müller-Kessler 1991: 161), but could be mistaken for a Passive Participle (compare علم Matt. 26:63 CSRG/Od and علم علم المعادية المع Matt. 26.63 BL). There may also be instances where the assimilation of the & in T-stem forms results in ambiguity (Bar-Asher 1988: 50-53). This study acknowledged that there are some orthographically ambivalent instances that cannot be lexically or contextually resolved, and allowed for their analysis as ambiguous.

Finally, it should also be mentioned that, although the CPA and Syriac Estrangelo scripts are not identical, they are similar enough to justify the use of a Syriac Unicode Estrangelo font for the CPA citations in this book. The font used is Estrangelo Edessa.

2. THE CPA TRANSLATION OF THE GREEK IMPERFECT INDICATIVE

The Greek Imperfect Indicative in most instances expresses various types of past imperfective notions. There are at least 954 instances in the Gospels, of which 254 instances have attested CPA translations where the amount of text preserved is sufficient for analysis. However, 9 instances of Greek Imperfect Indicatives serve as auxiliaries in verbal phrases that correspond to other Greek tenses, and are, therefore, discussed under the chapters that cover those other tenses. Also, some of the instances must be treated separately in this study because CPA expressed the equivalent with a verbless sentence or some other expression which is semantically but not grammatically equivalent. These include 44 instances of εἰμί "to be" functioning as a simple non-auxiliary verb, 8 instances of ἔχω "to have" expressing possession, though instances expressing other notions have been retained, and at least 35 instances of Greek Imperfect Indicative verbs frequently used to introduce direct speech. These, along with 15 instances of the Periphrastic Imperfect (Imperfect of εἰμί + Present Participle) are discussed separately in this chapter. Therefore, excluding the instances explained above, 143 regular instances of Imperfect Indicatives remain. A few other instances must also be disqualified because of text critical issues in the Greek Vorlage, which will be discussed individually in the course of this study.

It is appropriate to give here a brief explanation for treating separately verbs that introduce direct speech. Goodwin (1889: 17) noticed that in classical Greek, in "such expressions as he said, he commanded," "the action is of such a nature that it is not important to distinguish its duration from its occurrence." That is, the aspectual opposition between the Greek Aorist Indicative (i.e., the past perfective/simple past) and the Imperfect Indicative (i.e., the past imperfective) was sometimes neutralized when applied to verbs

introducing direct speech, and both aspects could be used interchangeably, their distinction being "occasionally indifferent" (Goodwin 1900: 270). That does not mean that this aspectual distinction between perfective and imperfective was never relevant, but that it was sometimes irrelevant for such verbs. Hence, 35 inλένω. consisting of the verbs λαλέω. stances ἐρωτάω/ἐπερωτάω are treated separately in the section of this chapter that deals with special types of Greek Imperfects.¹¹ These numbers do not take into account instances of the 3rd person singular ἔφη, which can be analyzed as either 2nd Aorist Indicative or Imperfect of φημί, and of which only 6 instances (out of 29) in the corpus are attested in CPA translation. In order not to count the same word more than once, I counted these among instances of the Greek Aorist rather than the Imperfect, an arbitrary choice that does not imply a preference in the analysis of the Greek form.

As mentioned in the introduction, the past imperfective aspect can be subdivided into progressive and habitual. Imperfective grammatical constructions can express both notions. In some languages, there are grammatical constructions that express only one or the other, but not both. These can also co-exist with imperfective grammatical constructions that can express both progressive and habitual notions. Therefore, the ensuing discussion distinguishes, to the extent possible, these two subdivisions of imperfective aspect.

2.1. TRANSLATION OF REGULAR GREEK PROGRESSIVE IMPERFECTS

It must be acknowledged that, although the possible functions of the Greek Imperfect Indicative are well known, there is not always a consensus on the interpretation of specific instances. For example, does the Imperfect ἐξήτουν in Mark 11:18 mean that the chief priests and scribes "were seeking" (ESV), "kept looking" (NRSV), or "began to look" (ISV) for a way to kill Jesus? Therefore, the classification of many instances of the Imperfect is open to debate.

¹¹ See also Joosten's (1996: 116) recognition that the syntax of in Syriac is "peculiar."

Nevertheless, most of the relevant attested instances of the Greek Imperfect can be categorized as expressing some type of progressive aspect in the past. Progressive Imperfects express an action in progress in past time. These include what is variously called "progressive," "descriptive," "durative," and/or "simultaneous" function(s) in traditional Greek grammars. Also, many potentially ambiguous instances that could express functions other than progressive are provisionally included under the "descriptive" or "simultaneous" umbrella, because, according to Turner (1963: 66), the Imperfect often denotes an action still taking place "when an event in the aorist suddenly intervenes to cap it." That is, Imperfects can depict the background for events expressed by Aorists, which, in turn, carry the foreground of the narrative. Thus, including some ambiguous instances, there are 79 instances of progressive Imperfects with attested CPA translations.¹²

2.1.1. Translated by CPA ~om + Participle

The majority of Greek progressive Imperfects are translated in CPA by the construction $\prec con$ + Participle. In at least 52 instances, the entire expression is clear in at least one manuscript.¹³

¹² A few of these instances involve verbs that can occasionally introduce direct speech (e.g., πυνθάνομαι Matt. 2:4; διαλογίζομαι Luke 1:29; διαλαλέω Luke 1:65). These possibly should be treated separately, but their provisional inclusion here does not significantly affect the overall statistics.

¹³ Matt. 1:25 CCR3; 2:4 CCR3; 14:5 Sin^a; 21:25b CCR1; 26:63 CSRG/O^d, BL; 27:36 CCR8; 27:39 CCR8; 27:44 CCR1; 28:2 CCR1; Mark 1:7 CCR1; 7:36b CSRP^c; 9:30a CSRP^c; 9:31a CSRP^c; 9:33b CSRP^c; 9:34 CSRP^c; 10:1 CSRO^c; 10:46 CSRP^c; 10:48a CSRO^c; 10:48b CSRO^c; 10:52 CSRP^c; 11:18c CSRP^c; 11:19 CSRP^c; 11:31 CSRP^c; 12:37 CSRO^c; 12:41a CSRP^c, CSRO^c; 12:41b CSRP^c, CSRO^c; 14:35b CSRP^c; 15:3 CSRO^c; 15:6b CSRO^c; 15:29 CSRO^c; 16:8a CSRP^c; Luke 1:24 CSRO^c; 1:29 CCR3, CSRO^c; 1:58 CSRO^c; 1:80a CSRO^c; 1:80b CSRO^c; 9:9 CSRO^c; 17:27a CSRS^c; 17:27b CSRS^c; 17:27c CSRS^c; 17:27d CSRS^c; 17:28a CSRS^c; 17:28b CSRS^c; 17:28c CSRS^c; 17:28d CSRS^c; 18:11 CSRS/P^c; 18:39a CSRS^c; 18:39b CSRS^c; 19:1 CSRP^c; 19:3a CSRP^c; John 2:24 Sin^a; 12:2a T-S^a. This list includes at least 1 instance where ≺oor serves as an auxiliary for two Participles (Luke 1:80a,b; possibly also Matt. 27:36) and 1 instance where ≺oor serves as an auxiliary for four Participles (Luke 17:27a,b,c,d). For

Mark 9:30 CSRPe

حة بدقه مع الأمخ مهة عدية علد المحلم

When they had gone out from there, they were going through Galilee

Κάκειθεν έξελθόντες *παρεπορεύοντο* διὰ τῆς Γαλιλαίας

In the above example, the Greek Imperfect παρεπορεύοντο, from παραπορεύομαι "to go through, pass by," is translated by αοω "they were going through," consisting of the auxiliary κοω and a Participle.

One of the passages in the list above deserves additional comment.

Luke 17:27-28 CSRSe

المام المام

They were eating, drinking, marrying, and giving in marriage, until the day Noah entered [the ark and] the flood came and destroyed them all. Likewise just as it was in the days of Lot, they were eating, drinking, buying, selling, plant[ing, and building, . . .]

ἤσθιον, ἔπινον, ἐγάμουν, ἐγαμίζοντο, ἄχρι ῆς ἡμέρας εἰσῆλθεν Νῶε εἰς τὴν κιβωτὸν καὶ ἦλθεν ὁ κατακλυσμὸς καὶ ἀπώλεσεν πάντας. 28 ὁμοίως καθὼς ἐγένετο ἐν ταῖς ἡμέραις Λώτ• ἤσθιον, ἔπινον, ἠγόραζον, ἐπώλουν, ἐφύτευον, ἀκοδόμουν•

Although I agree with Fanning (1990: 244–245) that the above passage is frequentative or customary, it is included here among the "ambiguous" Imperfect instances, because it is one of several pas-

clarification, it should also be mentioned that in some of the instances the CPA translation is attested in more than one manuscript, and the entire expression $\prec \circ \circ \circ$ + Participle is not necessarily clear in all manuscripts, though they are included in this list because the entire expression is clear in at least one of the manuscripts.

sages that Turner (1963: 66) cites in his discussion of the descriptive Imperfect "without a finalizing agrist to follow." Another important observation is that in v. 27 a series of four Greek Imperfects are translated by rom followed by a series of four Participles, whereas in v. 28 each Participle is preceded by rom. Thus, it is clear from this passage that the repetition of rom as an auxiliary in combination with a series of two or more Participles is optional. It is possible that there was a difference in nuance between the two constructions, but it is difficult to detect it.

In 9 instances, <code>~oo</code> is partially or fully preserved and a following Participle is no longer legible but can be reasonably reconstructed (Matt. 24:1 CSROe; Mark 8:15 CSROe; 14:61a CSRPe; Luke 1:65 CSROe; 7:11 CSRPe; 17:28e CSRSe; 20:14 CSROe; John 6:41 CSRPe; 11:20 Damd).

In 4 instances the Participle is visible, but the word immediately before it is not. In 3 of the instances, there is a lacuna just before the Participle (Matt. 26:58b BL; Luke 10:18 CSRO°; John 11:8 Dam^d). It is probable that the lacuna contained form of the auxiliary ~oo, though one cannot rule out other possibilities. In 1 instance, it is not possible to determine whether the Participle was preceded by the auxiliary ~oo or not, because the extant column begins with the Participle (Mark 11:18a CSRP°).

2.1.2. Translated by CPA Passive Participles

There are also possibly 5 instances of the Greek Imperfect Indicative with a progressive function translated in CPA by a Passive Participle, mostly in combination with <a>o (Matt. 28:6 CCR1; Mark 2:4b CCR1; Luke 19:48b CSROc; John 11:38b CSRPd, Dama; 19:29 Dama). The instance in John 11:38b contains a CPA textual variant between the presence and absence of <a>o and other instances occur with <a>o Since these are translations of Greek non-active verbs, they are discussed together with other non-active instances below in section 2.4.1.

2.1.3. Translated by CPA ~am + Verbal Adjective

There is also 1 possible instance of a progressive Greek Imperfect Indicative translated in CPA with a verbal adjective accompanied by $\prec \circ \sigma$ (Matt. 25:5 CSRPd, CSROe).

Matt. 25:5 CSROe

בו ג, אמעו עלא נאהל במלמה ממס, וכיבה

When the bridegroom delayed, they all became drowsy and were asleep.

χρονίζοντος δὲ τοῦ νυμφίου ἐνύσταξαν πᾶσαι καὶ ἐκάθευδον

In the above example, the Imperfect of the verb καθεύδω is translated with the phrase מסם, גרבים. Although the spelling of the word "to sleep," it is best analyzed as an adjective (see Goldenberg 1992: 119). See also the discussion of *qattil* verbal adjectives in chapter eight, section 8.2.5.

2.1.4. An Ambiguous Instance

There is 1 instance where the Greek progressive Imperfect is translated by an orthographically ambiguous CPA form (Mark 4:8a CSROc). There, the form an active Participle.

2.1.5. Instances with Textual Variants or Interference

Some passages involve textual variants, either in the Greek or the CPA witnesses. In at least 2 passages translated with a CPA Perfect, Greek manuscripts disagree between an Aorist and an Imperfect, and thus, the CPA Perfect may not be a translation of a Greek Imperfect but of an Aorist (Luke 9:11b CSROc; 9:34 CSROc). In 1 instance the Greek majority reading has the Present ἔρχεται, instead of the Imperfect ἤρχετο, no doubt functioning as a historical present, and if so, the CPA Perfect may be a translation of a historical present rather than an Imperfect (John 11:29 CSRPd). Also, there is 1 instance of a CPA Imperfect, which may be due to the fact that the majority of Greek manuscripts have a Present ἀκολουθεῖ instead of the Imperfect ἠκολούθει (Mark 9:38c CSRPe). In 1 instance, the CPA form La (Mark 14:35a CSRPe) may be analyzed either as Perfect or Participle, but the exact analysis is unnecessary for this study, since the majority text has the Aorist ἔπεσεν instead of the Imperfect ἔπιπτεν. In 1 interesting instance, the Greek variants may be reflected in CPA variants (Luke 9:43b CSRO^c, CSRS^e).

Luke 9:43

$$[CSRO^c]$$
 מסס המים בחלמס [. . .] מסס המים בענ: מסס ברני מסס מסס [. . .] מסס המים בענ: מסס מסס מסס מסס [. . .] מסס מסס [$CSRS^c$]

While they all were amazed at all the things that *happened* [CSRO^c]/*he was doing* [CSRS^c], he said . . .

Πάντων δὲ θαυμαζόντων ἐπὶ πᾶσιν οἷς ἐποίει εἶπεν

The Greek manuscripts in the above passage disagree between the Imperfect ἐποίει and the Aorist ἐποίησεν. It is possible that this variant may be reflected in the difference in the CPA witnesses between κοω + Participle (CSRSe) and Perfect (CSROc).

In addition to textual variants, CPA translations may also be affected by differences among parallel passages. There is at least 1 possible instance where the CPA translation of the Greek progressive Imperfect may be due to interference from a parallel passage (Mark 15:47 CSRPc).

Mark 15:47 CSRPc

ستخمر ش مه مدلاهمم

They saw where he was placed. ἐθεώρουν ποῦ τέθειται

In the above example, although there are no textual variants for the Greek Imperfect Indicative ἐθεώρουν, it is possible that the CPA translation with the Perfect with may reflect interference from the parallel passage in Luke 23:55, which has the Aorist Indicative ἐθεάσαντο.

2.2. TRANSLATION OF REGULAR GREEK NON-PROGRESSIVE IMPERFECTS

As already mentioned, some of instances of the Greek Imperfects listed above are ambiguous, and could alternatively be analyzed as expressing a function other than past progressive. In the remaining instances, the non-progressive functions are more clearly visible.

2.2.1. Stative Continuous Imperfect

2.2.1.1. Translated by CPA ≺om + Participle

Closely related to Greek Imperfect Indicative verbs expressing past progressive aspect are stative verbs expressing past continuous aspect. See Comrie (1976: 24-26) on the distinction between progressive and non-progressive continuous aspect.¹⁴ Since imperfective stative verbs denote states rather than actions in progress in the past, and since in many languages stative and dynamic verbs may function differently, it is justified to discuss the translation of stative Imperfect verbs separately from progressive Imperfects. The main difference between dynamic and stative verbs is that statives do not require a constant input of effort or energy to be sustained. Thus, only dynamic verbs can be progressive (e.g., one cannot say *"I am being tall" or *"The book is belonging to me"). Statives are not aspectually progressive, but are similar to progressives in the sense that they denote a state (but not an action or event) that is in existence at a given reference time. Nevertheless, as it turns out, the CPA translation employs the same types of grammatical constructions for progressive and stative continuous Imperfects. There are 34 instances of stative continuous Greek Imperfect Indicative verbs with attested CPA translations. The majority of instances are translated in CPA by the construction $\prec \alpha \omega + Par$ ticiple, including at least 26 instances where the entire expression is clear in at least one manuscript (Matt. 22:46 CCR1; 27:15 CCR1, CSROe, CSRPf; Mark 1:22a CCR1; 6:48b CSROe; 7:37 CSRPe; 9:30b CSRPe; 9:32a CSRPe; 9:32b CSRPe; 11:18b CSRPe; 12:17 CSRPc; 15:10 CSROc; Luke 1:21b CSROc; 1:22a CSROc; 9:7 CSROc; 9:43a CSROc, CSRSc; 9:45a CSRPc, CSRSc; 9:45c CSRPc, CSRSe; 18:4 CSRS/Pc; John 2:25b Sina; 11:36b CSRPd, Dama; 11:37 CSRPd, Dama; 12:6a T-Sa; 13:23b CCR8; 13:29a CCR8) and 2 in-

¹⁴ However, as explained in chapter 1, although some languages have grammatical constructions to express progressive aspect, there are no languages with grammatical constructions dedicated to the expression of non-progressive continuous aspect. The latter arises from the semantic properties of stative verbs, not from grammatical forms dedicated to its expression.

stances where kappa om is partially or fully preserved and the Participle is no longer legible but can be reasonably reconstructed (John 7:44 CSROc; 19:26 Dam⁴).

Matt. 22:46 CCR1

: Kla ob ant i Tre Koo Kl siko

And no one *could* answer him a word καὶ οὐδεὶς *ἐδύνατο* ἀποκριθῆναι αὐτῷ λόγον

In the above example, the Greek Imperfect ἐδύνατο, from δύναμαι "to be able," is translated in CPA with the construction κοω + Participle, i.e., کمحد κοω.

2.2.1.2. Translated by CPA Participles

There is at least 1 instance of a stative continuous Greek Imperfect Indicative translated in CPA with a simple Participle without com (Matt. 2:18 CCR3).

Matt. 2:18 CCR3

عسههاء بحت مراه

And *she did* not *want* to be comforted καὶ οὖκ $\mathring{\eta}\theta \epsilon \lambda \epsilon \nu$ παρακληθῆναι

In the above example, the Participle is not preceded by Kom. Thus, though infrequent, it is possible for a Greek Imperfect to be translated in CPA by a simple Participle without Kom.

2.2.1.3. An Ambiguous Instance

2.2.1.4. Instances Requiring Additional Comment

The remaining 4 instances of stative continuous Greek Imperfect Indicative verbs with attested CPA translations require additional comment. There are at least 2 instances that occur in conditional clauses, one in a protasis (John 14:28) and the other in an apodosis (John 15:19b).

John 14:28 T-Sc

مله ممنقه مستحم له: سمه سيقه

If you loved me, you would be glad εἰ ηγαπᾶτέ με ἐχάρητε

John 15:19 T-Sd

مله مهتمه حلحم حلحه العالم مهة نسم

If you were of the world, the world would love its own. εἰ ἐκ τοῦ κόσμου ἦτε, ὁ κόσμος ἀν τὸ ἴδιον ἐφίλει•

In the first example above the Greek Imperfect occurs in a protasis and is translated in CPA by $\prec o o o o$ + Participle (John 14:28 T-S^c). In the second example, it occurs in an apodosis and is translated by an expression that could be interpreted either as pronoun + Participle or as pronoun + Perfect (John 15:19b T-S^d).

There is also 1 instance of the stative continuous Greek Imperfect that may not be relevant for this study. In Luke 9:18, the Imperfect verb συνῆσαν comes from σύνειμι "to be with," which is derived from εἰμί and has no Aorist. Therefore the CPA translation with the Perfect aam (Luke 9:18 CSROc) is similar to the translation of εἰμί. Besides, there is no CPA construction καπ + Participle of καπ for the verb "to be."

2.2.1.5. An Instance with Textual Variants

There is 1 instance of the stative continuous Greek Imperfect where the Greek manuscripts disagree between an Aorist and an Imperfect. It is translated with a CPA Perfect (Mark 9:13 CSROe). However, the textual variant makes it unclear whether it is a translation of a Greek Imperfect or an Aorist.

2.2.2. Habitual Imperfect

2.2.2.1. Translated by CPA ~om + Participle

There are at least 19 instances of the Greek Imperfect Indicative with an attested CPA translation expressing some type of past repeated action. This may include habitual, iterative, or customary actions, though for the purpose of this study, I use the label "habitual" in a broad sense that includes these other related functions. The majority of these are translated in CPA by <code>Koon + Participle</code>, including 11 instances where the entire expression is clear in at least

one manuscript (Matt. 26:59 CSRG/O^d, BL; 27:30 CCR8; Mark 15:6a CSRO^c; 15:19a CSRO^c; 15:19b CSRO^c; Luke 18:3b CSRS/P^c; John 2:23b Sin^a; 11:54 Dam^c; 12:6c T-S^a; 12:11a T-S^a; 12:11b T-S^a) and 1 instance where **Coo** is preserved and a following Participle is no longer legible but can be reasonably assumed (Matt. 26:55 BL).

Matt. 27:30 CCR8

منقده میک ممهم حتیع لم حل زیعی

And they took the reed and *kept on hitting* him on the head. ἔλαβον τὸν κάλαμον καὶ *ἔτυπτον* εἰς τὴν κεφαλὴν αὐτοῦ

Wallace (1996: 547) suggested that the Greek Imperfect in the above example has both an iterative and a distributive sense ("i.e., each soldier would strike more than once") and may also be inceptive ("they began beating," see below).

2.2.2.2. Translated by CPA Participles

In at least 2 instances, the Greek habitual Imperfect is translated in CPA by a simple Participle without <code><ooo</code> (Mark 4:8b CSRO^c; Luke 2:3 CSRO^c).

Luke 2:3 CSRO^c

שות בעניתשם בית בער דוע קטי בישריצי בעניתשט בעניתשט

And everyone was going to be registered, each in his city καὶ ἐπορεύοντο πάντες ἀπογράφεσθαι, ἕκαστος εἰς τὴν ἑαυτοῦ πόλιν

The Greek Imperfect in the above example fits Wallace's (1996: 546) definition of a distributive Imperfect, which is used for individual acts of multiple agents. The CPA Participle is not preceded by roop.

2.2.2.3. Translated by CPA Perfects

There is at least 1 instance of a Greek habitual Imperfect translated by a CPA Perfect (Mark 15:19c CSRO).

Mark 15:19 CSROe

And they kept hitting him on his head with a reed, and spitting on him, and bending their knees, and *they bowed down* to him.

καὶ ἔτυπτον αὐτοῦ τὴν κεφαλὴν καλάμω καὶ ἐνέπτυον αὐτῷ, καὶ τιθέντες τὰ γόνατα προσεκύνουν αὐτῷ

In the above example the employment of the CPA Perfect to translate the Greek Imperfect may be stylistic. It is not clear whether the CPA sequence οι οι οι οι οι (κοι + Participle . . . Perfect) was an attempt to reflect the Greek sequence τιθέντες . . . προσεκύνουν (Present Participle . . . Ιmperfect Indicative).

2.2.2.4. Ambiguous Instances

There are also 3 instances of Greek habitual Imperfects translated in CPA by conference "to give" in the context of Jesus feeding a multitude where the orthography allows for the interpretation as either Perfect or Participle (Mark 6:41 CSROe; 8:6 CSRPe; Luke 9:16 CSROc). However, is unnecessary to settle this ambivalence, since some parallel passages have an Aorist (ἔδωκεν in Matt. 14:19; διέδωκεν in John 6:11; see also the textual variant in Matt. 15:36 between ἐδίδου and ἔδωκεν), and the CPA translation could alternatively reflect interference from those parallel passages. If so, these instances may not be valid examples of CPA translations of the Greek Imperfect.

2.2.2.5. An Instance with Textual Variants

There is 1 possible instance of a Greek Imperfect with a habitual function translated in CPA with κοω and a Passive Participle (Mark 15:8 CSRO). However, there is a textual variant in the Greek text, and the CPA reading cond καρα από τοις "as he always used to do for them." One can postulate that the parallel passage in Matt. 27:15 may have influenced this passage. However, the CPA reading seems strikingly similar to a few late manuscripts that read, καθὸς ἔθος ἦν ἵνα τὸν Βαραββᾶν ἀπολύση αὐτοῖς "as it was custom, that he should release Barabbas to them." Thus, the CPA Passive Participle may not be a translation of a Greek habitual Imperfect, but possibly of the Greek copular clause ἔθος ἦν.

2.2.3. Inceptive Imperfect

2.2.3.1. Translated by CPA Kom + Participle

In at least 7 instances the Greek Imperfect is best understood as inceptive. This function is sometimes also called "inchoative" or "ingressive" in traditional Greek grammars. The inceptive Imperfect denotes a past action viewed from its starting point. For Wallace (1996: 544), it is possibly "the most common" function of the Imperfect in narrative "because it introduces a topic shift." Nevertheless, he also acknowledges that many of his examples could alternatively be analyzed as progressive. In 6 of the instances, the inceptive Imperfect is rendered in CPA by \$\time\colon \text{om} + \text{Participle (Mark 1:21 CCR1; 5:32 CSROe; 8:16 CSROc; Luke 19:7 CSRPc; John 12:13 T-Sa; 13:22 CCR8).

Mark 5:32 CSROe

במסא מנמא ובעמא לכן מי, מוא ובבול בו

And he began to look around to see who it was that had done so. καὶ περιεβλέπετο ἰδεῖν τὴν τοῦτο ποιήσασαν

On the inceptive function of the Greek Imperfect in the above example, see Brooks and Winbery 1979: 95 and Dana and Mantey 1955: 190.

2.2.3.2. An Instance with Textual Variants

There is 1 possible instance where the Greek inceptive Imperfect is not translated as κοω + Participle in CPA (Mark 14:72 CSROe). However, there the CPA translation λωκιών "he began to gappears to follow the western reading ἤρξατο κλαίειν "he began to weep" which simplifies the Alexandrian and majority reading ἐπιβαλὼν ἔκλαιεν, 15 with an additional word assimilated from the parallel passages that have Aorist + πικρῶς "bitterly" (Matt. 26:75 and Luke 22:62).

 $^{^{15}}$ The meaning of ἐπιβαλὼν is ambiguous, i.e., "when he had started" vs. "when he had considered it."

2.2.4. Tendential Imperfect

2.2.4.1. Translated by CPA ≺om + Participle

In at least 4 instances the Greek Imperfect is best understood as expressing functions typically described as tendential (i.e., at the point of happening), conative (i.e., attempted), and voluntative (i.e., desired). For the sake of simplicity, they are labeled here under the umbrella term "tendential." In these instances, the action either did not come to a successful conclusion or had not even started yet. This function is similar to the previous one, because in both cases an action is depicted without reference to its completion. In 2 instances, a tendential Imperfect is translated into CPA with $\prec \circ \circ \circ$ + Participle (Mark 15:23 CSRO°; Luke 1:59 CSRO°; the Participle is not legible, but can be reasonably assumed in Luke 1:59).

Mark 15:23 CSROe

And *they tried to give him* to drink [wine mixed with myrrh, but he did not take it.]

καὶ *ἐδίδουν* αὐτῷ ἐσμυρνισμένον οἶνον• δς δὲ οὐκ ἔλαβεν

In the above example, since the drink was refused, the act of giving the drink was conative (and, therefore, "tendential" in the broader sense).

2.2.4.2. Instances with Textual Variants

The other 2 instances of the tendential Imperfect occur in parallel passages. Both instances have the CPA Perfect (Mark 9:38b CSRPe; Luke 9:49 CSRPe, CSRSe). However, there are textual variants in both parallel passages, and some of the Greek manuscripts have the Aorist ἐκωλύσαμεν "we forbade" instead of the Imperfect ἐκωλύσμεν "we tried to prevent."

2.3. TRANSLATION OF SPECIAL TYPES OF GREEK IMPERFECTS

This section deals with the CPA translation of special types of Greek Imperfects. This includes instances of the Periphrastic Imperfect and certain verbs whose lexical meaning requires separate analysis.

2.3.1. Periphrastic Imperfect

In addition to the instances of the Greek Imperfect Indicative discussed above, the Greek Periphrastic Imperfect, which consists of the Imperfect of εἰμί "to be" followed by a Present Participle, has the same range of functions as the simple Imperfect. There are 15 instances in the corpus with attested CPA translations, including 4 instances where 1 instance of εἰμί serves as an auxiliary for a series of 4 Present Participles, which is likewise translated in CPA by con followed by a series of Participles (Matt. 24:38a,b,c,d CSRPd).

2.3.1.1. Progressive Periphrastic Imperfects

In all except 2 instances the Periphrastic Imperfect expresses a past progressive aspect. And with only 1 exception, all of these are translated by \$\times am +\$ Participle. In most instances, both words are visible in at least one manuscript (Matt. 24:38b CSRPd; 24:38c CSRPd; 24:38d CSRPd; Mark 1:22a CCR1; 2:6 CCR1; 9:4 CSROc; 15:43 CSRPc; Luke 1:10 CSRPc; 1:21a CSROc, Damb; John 13:23a CCR8), in 1 instance \$\times am \text{is}\$ is visible followed by a lacuna where a Participle is no longer legible but can be reasonably assumed (Matt. 24:38a CSRPd), and in 1 instance the Participle is visible and a lacuna preceding it can be assumed to have had the auxiliary \$\times am (Mark 2:18 CCR1, CSRGd)\$.

Mark 9:4 CSROe

مس به نام می مطلع مر میم میمان مسمور در میمان م

And look, Elijah with Moses appeared to them, and *they were speaking* with Jesus.

καὶ ἄφθη αὐτοῖς Ἡλίας σὺν Μωϋσεῖ καὶ *ἦσαν* συλλαλοῦντες τῷ Ἰησοῦ.

In the above example, a habitual or frequentative aspect is not possible, since Jesus' conversation with Elijah and Moses only occurred once. In fact, in spite of Turner's (1963: 67) claim that Mark often "uses the periphrastic tense for the customary imperfect," the instances attested with CPA translations are more likely progressive.

The only instance where the Greek Periphrastic Imperfect with a progressive aspect is not translated by kappa + Participle occurs in Luke 9:53 CSRP^c.

Luke 9:53 CSRPc

ملم مقله ملاه برمه معمد مقدر برغمال لعزمعلم

And they did not receive him, because his face was set to go to Jerusalem.

καὶ οὐκ ἐδέξαντο αὐτόν, ὅτι τὸ πρόσωπον αὐτοῦ *ἦν* πορευόμενον εἰς Ἰερουσαλήμ

In the above example, the Greek Periphrastic Imperfect is translated in CPA by ram and the telic construction \mathbf{x} + Imperfect. Thus, the CPA translation reflects an idiomatic rendering of the Greek expression "his face was going." ¹⁶

2.3.1.2. Non-Progressive Periphrastic Imperfects

In 2 instances, it is possible that the Periphrastic Imperfect expresses a past habitual aspect. Both instances are translated by $\prec \circ \circ \circ$ + Participle. In one instance both words are visible (Luke 19:47a Dam^c), and in the other instance $\prec \circ \circ \circ$ is visible followed by a lacuna where a Participle can be reasonably assumed (Luke 1:22b Dam^b).

Luke 19:47 Dam^c

sond sele coop

And he used to teach every day Καὶ $\hat{\eta}$ ν διδάσκων τὸ καθ' ἡμέραν ἐν τῷ ἱερῷ

Since the above example refers to a daily custom, the expression denotes a customary action.

2.3.2. Imperfect Indicative of εἰμί as a Simple Verb

There are certain Greek verbs whose lexical meaning requires separate analysis. Among these, there are at least 44 instances of the Greek Imperfect Indicative of ɛlul "to be" functioning as a simple non-auxiliary verb with a sufficiently legible attested CPA transla-

¹⁶ See v. 51, αὐτὸς τὸ πρόσωπον ἐστήρισεν τοῦ πορεύεσθαι εἰς Ἰερουσαλήμ, "He set his face to go to Jerusalem," and the CPA κίνα Ιίνα το Δίνα το Δίνα το Δίνα (Luke 9:51 CSRPc).

tion.¹⁷ In virtually all instances, εἰμί is translated with a form of the verb κοω. In many of these instances the CPA form κοω is ambiguous and could be analyzed either as 3ms Perfect or as ms absolute Participles (Matt. 21:33 CCR1; 26:24 CCR1; 28:3 CCR1; Mark 1:23 CCR1; 2:4a CCR1; 6:48a CSROe; Luke 1:7a CSRPe; 1:80c CSROe; 2:7 CSROe; 17:16 CSRSe; 18:2 CSRS/Pe; 19:2 CSRPe; 19:3c CSRPe; John 11:30 CSRPd; 11:32a Dama; 12:1 T-Sa; 12:2b T-Sa; 19:31b Dama). However, due to the paucity of clear instances of the Participle of κοω in the translation of the Greek Imperfect Indicative of εἰμί, one can reasonably assume that most of these are CPA Perfects. Where the spelling is unambiguous, κοω is usually a Perfect. There are no instances of the Greek Imperfect Indicative of εἰμί translated in CPA by κοω + Participle, unless if one assumes that the lacuna after νοω in Luke 9:14 CSROc originally had a Participle of κοω.

It should also be stated that, though the CPA translation may not always follow the syntax of εἰμί (i.e., a noun phrase predicate in Greek may be translated by something other than a noun phrase predicate in CPA), it tends to be very literal. In any event, the Greek syntax must serve as the starting point for the study of translation technique.

2.3.2.1. εἰμί with a Noun Phrase Predicate

In several instances the Imperfect Indicative of elul is accompanied by a noun phrase predicate with a noun or pronoun as head. In 3 instances it links two noun phrases, a subject and a predicate. All of these are translated in CPA with a form of con. In 1 of these instances elul is translated in CPA by the Participle of con (John 12:6b T-Sa), and in the other 2 instances con is orthographically ambiguous (Luke 17:16 CSRSe; 19:2 CSRPe). However, due to the fact that the majority of orthographically clear instances of con are CPA Perfects, it is likely that these and most of the other ambiguous instances are also Perfects.

¹⁷ The instances may be listed as follows: Matt. 1:18; 21:33; 25:2; 26:24,69b,71; 28:3; Mark 1:23; 2:4a; 6:44,47,48a; 8:9; 12:20; 14:40,56b; 15:25; 16:4; Luke 1:6,7a,66,80c; 2:7; 9:14; 17:16; 18:2; 19:2,3c; 20:4; John 2:25c; 3:1; 7:39b; 11:21,30,32a,b,38a; 12:1,2b,6b; 15:19a; 16:4; 19:31a,b.

Luke 17:16 CSRSe

:,i>nz <u><ao</u> ao [a]

And he was a Samaritan. καὶ αὐτὸς η̈́ν Σαμαρίτης

John 12:6 T-Sa

JU KOOR

Because he was a thief. ὅτι κλέπτης $\mathring{\eta}v$

In both of the above examples, the Greek $\tilde{\eta}\nu$, Imperfect Indicative of $\tilde{\epsilon i}\mu i$, is translated in CPA with $\sim \infty$. In John 12:6, the diacritical dot on $\sim \infty$ favors the analysis as a Participle. However, it is the only attested instance of the translation of the Imperfect Indicative of $\tilde{\epsilon i}\mu i$ as a simple verb that is not likely to be a CPA Perfect.

There are also a number of instances where ɛtut is accompanied by a single noun phrase that could be analyzed either as subject or predicate. These include 7 instances of ɛtut functioning as a past time verb of existence "there was/were." The syntactic function of the noun phrase accompanying a verb of existence is not the same cross-linguistically. I have provisionally analyzed it as the predicate of the Greek sentence, but acknowledge that it could be analyzed as the subject, in which case these instances consist of ɛtut without an expressed predicate. Further, the analysis of the Greek clause as predicate does not settle the issue of the analysis of the corresponding noun phrase in Aramaic, which can also be ambiguous. All instances are translated in CPA with a form of com (Matt. 21:33 CCR1; Mark 6:44 CSROe; 8:9 CSROc, CSRPe; Luke 2:7 CSROc; 9:14 CSROc; 18:2 CSRS/Pc; John 3:1 Sina) The orthographically unambiguous instances are CPA Perfects.

Matt. 21:33 CCR1

בוצ עו מסא [...]

There was a [head of household] man ἄνθρωπος $\hat{\eta}$ ν οἰκοδεσπότης

In the above example the Greek Imperfect $\tilde{\eta}v$ functions as a verb of existence, "there was," and is translated in CPA with κ oo. I have provisionally analyzed the accompanying noun phrase as the predicate, but acknowledge that it can be alternatively analyzed as the subject.

There are 3 other instances where εἰμί is accompanied by a single noun phrase. All are translated in CPA with a form of ເດດ (Mark 15:25 CSROe; John 11:38a CSRPd, Dama; 19:31a Damf). The noun phrase accompanying εἰμί is provisionally analyzed as the predicate, but could alternatively be analyzed as the subject. However, at least in the instance in John 19:31a Damf the context favors the analysis as the predicate.

John 19:31 Dam^f

Ly rook >[.]ioch

Because it *was* the day of preparation. ἐπεὶ παρασκευὴ ἦν

In the above example the Greek Imperfect Indicative $\tilde{\eta}\nu$ is translated with the Perfect how. Though the noun phrase accompanying it could be analyzed as either subject or predicate, the context favors the analysis as predicate.

2.3.2.2. εἰμί with an Adjectival Predicate

In 11 instances the Imperfect Indicative of εἰμί is accompanied by an adjectival predicate. Of these, at least 10 instances are translated in CPA with a form of κοω (Matt. 26:24 CCR1; Mark 6:48a CSROe; 14:40 CSRPe; 14:56b CSRPe; 16:4 CSRPc; Luke 1:6 CSRPc; 19:3c CSRPc; John 7:39b CSROc; 12:2b T-Sa; 19:31b Damf). The orthographically unambiguous instances are CPA Perfects.

Mark 14:56 CSRPe

Kind Ki is diam

For *it was* very large. ην γὰρ μέγας σφόδρα

In the above example, the Greek $\hat{\eta}v$ is translated in CPA with the Perfect hom.

There is also 1 instance of the Imperfect Indicative of εἰμί accompanied by an adjectival predicate where there is a CPA textual variant between the presence and absence of κοω (Matt. 25:2 CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe).

Matt. 25:2

[CCR1] [. . .] حسه <u>ممه مح</u>قی: مستعبع همتسه [CSRO^e] سحیع در حسه <u>ممن</u>د عراضی مستعبع همتسه و المحتاد المحتاد

And five of them were foolish, and five wise πέντε δὲ ἐξ αὐτῶν ησαν μωραὶ καὶ πέντε φρόνιμοι.

In the above example, there are no textual variants to the Greek $\hat{\eta}\sigma\alpha\nu$, 3 pl. Imperfect of $\epsilon l \mu l$ "to be." However, there are a number of intra-CPA variants, which appear to be stylistic in nature. What is of interest in this context is the variant between the presence of κ (CCR1, CSRO) and a nominal sentence without κ (CSRP). The CPA variants suggest that κ on in this context was optional.

2.3.2.3. εἰμί with an Adverbial Predicate

In 8 instances the Imperfect Indicative of εἰμί is accompanied by a predicate adverb. Provisionally, the list of predicate adverbs is limited to those adverbs that express location, time, or manner as a sentence predicate, and excludes adverbial conjunctions, such as words meaning, "however," "therefore," etc., or adverbial complements, which are not part of the sentence nucleus. Admittedly, the classification involves some subjectivity. In all these instances, εἰμί is translated in CPA with a form of κασ (Matt. 1:18 CCR3; 28:3 CCR1; Mark 2:4a CCR1; 12:20 CSRPc; John 11:21 Damd; 11:32a CSRPd, Dama; 11:32b CSRPd, Dama; 12:1 T-Sa). The orthographically unambiguous instances are CPA Perfects.

```
John 11:32b CSRPd ເລັ້ນ ວັກ ຜູ້ ເພື່ອ ເພື
```

The above example occurs in a hypothetical clause. The Greek Imperfect $\tilde{\eta} \zeta$ is translated by the CPA Perfect anom.

2.3.2.4. εἰμί with a Prepositional Phrase Predicate

In 11 instances the Imperfect Indicative of εἰμί is accompanied by a predicate that consists of a prepositional phrase. Since, prepositional phrases usually have an adverbial function, this category can also be considered a subset of the previous one. All are translated in CPA with a form of ເປັດຕ (Matt. 26:69b CSRG/Od; 26:71 CSRG/Od; Mark 1:23 CCR1; 6:47 CSROe; Luke 1:66 CSROe; 1:80c CSROe; 20:4 CSROe; John 2:25c Sina; 11:30 CSRPd; 15:19a T-Sd;

16:4 CCR8). The orthographically unambiguous instances are CPA Perfects.

Mark 6:47 CSROe

רבה מס זבם השל אנים :מבא לפא המה אנים ועבה

And when it was evening, the boat was in the middle of the sea. καὶ ὀψίας γενομένης $\mathring{\vec{\eta}} \nu$ τὸ πλοῖον ἐν μέσῳ τῆς θαλάσσης

In the above example the Greek Imperfect $\hat{\eta}v$ is translated in CPA with the Perfect hom.

2.3.2.5. εἰμί in Possessive Expressions

In at least 1 instance the Greek expression $\varepsilon l \mu l + dative$ noun phrase expresses possession, as in the Aramaic equivalent. It is translated in CPA with the possessive expression $-\Delta \kappa \alpha \sigma$ (Luke 1:7a CSRPc).

Luke 1:7a CSRPc

[~o]w] <u>~ow</u> [...]

They had [no child]. καὶ οὐκ η̈̂ν αὐτοῖς τέκνον

In the above example, the Greek past time possessive expression ἦν αὐτοῖς "they had" is translated in CPA with the equivalent expression and rom.

2.3.3. Imperfect Indicative of ἔχω Expressing Possession

There are possibly 8 instances of the Greek Imperfect Indicative of $\xi \chi \omega$ expressing possession with attested CPA translations. In at least 5 of the instances, it is translated by the equivalent CPA expression for possession, which consists of $\kappa \omega \omega$ + preposition Δ attached to the possessor (Matt. 21:28 CCR1; 27:16 CCR1, CSROe, CSRPf; Mark 12:44 CSRPc, CSROe; John 15:22 CCR8; 15:24 CCR8). 18

¹⁸ Additionally, it is also possible that the expression occurs with האל in Mark 8:14 CSRO^c, but the text is too fragmentary.

Mark 12:44 CSRPc

صدم در حج سعنوس مولام بعده بعده بعد الله عدد [ب] مست

But she out of her poverty threw in everything that *she had*, all her possessions

αύτη δὲ ἐκ τῆς ὑστερήσεως αὐτῆς πάντα ὅσα *εἶχεν* ἔβαλεν ὅλον τὸν βίον αὐτῆς

In the above example, the Greek Imperfect Indicative of $\ell \chi \omega$ is translated by the equivalent CPA expression for possession, consisting of $\kappa \omega$ + preposition Δ with a pronominal suffix referring to the possessor.

In 3 other instances, the Greek Imperfect Indicative of ἔχω is translated in CPA idiomatically with expressions that do not literally express possession (Mark 8:7 CSROc, CSRPc; John 2:25a Sin²; 13:29b CCR8).

John 13:29 CCR8

per r roposon course

Since the money bag was with Judas ἐπεὶ τὸ γλωσσόκομον εἶχεν Ἰούδας

In the above example, the Greek Imperfect Indicative of $\xi \chi \omega$ is not translated literally in CPA, but idiomatically, with the expression are "to be with." This translation may reflect the fact that the money bag did not belong to Judas, though it was in his possession.

2.3.4. Imperfect Indicative of Verbs That Frequently Introduce Direct Speech

There are at least 35 instances of Greek Imperfect Indicative verbs frequently used to introduce direct speech. In the majority of instances, these verbs are translated in CPA with the expression κ of + Participle, except for most instances of $\epsilon \pi \epsilon \rho \omega \tau \dot{\alpha} \omega$ and a few instances of $\lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \omega$. These consist of 18 instances of $\lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \omega$ (Matt.

¹⁹ These include 24 instances of λέγω (Matt. 27:41,47; Mark 2:16,24; 5:28,30,31; 6:35; 7:9,14; 8:21; 9:31b; 11:28; 12:38; 14:36; 15:12,14; 16:3; Luke 18:1; John 6:42; 7:40,41b; 11:36a,47), 8 instances of ἐπερωτάω (Mark 7:17; 9:11,28; 9:33a; 10:2; 12:18; 13:3; 15:4), 1 instance of ἐρωτάω (Mark 8:5), and 2 instances of λαλέω (Mark 2:2; Luke 1:64).

27:41 CCR1; 27:47 CCR1; Mark 2:16 CSRGd; 2:24 CCR1; 5:28 CSROe; 5:30 CSROe; 5:31 CSROe; 6:35 CSROe; 8:21 CSROe; 9:31b CSRPe; 15:14 CSROe; 16:3 CSRPe; Luke 18:1 CSRS/Pe; John 6:42 CSRPe; 7:40 CSROe; 7:41b CSROe; 11:36a CSRPd, Dama; 11:47 Dame), 2 instances of λαλέω (Mark 2:2 CCR1; Luke 1:64 CSROe), 1 instance of ἐρωτάω (Mark 8:5 CSRPe), and 1 instance of ἐπερωτάω (Mark 9:33a CSRPe).²⁰

Mark 2:16 CSRGd

ممم سمحتے للالحنده,

They were saying to his disciples έλεγον τοῖς μαθηταῖς αὐτοῦ

In the above example, the Greek ἔλεγον, Imperfect Indicative of λ έγω "to speak, say," is translated in CPA with the expression κ 00 + Participle, i.e., κ 000.

In 6 instances of the Imperfect Indicative of ἐπερωτάω, the CPA translation is clearly a Perfect (Mark 7:17 CSRO^e; 9:11 CSRO^e; 9:28 CSRP^e; 10:2 CSRO^e; 12:18 CSRP^c; 13:3 CSRP^c).

Mark 9:28 CSRPe

علم ملام الملتخية ممر حسمه يا لحسم

His disciples asked him privately οἱ μαθηταὶ αὐτοῦ κατ' ἰδίαν ἐπηρώτων αὐτόν

In the above example, the Greek ἐπηρώτων, Imperfect of ἐπερωτάω "to ask," is translated by Δ΄---, a CPA Perfect.

There are also at least 5 instances where the spelling of the CPA word is ambiguous, and could be analyzed either as a Participle or a Perfect, including 4 instances of the CPA translation of $\lambda \acute{\epsilon} \gamma \omega$ (Mark 7:9 CSROe; 7:14 CSROe; 14:36 CSRPe; 15:12 CSROe) and 1 instance of $\acute{\epsilon}\pi \epsilon \rho \omega \tau \acute{\alpha} \omega$ (Mark 15:4 CSROe).

Mark 7:14 CSROe

~0w7 <u>i>2[4]0</u>

And *he said* to them *ἔλεγεν* αὐτοῖς

²⁰ In 2 of the instances, the Participle occurs after a lacuna, which probably had the verb **Koo** (Matt. 27:41; Mark 2:2).

In the above example, the CPA translation can be analyzed either as a Peal Perfect 3ms or a Peal Participle ms absolute.

Two of the ambiguous instances deserve further comment.

Mark 14:36 CSRPe

1000 Acco

And he said καὶ ἔλεγεν

Mark 15:12 CSROe

only society of the offer

And Pilate answered again and said to them ὁ δὲ Πιλᾶτος πάλιν ἀποκριθεὶς ἔλεγεν αὐτοῖς

In the first example above (Mark 14:36), the Greek Imperfect ἔλεγεν is translated in CPA by σω. The addition of a personal pronoun to a Participle is common in the expression pronoun + Participle (see chapter three), but one cannot rule out the possibility that it is a pronoun added to a 3ms Perfect (see chapter five). In the last example above (Mark 15:12), the Greek ἔλεγεν is translated in CPA by σως, which can be analyzed either as a Perfect or a Participle. If it is a Participle, it could be an instance of a reversal of the Greek syntax, where the order of the Greek, i.e., Participle + past time Indicative verb, is reversed in CPA as Perfect + Participle. This phenomenon will be discussed further in chapter eight, section 8.2.3.2.

In 1 instance the Greek Imperfect Indicative ἔλεγον is left untranslated in CPA (Mark 12:38 CSROe). Since the omission does not appear to be due to textual variants in the Greek manuscripts, it may be stylistic.

Finally, there is 1 instance of a Greek textual variant where the majority text has a Present Indicative λέγουσιν instead of the Imperfect Indicative ἔλεγον. Thus, the CPA Participle in Mark 11:28 CSRPe may, in fact, be a translation of a Greek Present rather than an Imperfect.

2.4. Non-Active Instances in Greek and CPA

2.4.1. Deponent Verbs

It is appropriate in this section to discuss the few instances of non-active Greek Imperfect Indicatives with attested CPA translations.

As it turns out, the majority of non-active forms can be considered deponent. That is, they never occur in the New Testament in the active voice, but can be considered to have an active meaning, e.g., ἔρχομαι "to come." Of the 143 instances of regular Greek Imperfect Indicatives examined in this chapter, there are 41 instances of deponent verbs. They may be listed as follows: διαλογίζομαι (Matt. 21:25b; Mark 8:16; 9:33b; 11:31; Luke 1:29; 20:14); διαστέλλομαι (Mark 8:15); διέρχομαι (Luke 19:1); δύναμαι (Matt. 22:46; Luke 1:22a; 19:3b; John 11:37); ἐκπλήσσομαι (Mark 1:22a; 7:37; 11:18c; Luke 9:43a); ἐκπορεύομαι (Mark 11:19); ἐπίκειμαι (John 11:38b); ἔρχομαι (Luke 18:3b; John 11:29); ἰάομαι (Luke 9:11b); καθέζομαι (Matt. 26:55; John 11:20); κάθημαι (Matt. 26:58b; 28:2; Mark 10:46); κατάκειμαι (Mark 2:4b); κειμαι (Matt. 28:6; John 19:29); παραιτέομαι (Mark 15:6b); παραπορεύομαι (Mark 9:30); περιβλέπομαι (Mark 5:32); πορεύομαι (Matt. 24:1; Luke 2:3); προσεύχομαι (Mark 14:35b; Luke 18:11); πυνθάνομαι (Matt. 2:4); συμπορεύομαι (Luke 7:11); φοβέομαι (Mark 9:32b; 11:18b; Luke 9:45c). Some of these deponent verbs do occur in the Active form outside the New Testament, and are, therefore, not true deponents (e.g., διαστέλλω, έκπλήσσω, περιβλέπω, φοβέω). However, they are provisionally included among deponent verbs, because their non-active forms have a semantic content that could be considered active.

Most Greek Imperfect deponent verbs are translated in CPA with an active form. Most instances consist of the expression rom + Active Participle. In 3 instances the verb rom stands next to a lacuna where a Participle can be reasonably assumed to have been (Mark 8:15 CSROc; Luke 7:11 CSRPg; John 11:20 Damb). In 1 instance, the CPA translation consists of an Active Participle without rom (Luke 2:3 CSROc). There are also 2 instances of an active stem CPA Perfect (Luke 9:11b CSROc; John 11:29 Damd). Translations of Greek deponent verbs by active CPA verbs are to be expected and require no further discussion.

Translations of Greek Imperfect deponent verbs in CPA with non-active participial expressions are limited to specific lexemes. There are 4 instances with CPA expressions containing a Passive Participle, consisting of translations of the verb κείμαι "to lie, be in a place" (κοπο Matt. 28:6 CCR1; John 19:29 Dam¹), along with the related forms κατάκειμαι "to lie down" (Mark 2:4b CCR1 κοπο) and ἐπίκειμαι "to lie on" (John 11:38b,

Dam^a). The CPA textual variant in the last example consisting of the presence or absence of אוסה is stylistic in nature since there is no textual variant in the Greek Vorlage.

There are also at least 5 instances of Greek Imperfect deponent verbs translated in CPA with expressions containing a T-stem Participle. There are 2 instances of the Greek deponent/passive verb ἐκπλήσσω/ἐκπλήσσομαι "to be astonished" translated in CPA with κοω + a T-stem Participle of the verb Δω (Mark 7:37 CSRPe; 11:18c CSRPe) and at least 3 instances of the verb διαλογίζομαι "to reason, discuss" translated with κοω + the T-stem Participle of Δων (Mark 9:33b CSRPe; 11:31 CSRPe; Luke 1:29 CCR3, Damb). However, both of these verbs have other forms of translation. That is, there are also 2 instances where the verb ἐκπλήσσω/ἐκπλήσσομαι is translated with κοω + Active Participle of the verb σωλ (Mark 1:22a CCR1; Luke 9:43a CSROc, CSRSe) and at least 1 instance where διαλογίζομαι is translated with κοω + Active Participle of τωκ (Mark 8:16 CSROc). ²¹ Notice the following examples:

Mark 7:37 CSRPe

national mos ailalay onai

And they were even more amazed and saying, ... καὶ ὑπερπερισσῶς ἐξεπλήσσοντο λέγοντες

Mark 1:22 CCR1

مصمه معلاقص على ممامح

And they were amazed at his teaching. καὶ ἐξεπλήσσοντο ἐπὶ τῆ διδαχῆ αὐτοῦ

The examples above illustrate two different ways that the Greek deponent/passive verb ἐκπλήσσω/ἐκπλήσσομαι is translated. In 2 of the instances, as in the first example above, the CPA translation consists of καπ + the Itpaal Participle of the verb Δε (Mark 7:37 CSRPe; 11:18c CSRPe), whereas in the remaining 2 instances, as in the last of the above examples, it consists of καπ + the Afel Active Participle of the verb Δακ (Mark 1:22a CCR1; Luke 9:43a

 $^{^{21}}$ There is another instance of διαλογίζομαι where the Participle is no longer visible in a lacuna (Luke 20:14).

CSRO^c, CSRS^e). Both CPA verbs in their respective grammatical forms mean "to be amazed." Thus, these examples show that there is some room for stylistic variation in the CPA translations.

2.4.2. Non-Deponent Non-Active Verbs

Aside from Greek deponent verbs, there are at least 4 other instances of non-active Imperfect Indicatives with attested CPA translations. All instances are translated in CPA with com accompanied by some type of Participle. These consist of 2 instances translated in CPA with com + T-Stem Participle (Luke 1:80b CSROc; 17:27d CSRSc) and 2 ambiguous instances, one where the Participle could be read either as an Active or a Passive Participle (Luke 19:48b CSROc) and the other where the verb com stands next to a lacuna where a (T-stem or Passive?) Participle can be reasonably assumed to have been (Luke 1:65 CSROc).²² The instance in Luke 1:80b translates a Greek Imperfect Passive Indicative with com + T-Stem Participle.

Luke 1:80 CSROc

Lucia cion seu oce[skii] cions

And the child continued growing and becoming strong in spirit. Τὸ δὲ παιδίον ηὔξανε καὶ ἐκραταιοῦτο πνεύματι

In the above example, the Greek ἐκραταιοῦτο is from the verb κραταιόω "to strengthen, make strong," whose active form does not occur in the New Testament. The passive κραταιόομαι means "to be strengthened, become strong." Although the CPA Itpaal Participle iii is only partially visible, there is no reason to doubt the correctness of the reconstruction. Thus, the verb κοπ serves as an auxiliary for two Participles in an extended κοπ + Participle expression.

The instance in Luke 17:27d CSRSe translates a Greek Imperfect Passive Indicative with $\prec \circ \circ \circ$ + T-Stem Participle. It deserves additional comment because the order of the Greek instances in 17c,d is reversed in CPA.

²² The instances in Luke 1:80b; 17:27d involve the employment of **Koo** as an auxiliary to more than one Participle.

Luke 17:27 CSRSe

1000 rep vary ocarper ocarper

They were eating, drinking, *marrying*, and giving in marriage ἤοθιον, ἔπινον, ἐγάμουν, *ἐγαμίζοντο*

In the above example, the words consist of an Itpael Participle followed by a Pael Participle. The verb are in the Pael stem means "to marry, give in marriage," and in the Itpael stem "to be married, given in marriage." The CPA translation departs from the order of the Greek verbs γαμέω "to marry" and γαμίζω (in the passive) "to be given in marriage," but otherwise the meaning is unchanged. Both the T-stem Participle and the Active Participle are part of a series of Participles in an extended expression καν + Participle.

The instance in Luke 19:48b CSRO^c, which translates a Greek Imperfect Middle Indicative, also deserves additional comment.

Luke 19:48 CSROc

[מ]מעל או בשר שמא מלא בש השבב בנות

For the whole crowd *was hanging* on him and listened to him. ὁ λαὸς γὰρ ἄπας *ἐξεκρέματο* αὐτοῦ ἀκούων

In the above example, ἐξεκρέματο is the only New Testament occurrence of the Greek verb ἐκκρεμάννυμι, which in the active voice means "to hang" (transitive). In this context, the middle voice is used idiomatically with the verb ἀκούω "to hear" resulting in the sense "to listen eagerly." The CPA translation employs the equivalent verb $\lambda \lambda$ "to lift up, to hang." Though the form $\lambda \lambda$ is likely a Passive Participle (i.e., meaning "hung, suspended, hanging"), it is also orthographically ambiguous. An additional complicating factor is that ἐξεκρέματο could be analyzed either as an Imperfect or an Aorist Indicative.

2.4.3. Active Verbs Translated as Non-Active in CPA

For the sake of completeness, it should be mentioned that there is also at least 1 instance of a Greek Imperfect Active Indicative translated idiomatically in CPA with an expression containing a T-stem Participle (Mark 12:17 CSRPc).²³

Mark 12:17 CSRPc

مصموم حقعلحب حد [...]

And they were amazed at [him]. καὶ ἐξεθαύμαζον ἐπ' αὐτῷ

In the above example, the Greek Active ἐξεθαύμαζον is translated idiomatically in CPA with aomo which consists of a T-stem Participle accompanied by com.²⁴ Compare this instance with the two instances where the T-stem of all translates the Passive ἐκπλήσοω "to be amazed" as discussed above (Mark 7:37 CSRPe; 11:18c CSRPe).

2.5. SUMMARY

In the majority of instances, Greek Imperfects and Periphrastic Imperfects are translated into CPA by the expression $oldsymbol{\leftarrow} oon + Participle$. It is also clear that the CPA construction $oldsymbol{\leftarrow} oon + Participle$ expresses both progressive and habitual aspects in the past, and, therefore, both the Greek Imperfect and the said CPA construction are past imperfective constructions. There are a few instances of the Greek Imperfect Indicative translated by the CPA simple Participle by itself, suggesting either that $oldsymbol{\leftarrow} oon$ overlaps with $oldsymbol{\leftarrow} oon + Participle$ alone without $oldsymbol{\leftarrow} oon$ overlaps with $oldsymbol{\leftarrow} oon + Participle$ in the expression of the past imperfective. There are also

²³ There is also 1 instance of a T-stem Perfect, but the passage has a textual variant (Luke 9:34 CSROc), which is discussed above in an earlier section of this chapter. Additionally, there are some ambivalent forms, e.g., في in Mark 16:8a (CSRPc), that could also be analyzed as CPA Passive Participles, but contextually are best analyzed as Active Participles. Compare معانية معنى معانية in the translation of the Greek Imperfect in John 13:29a (CCR8) with the Active Participle in the expression [h]. also, see above on the textual problem in Mark 15:8.

²⁴ The text of Pierpont and Robinson 1995 has the Aorist $\dot{\epsilon}\theta\alpha\dot{\nu}\mu\alpha\sigma\alpha\nu$ instead of the Imperfect. However, this is not reflected in the critical apparatus of NA²⁸. In any event, both forms are Active in Greek.

a few instances of the CPA Perfect and 1 instance of <code><om>+</code> verbal adjective as an idiomatic translation. These instances suggest that CPA translators were not necessarily mechanical in their task.

Certain verbs required separate treatment because of their lexical meaning, i.e., the verbs εἰμί and ἔχω and verbs frequently used to introduce direct speech. As can be expected, there are no instances of the CPA expression $\prec \circ \sigma +$ Participle in the translation of the Greek Imperfect of εἰμί. Most orthographically unambiguous instances consist of the CPA Perfect. Also, there is at least 1 instance of a CPA textual variant between the presence and absence of rom, suggesting that its presence was at times optional in nominal/copular sentences. The Greek Imperfect of ἔχω was translated in CPA either with the Aramaic nominal expression for possession or idiomatically in cases where the translator felt that there was no real possession involved. As for verbs that introduce direct speech, most instances were translated with word + Partici- ple, except for the word ἐρωτάω, which was more often translated with a CPA Perfect. There were also some orthographically ambiguous forms that could be analyzed either as Perfect or Participle.

Most instances of non-active Greek Imperfects can be considered deponent verbs, i.e., verbs that occur in a non-active form, but whose semantic meaning can be considered active. Most of these are translated in CPA with active expressions. T-stem and Passive Participles occur mostly in idiomatic translations. At times a T-stem Participle occurs in an expression where reserves as auxiliary to two or more Participles, and thus it functions verbally and is part of the expression remainder.

3. THE CPA TRANSLATION OF THE GREEK PRESENT INDICATIVE

The Greek Present Indicative in most instances expresses the present tense, but can also in certain contexts express the past or the future. There are at least 2923 instances of the Greek Present Indicative in the Gospels, of which 536 instances are attested with CPA translations where the amount of text preserved is sufficient for analysis. The actual number varies depending on interpretation, since the 2nd person plural Present Indicative and the Present Imperative are indistinguishable (e.g., γινώσκετε Matt. 24:33). Accordingly, 4 of these Present Indicative instances are translated in CPA by an Imperative (Matt. 26:45c CSRPd; Mark 13:29a CSRPe, Dam; 14:41c CSRPe; 14:41d CSRPe).

Also, as with the Greek Imperfect Indicative, some types of Present Indicative constructions require special treatment. These include 8 instances of regular verbs in the Present Indicative with special functions, 3 instances of the Periphrastic Present, as well as verbs whose lexical meaning requires special treatment. The latter includes 131 instances of verbs that could be expressed in Aramaic with a nominal clause, i.e., $\epsilon l \mu l$ functioning as a simple non-auxiliary verb, $\epsilon \chi \omega$ expressing possession, $\delta \epsilon l$, and $\epsilon \epsilon \omega l$ instance of the verb $\epsilon l \omega l$ in the Present, and 108 instances of verbs of speaking commonly used to introduce direct speech, i.e., $\epsilon l \omega l$ $\epsilon l \omega l$ in $\epsilon l \omega l$ $\epsilon l \omega l$ instances of verbs of speaking commonly used to introduce direct speech, i.e., $\epsilon l \omega l$ $\epsilon l \omega l$ in $\epsilon l \omega l$

Based on the assumption that the Aramaic Participle was a present tense, Aramaic Participles functioning in past time have been labeled "historical presents" (e.g., for Biblical Aramaic, see for example Bauer and Leander, 1927: 294–295; Rogland 2003: 430–432; Gzella 2004: 120–131). However, a large proportion of alleged historical presents consist of participial expressions introducing direct speech, and the label "historical present" may be inaccurate

for such expressions. That is because, as mentioned earlier in this book, the aspectual opposition between the Greek Imperfect and the Aorist Indicative was sometimes neutralized when applied to verbs introducing direct speech, and if the same phenomenon occurred in ancient Aramaic, the frequent use of the Participle with verbs introducing direct speech may be the result of the "occasionally indifferent" use of the imperfective aspect in expressions introducing direct speech (Goodwin 1889: 270). That is, the Aramaic Participle of verbs introducing direct speech was originally employed instead of the Perfect in past time narrative not as a historical present, but because the aspectual difference between the Perfect and Participle was often neutralized in such expressions. Then, in later Aramaic, when participial expressions for the present and past imperfective became clearly distinguished, the use of the Participle with verbs introducing direct speech persisted as a vestige of earlier usage. For further discussion, see Li (2009: 43–45, 52–55).

Moreover, 6 instances of Greek Present Indicatives have been excluded from the discussion in this chapter, because they serve as auxiliaries in verbal phrases that correspond to other Greek tenses, and are, therefore, discussed under the chapters that cover the respective tenses.

The remaining 275 regular instances of the Greek Present Indicative with attested CPA translations can be divided into at least 196 instances of true presents, i.e., those that express present time, possibly 46 instances of the historical present, i.e., a past time event expressed by a present tense, and possibly 33 instances of the futuristic present, i.e., the present tense used to express a future event. Each of these types of presents will be discussed in separate sections in this chapter.²⁵ It must be acknowledged, of course, that the distinctions among various types of presents are to some extent subjective, and we must allow for the possibility that the CPA translator may have interpreted the form differently from the way

 $^{^{25}}$ This tally includes some verbs that can occasionally be employed to introduce direct speech (e.g., ἐπιτάσσω "to command" Mark 1:27b), but their provisional inclusion does not significantly affect the overall statistics.

we would. Nevertheless, these distinctions serve as good starting points for this study.

In most instances, the CPA translation of the Greek Present Indicative consists of an expression that includes a Participle, the majority of which are accompanied by a personal pronoun, which is either clearly legible or can be reasonably reconstructed. For example:

Matt. 21:27 CCR1

Neither do I say to you by what authority I do these things. οὐδὲ ἐγὼ λέγω ὑμῖν ἐν ποίᾳ ἐξουσίᾳ ταῦτα ποιῶ

In the above example, aside from the fact that the CPA translator added the pronoun in the translation of ποιῶ (בוב מאר), not only is the Greek pronoun in οὐδὲ ἐγὼ λέγω translated as a pronoun (οὐδὲ ἐγὼ, אבא בא בא בא בא ליים (but another pronoun is added in the translation of the verb (λέγω, אול בא אים). Usually the pronoun precedes the verb, but occasionally it can occur after the verb (e.g., Matt 21:26 CCR1 (געל אים). Also, although rare, enclitic personal pronouns do occur. Notice the following textual variant in the CPA translation:

Matt. 24:47

λέγω

In the above example, the CPA translation of the Greek verb has an independent pronoun in one manuscript (CCR1), but an enclitic in another (CSRPd). No distinction in meaning could be detected. Thus, for the remainder of this study, these various expressions involving a personal pronoun and a Participle will be referred to as "pronoun + Participle," since no distinctions in nuance could be detected among the ways the pronoun accompanies the Participle that are relevant to this study.

In passing, it must be recognized that in some other forms of Aramaic the 3rd person pronoun can serve as a focus marker (for a recent discussion of its function in Syriac, see Van Peursen 2006a; 2006b; Goldenberg 2006; Muraoka 2006; Joosten 2006). Also, Vilsker (1981: 82–83) analyzed participial clauses in Samaritan Ar-

amaic as nominal clauses, and suggested that the 3rd person pronoun in such clauses functioned as a copula, though he also admitted that in some clauses the Participle has a durative verbal function. However, inasmuch as the instances of CPA pronoun + Participle translating the Greek Present Indicative show an agreement between the person of the pronoun and the subject of the Participle, it is best to understand the pronoun in these expressions as a personal marker, i.e., a marker of agreement, not a copula or focus marker.

Further, it will be evident in the course of this study that the presence or absence of the pronoun in connection with the Participle is optional, both expressions being variants of the same grammatical construction, which, therefore, could also be labeled "(pronoun +) Participle." However, since there is a distinction in function between the two expressions in some other forms of Aramaic, instances of the simple Participle by itself are provisionally listed separately from instances of the expression pronoun + Participle in this chapter. See chapter eight, section 8.2.3.2, for further discussion.

3.1. TRANSLATION OF TRUE GREEK PRESENTS

3.1.1. Translated by CPA Pronoun + Participle

The vast majority of the 196 true presents with attested CPA translations in the corpus are translated by participial constructions, consisting either of the expression pronoun + Participle or the simple Participle alone. There are about 112 instances of pronoun + Participle, including at least 101 instances where both words are sufficiently legible in at least one CPA manuscript²⁷ and at least 11

²⁶ See Li (2010) for my discussion of this distinction in Syriac.

²⁷ Matt. 18:12a CSRPe; 8:13b CSRPe; 21:24 CCR1; 21:26a CCR1; 21:27b CCR1; 23:3b CCR1; 23:4c CCR1; 23:5a CCR1, CSROe; 23:5b CCR1, CSROe; 23:5c CCR1, CSROe; 23:13a CCR1, CSROe; 23:13b CCR1, CSROe; 23:13c CCR1; 23:15a CCR1, CSROe; 23:15b CCR1, CSROe; 23:23 CCR1; 23:25a CCR1; 23:31a CSROe; 23:34 CSROe; 24:2a CSROe; 24:44a CCR1, CSRPd; 24:48 CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; 26:639b CSRPd; 26:53a BL; 26:61 CSRG/Od, BL; 26:62a CSRG/Od, BL; 26:63a CSRG/Od, BL;

instances where an illegible pronoun can be reasonably assumed in a lacuna (Matt. 24:33a CSRPd; Mark 7:9 CSROe; 8:2a CSRPe; 8:17b CSROe; 8:17d CSROe; 8:18a CSROe; 8:18b CSROe; Luke 18:4b CSRS/Pc; 18:41 CSRSe; John 6:36 CSRPc; 15:14b T-Sc). In some of these instances, the pronoun also occurs in Greek.

As mentioned in the introduction, the main distinction for the present tense that is cross-linguistically relevant, and therefore relevant for translation technique, is between general present and actual present. A general present denotes a statement of fact or an action or event that usually occurs but may not be occurring at the moment of speech, including instances commonly classified in traditional Greek grammars variously as "gnomic," "static," "iterative," "customary," "durative," etc. An actual present denotes an action or event occurring at the moment of speech, including in-

27:13b CCR1, CSRPf; 27:17 CCR1, CSROe, CSRPf; 27:21 CSROe; 28:5 CCR1; Mark 1:2 CCR1; 1:27b CCR1; 1:27c CCR1; 2:8a CCR1; 2:8c CCR1; 5:31a CSROe; 5:35b CSROe; 5:39b CSROe; 5:39c CSROe; 7:12 CSROe; 7:13 CSROe; 7:18c CSROe; 7:18d CSROe; 7:37 CSRPe; 8:2a CSRPe; 8:21 CSROc; 9:37a CSRPe; 10:51 CSROc; 11:3a CSRPc; 11:25a CSRPc; 11:28 CSRPe; 11:29 CSRPe; 12:15 CSRPc; 12:24 CSRPc; 12:26 CSRPc; 13:2 CSRPc, CSROc; 13:28a CSRPc, Dam; 14:36 CSRPc; 15:4a CSROc; 15:4b CSROe; 15:9 CSROe; 15:12a CSROe; 16:6b CSRPc; Luke 1:34 CCR3; 7:19b CSRPg; 7:20b CSRPg; 9:9b CSROc; 9:38a CSRSc; 9:39b CSROc, CSRSe; 9:39c CSROc, CSRSe; 9:39d CSROc, CSRSe; 9:48a CSRSe; 9:48b CSRSe; 9:54 CSRPc; 10:21 CSROc; 10:23 CSROc; 11:26a CSRPc; 11:26b CSRPc; 11:26c CSRPc; 11:26d CSRPc; 18:11a CSRS/Pc; 19:14 CSRPc; 20:2a CSROc; John 7:34b CSROc; 7:36c CSROc; 11:31 CSRPd, Dama; 11:39c CSRPd, Dama; 11:41 CSRPd, Dama; 11:42 CSRPd; 13:20b CCR8; 14:27a T-Sc; 14:27b T-Sc; 14:27d T-Sc; 14:31a T-Sc; 14:31b T-Sc; 15:2a T-S^c; 15:2b T-S^c; 15:5c T-S^c; 15:23 CCR8; 19:28b Dam^f.

²⁸ These numbers assume that in some instances, one pronoun was employed in connection with two or more Participles (Matt. 23:3b CCR1; 23:5b CCR1, CSROe; 23:5c CCR1, CSROe; Mark 5:39b CSROe; 5:39c CSROe; 7:13 CSROe; Luke 9:48a CSRSe; 9:48b CSRSe; 11:26a CSRPe; 11:26b CSRPe; 11:26c CSRPe; 11:26d CSRPe). In addition, there are at least 9 additional instances that were excluded from the tally because the verb is not legible in the text, but that may have consisted of pronoun + Participle, since a pronoun stands next to the lacuna (Matt. 26:53b BL; Mark 7:7 CSROe; 7:8 CSROe; Luke 10:24b CSROe; 18:4a CSRS/Pe; John 3:2b Sina; 15:10 T-Se; 15:17 T-Se, 15:18b T-Se).

stances commonly classified as "descriptive" and "aoristic" in traditional Greek grammars. However, the fact that this distinction is cross-linguistically relevant does not necessarily mean that it was morphosyntactically marked either in Greek or in Aramaic. Both actual and general presents can be translated into CPA by participial expressions. Compare the following two examples.

Mark 11:3 CSRPc

KLES STRE COBIK KO

Why are you untying the foal? τί ποιεῖτε τοῦτο;

Matt. 23:5 CCR1

200 $\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$

But all their works are what *they do* so that they may be seen by men. For *they widen* their phylacteries, and *lengthen* their fringes.

πάντα δὲ τὰ ἔργα αὐτῶν ποιοῦσιν πρὸς τὸ θεαθῆναι τοῖς ἀνθρώποις• πλατύνουσι γὰρ τὰ φυλακτήρια αὐτῶν καὶ μεγαλύνουσι τὰ κράσπεδα

The first example above (Mark 11:3) contains a Greek actual present expressing an action going on at the moment of speech. In the second example (Matt. 23:5), the actions are customary in nature, and therefore, they express not the actual present but the general present. In both examples, the Greek Presents are translated into CPA by pronoun + Participle. Note also that the last two Presents in the second example above are translated by one pronoun and two Participles.

Besides general and actual presents, the CPA construction pronoun + Participle can also translate performative presents, i.e., statements that perform an act. A few possible instances in the corpus are Matt. 26:63a CSRG/Od, BL; Mark 1:2 CCR1; Luke 10:21 CSROc; 18:11a CSRS/Pc; John 11:41 CSRPd, Dama.

Matt. 26:63 CSRG/Od

ス[m] スピイリ 소 <u>より より なり</u>

I adjure you by the living God *Έξορκίζω* σε κατὰ τοῦ θεοῦ τοῦ ζῶντος In the above example, the statement ἐξορκίζω κων "I adjure" actually performs the act of putting someone under oath (Fanning 1990: 202–203). It is translated in CPA by the construction pronoun + Participle.²⁹

3.1.2. Translated by CPA Participles

There are possibly 64 instances where the Greek Present Indicative expressing present time translated by a CPA Participle without an accompanying pronoun.³⁰ In some of these instances it is possible that there was a pronoun in the lacuna next to the Participle, but the text is too fragmentary to be sure (e.g., Luke 11:29b CSRPc; 11:33 CSRPc; John 3:2a Sin²; 3:3b Sin²; 15:5b T-Sd). In most cases, the subject is clear from the context.

²⁹ Though the Perfect was used for performative utterances at an earlier stage of Semitic languages, Rogland (2001; 2003: 423–424) and Gzella (2007: 93–94) demonstrated that the Participle was the usual verbal form employed in late Hebrew and Aramaic. The evidence from CPA corroborates their conclusions for late ancient Aramaic.

³⁰ The instances may be listed as follows: Matt. 18:10b CSRPe; 22:43b CCR1; 22:45a CCR1; 23:4a CCR1; 23:6 CCR1; 23:20 CCR1; 23:21 CCR1; 23:37 CSROe; 24:27a CSRPd; 24:27b CSRPd; 24:50b CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; 25:8 CSRPd ,CSROe; 26:42 CSRPd; 26:45e CCR1, CSRPd; 26:62b CSRG/Od, BL; 26:73b CSRPe; 27:13c CCR1; 27:42a CCR1; Mark 2:18c CCR1, CSRGd; 2:18d CCR1; 2:19a CCR1; 2:19d CCR1; 2:21a CCR1; 2:21c CCR1; 2:22a CCR1; 2:24a CCR1; 4:16b CSROc; 7:15b CSROc; 7:19a CSROe; 7:20 CSROe; 7:21 CSROe; 8:12b CSROc, CSRPe; 9:3 CSROe; 9:29 CSRPe; 9:35b CSRPe; 9:37b CSRPe; 9:48a CSROc; 10:49b CSRPc; 14:41f CSRPe; 16:7 CSRPc; Luke 2:4 CSROc; 7:22e CSRPg; 7:22f CSRPg; 9:39a CSROc, CSRSe; 10:17 CSROc; 10:20 CSROc; 10:22a CSROc; 11:29b CSRPc; 11:33 CSRPc; 17:24 CSRSe; 18:26 CSRSc; John 3:2a Sina; 3:3b Sina; 6:32b CSRPc; 6:44 CSRPc; 7:41b CSROc; 12:12 T-Sa; 12:15 T-Sa; 13:20c CCR8; 15:4 T-S°; 15:5b T-Sd; 15:15b T-S°; 15:19b CCR8; 15:26 CCR8. This list includes ambiguous forms of the verb $\frac{1}{2}$, which are discussed in more detail later in this chapter.

Their angels in heaven always *see* the face of the Father who is in heaven.

οί ἄγγελοι αὐτῶν ἐν οὐρανοῖς διὰ παντὸς *βλέπουσι* τὸ πρόσωπον τοῦ πατρός μου τοῦ ἐν οὐρανοῖς

The large number of instances where the CPA Participle is not accompanied by a pronoun suggests that the personal pronouns are not obligatory for the expression of the present tense, but are employed as a means of specifying the subject. That is, the pronoun functions as an optional marker of agreement, and may be omitted when the subject is clear from the context.

The optional nature of the CPA pronoun in the expression of the present tense is supported by textual variants. There is at least one verse with 3 instances of the Greek Present that involve CPA textual variants consisting of the presence or absence of the pronoun (John 15:6a T-S^c, T-S^d; 15:6b T-S^c, T-S^d; 15:6c T-S^c, T-S^d).

John 15:6

 $[T-S^c]$ مصنع باقتار کا باتت میں مصنع محمد $[T-S^c]$ مصنع محمد محمد $[T-S^d]$ مصدع محمد محمد محمد ال

And *they gather* them, and *throw* them in the fire, and *they are burned*.

καὶ συνάγουσιν αὐτὰ καὶ εἰς τὸ πῦρ βάλλουσιν καὶ καίεται

The above example is interesting, because, though both manuscripts have three Participles, T-S^c leaves the first two Participles without a pronoun and adds a 3fp pronoun before the third Participle, whereas T-S^d has one 3mp pronoun for the first two Participles but the third one is left without a feminine pronoun. Since there are no textual variants in the Greek Vorlage, it is clear that the difference is stylistic, due to the fact that the pronoun is optional in connection with the Participle.

3.1.3. Translated by CPA Passive Participles

There are also perhaps 3 instances of the Greek Present Indicative translated in CPA by a Passive Participle (Matt. 23:38 CSRO^e; Mark 2:5b CCR1) or next to a lacuna where a pronoun can be assumed to have been (Mark 8:17e CSRO^e). See the discussion of non-active forms below.

3.1.4. Translated by CPA Imperfects

In at least 2 instances, the Greek Present Indicative expressing present time is translated in CPA as an Imperfect (Mark 2:7c CCR1; 7:6a CSROe).

Mark 7:6 CSROe

[ح]هقهه هم [ماهم [د]معن لم [ل]حهم در [i]مسم هم [نساسم حدر

With their lips *they honor* me, but their heart is far distant from me.

οὖτος ὁ λαὸς τοῖς χείλεσίν με τιμᾳ, ἡ δὲ καρδία αὐτῶν πόρρω ἀπέχει ἀπ' ἐμοῦ

Assuming that the reconstruction of the bracketed text is correct, the word τιμᾶ, Present Indicative of τιμάω "to honor," is translated by the CPA Imperfect ioo. Both the latter and the expression pronoun + verbal adjective, which occurs in the context, express the general present. Thus, although the Imperfect expressing the present tense is rare and has been to a large extent replaced by the Participle, it has not yet completely disappeared. Also, though the instances are too few to draw definite conclusions, it is interesting that the 2 instances occur in contexts that most likely express the general present.

3.1.5. Translated by CPA Pronoun + Verbal Adjective

There are 2 instances of the Greek Present Indicative expressing present time translated in CPA by pronoun + verbal adjective (Mark 7:6b CSROe; 14:37d CSRPe).

Mark 14:37 CSRPe

ومعدد موسو المحتب ومعدد المرابعة المحدد معدده معدده

And he came and found them sleeping, and he said to Peter, Simon, are you sleeping?

καὶ ἔρχεται καὶ εὐρίσκει αὐτοὺς καθεύδοντας, καὶ λέγει τῷ Πέτρῳ• Σίμων, καθεύδεις;

In the above example, the Present Indicative καθεύδεις from καθεύδω "to sleep" is translated in CPA as λκ , consisting of a verbal adjective followed by a pronoun.

3.1.6. Translated by CPA Nominal Expressions

There are also a number of other instances where the Greek Present Indicative expressing present time is translated in CPA by various non-verbal expressions. These include at least 2 instances where the Present Indicative ὀφείλει, from ὀφείλω "to owe, to be obligated," is translated in CPA by pronoun + noun (Matt. 23:16b CCR1, CSROe; 23:18b CCR1).

Matt. 23:18 CCR1

הל גאלא כפסוכנא גבלה, עב מס:

Whoever swears by the offering that is upon it is obligated. ος δ' αν ομόση εν τῷ δώρω τῷ ἐπάνω αὐτοῦ ὀφείλει

In the above example, the Greek Present Indicative ὀφείλει is translated in CPA as on with the word with "debtor" belongs to the qattāl "nomina agentis" pattern (Müller-Kessler 1991: 92) and is in fact a noun, i.e., the CPA text actually means, "he is an obligated person," though an adjectival rendering, "owing, obligated" is at times less awkward in modern translation.

There are 3 other instances where the Greek Present Indicative expressing present time is translated idiomatically in CPA by various other nominal expressions. These include 1 instance of πάρεστιν, from πάρειμι "to be present," which is rendered as "here" (John 11:28a CSRPd), and 2 instances of the verb δοκέω "to think, suppose" (Matt. 21:28 CCR1; 22:42a CCR1).

Matt. 21:28 CCR1

حمع بن هنه لحم

But what do you think? Τί δὲ ὑμῖν δοκεῖ;

In the above example (as well as in Matt. 22:42a CCR1), the Greek impersonal expression ὑμῖν δοκεῖ "it seems to you" is translated idiomatically in CPA with the nominal clause _ ܘܩܪܝܩܘ.

There is also 1 instance where the repetition of the Greek verb $\delta i\delta\omega\mu\iota$ was left out (John 14:27c T-Sc).

John 14:27 T-Sc

My peace I give to you. Not as the world [gires] do I give it to you.

εἰρήνην τὴν ἐμὴν δίδωμι ὑμῖν• οὐ καθώς ὁ κόσμος δίδωσιν ἐγὼ δίδωμι ὑμῖν

Since the verb $\delta l\delta \omega \mu \mu$ "to give" occurs three times in the above example, the CPA omission of the second instance, $\delta l\delta \omega \sigma \nu \nu$, is best understood as stylistic.

3.1.7. Instances with Textual Variants

There is possibly another instance where the Greek Present Indicative expressing present time is translated into CPA as an Imperfect (Mark 14:41e CSRPe). Although there are some textual problems with this text (see the discussion of this passage in chapter five, section 5.1.8), the Greek variants all agree on the Present Indicative ἀπέχει "it is enough." However, the CPA translation του "στο του "for he saves/lives without end" may be influenced by the Western and other witnesses that read ἀπέχει τὸ τέλος "the end has come." Since the CPA translation is somewhat idiosyncratic, there is room for uncertainty as to how the CPA translator interpreted the Greek Present Indicative in this instance.

There are at least 2 instances of CPA textual variants, where the witnesses disagree between the Participle and the Imperfect (Matt. 24:50a CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; Luke 9:49 CSRPc, CSRSe).

Luke 9:49

ر نها جمح برهانت براء لمانا مهر بساغه [CSRDe] (CSRSe) متاب مهر بساغه (CSRSe)

And we forbade him, because he does not *follow* us. καὶ ἐκωλύομεν αὐτόν, ὅτι οὐκ ἀκολουθεῖ μεθ' ἡμῶν

In the above example there is no Greek textual variant to the Present Indicative. It is translated in CSRPc with a simple Participle and in CSRSc with an Imperfect. These textual variants reveal a degree of interchangeability between the CPA Participle and Imperfect in the expression of the present tense.

The passage in Matt. 24:50a is also worth mentioning.

Matt. 24:50

The master of that servant will come on a day that *he does not expect* [CCR1/CSRO^c]/*he does not make known* [CSRP^d], and at an hour that he does not know [CCR1/CSRO^c]/expect [CSRP^d]

ήξει ὁ κύριος τοῦ δούλου ἐκείνου ἐν ἡμέρᾳ ἡ οὐ προσδοκᾳ̂ καὶ ἐν ὥρᾳ ἡ οὐ γινώσκει

The above example is interesting for more than one reason. The هم CPA manuscripts appear to reverse the placement of the verbs and حصحة. That is, CCR1 and CSROe have the sequence محصحة and محذارد (CCR1/CSROe), whereas CSRPd has the sequence and خصصة. Since the difference is not due to Greek textual variants, this reflects some stylistic latitude in the CPA translations. Another observation, which is more pertinent to grammatical analvsis, is that the Greek Present Indicative προσδοκậ in Matt. 24:50a is translated with a CPA Participle حصحة "he does [not] expect" in CCR1 and CSROe, but with an Imperfect ممدح "he does [not] make known" in CSRPd. Both instances of CPA textual variants involving a disagreement between a Participle and an Imperfect discussed here (Matt. 24:50a; Luke 9:49) occur in contexts where the Greek verbs most likely express the general present. However, the CPA Imperfects may express either the general present or a modality.

There is also 1 possible instance of a Greek true present translated in CPA by the construction κοω + Participle (Matt. 21:26b CCR1). However, although the majority of Greek witnesses have the Present Indicative ἔχουσιν, there are a few manuscripts with the Imperfect Indicative εἶχον. Thus, the CPA reading [o]oω "they regarded [John as a prophet]" may not in fact be a translation of a Greek Present Indicative.

3.2. Translation of Greek Historical Presents

Among the many functions of the Greek Present Indicative is that of denoting a historical present, i.e., a past time event expressed by a present tense. For a discussion of the Greek historical present, see Fanning (1990: 226–239). As Turner (1963: 61) observed, though the historical present is very widespread, it is especially frequent with "verbs of speaking, with verbs of seeing . . ., and with verbs of motion, especially coming and going." The interpretation of these instances is, of course, subjective, since a form intended as

a historical present in Greek may have been understood as a true present by the CPA translator, and vice-versa. There are at least 45 clear instances of Greek historical presents with attested CPA translation in the corpus, and possibly 1 additional instance that the CPA translator understood as a historical present.

3.2.1. Translated by CPA Perfects

In at least 20 instances, Greek historical presents are translated into CPA Perfects that are clear from the orthography (Matt. 2:19 CCR3; 25:11 CSRPd, CSROe; 27:38 CCR8; Mark 2:3 CCR1; 5:35a CSROe; 5:38a CSROe; 5:38b CSROe; 9:2b CSROe; 10:1b CSROe; 11:27a CSRPe; 11:27b CSRPe; 14:37b CSRPe; 15:17a CCR8, CSROe; 15:17b CCR8, CSROe; 15:21 CSROe; 15:24a CSROe; 15:27 CSROe; 16:2 CSRPe; 16:4 CSRPe; John 13:26a CCR8).³¹

Mark 5:35 CSROe

٥٦٠ ٥٥ حدلك هلع: ١٤٠٥ حم ١٤٠١ معدم

While he was speaking these things, *they came* from the synagogue leader

"Ετι αὐτοῦ λαλοῦντος ἔρχονται ἀπὸ τοῦ ἀρχισυναγώγου

The above example shows a Greek historical present translated by a CPA Perfect.

In a few of these instances, the CPA translation added a personal pronoun before a Perfect (e.g., Mark 2:3 CCR1; 11:27a CSRPe; 15:17a CCR8, CSROe).

Mark 11:27 CSRPe

مصمت معهم مهم معدم

And they came again to Jerusalem.

Καὶ ἔρχονται πάλιν εἰς Ἱεροσόλυμα

In the above example, a pronoun was added before the Perfect in the CPA translation. It is also interesting to see the instance in Mark 15:17a, because it involves a textual variant.

³¹ Assuming that Müller-Kessler and Sokoloff's reconstruction in the bracketed text in Mark 5:38a,b CSROe ([ממב[א] ממב[א] ממב[א] respectively) is correct.

Mark 15:17

[CCR8] <u>משמר באבים י</u>אש ביושטיי, (CSRO_s) הארבים יאש באלב הארבים ווישויי,

And they dressed him with a scarlet coat καὶ ἐνδιδύσκουσιν αὐτὸν πορφύραν

In the above example, there is a Greek textual variant, where some manuscripts have ἐνδιδύσκουσιν and others ἐνδύσυσιν. However, since both verbs mean "to dress, clothe, put on," and both are Present Indicatives, the Greek textual variant does not affect the CPA translation. What is significant, though, is the CPA textual variant between the presence (CCR8) and absence (CSROe) of a pronoun in front of the Perfect verb. Thus, the addition of the pronoun in CPA is not restricted to the Participle, and this is evident not only from instances where the pronoun is added before a Perfect, but also by at least one CPA textual variant involving the presence or absence of the pronoun before a Perfect.

3.2.2. Translated by CPA Pronoun + Participle

In a number of instances, the Greek historical present is translated in CPA by some type of participial expression. In at least 5 instances, the CPA translation consists of pronoun + Participle (Matt. 27:47 CCR1; Mark 1:21 CCR1; 10:49a CSRPc; 15:16b CSROc; 15:22a CSROc). Three of these involve verbs of speaking, i.e., φωνέω "to call, invite" (Matt. 27:47; Mark 10:49a) and συγκαλέω "to call together" (Mark 15:16b).

Mark 1:21 CCR1

مصم خلے لحوز سمح

And they were entering Capernaum. Καὶ είσπορεύονται εἰς Καφαρναούμ

The above example shows a Greek historical present translated in CPA by the expression pronoun + Participle. The participial construction may express a past imperfective sense.

3.2.3. Translated by CPA Participles

In possibly 2 instances, the Greek historical present is translated by a CPA Participle without an accompanying pronoun (Matt. 26:40b CSRPd; Mark 8:22b CSROc).

Mark 8:22 CSROc

راد سال مردد الما عود الما المردد المالاه

And he came to Bethsaida, and they were bringing to him . . . Καὶ ἔρχονται εἰς Βηθσαϊδάν. Καὶ φέρουσιν αὐτῷ τυφλὸν

In the above example, the Greek historical present φέρουσιν "they bring/brought" is translated by the CPA Participle "τως". The preceding verb κως seems to translate the Byzantine reading, which has the singular ἔρχεται "he comes/came," rather than the plural of the NA²⁸, and is orthographically ambiguous (see below). However, if κως is a Perfect, the sequence "τως κως consists of the sequence Perfect + Participle, where the Participle gets its past time function from the context, i.e., from the preceding Perfect (see discussion in chapter eight, section 8.2.3.2). The instance in Matt. 26:40b is discussed separately below.

3.2.4. Ambivalent Instances

In at least 12 instances, the CPA translation could be analyzed either as Perfect or Participle, since the text is unvowelled and there is not sufficient contextual evidence. In 2 of the instances, it may not be necessary to decide between Perfect and Participle, because they involve verbs that introduce direct speech, παραγγέλλω "to command" (Mark 8:6 CSRPe) and possibly ἀποστέλλω "to send" (Mark 11:1b CSRPc). There are 7 instances of べかべ (Matt. 26:45a, CCR1, CSRPd; Mark 8:22a CSROc; 10:1a CSROc; 14:37a CSRPe; 14:41a CSRPe; 14:43 CSRPe; John 11:38 CSRPd, Dama; note: Matt. 26:45a and Mark 14:41a are parallel passages). There is also 1 instance of the verb παραλαμβάνω "to bring along" (Mark 9:2a CSROe), 1 instance of νεύω "to gesture" (John 13:24a CCR8), and 1 instance of δίδωμι "to give" (John 13:26d CCR8). It is probable that the majority of these instances should be understood as CPA Perfects (especially the 7 instances of km without the diacritical mark), given that there are few orthographically clear Participles

 $^{^{32}}$ On the spelling of the Afel of אאג, "to bring" with \searrow , see Müller-Kessler (1999: 251).

translating Greek historical presents. Nevertheless, it is best to list the orthographically ambivalent instances separately.

Additionally, there is at least 1 instance that could be analyzed as either pronoun + Participle or pronoun + Perfect (Matt. 26:40a CSRPd).

Matt. 26:40 CSRPd

صعحه [حم] ما سععه (حما يبتغله لهما [حم] لمحرمهم

And he came to the disciples, finding them asleep.

καὶ *ἔρχεται* πρὸς τοὺς μαθητὰς καὶ εύρίσκει αὐτοὺς καθεύδοντας

The form [] had in the above example could be analyzed either as a 3ms Perfect or as a Participle. If analyzed as a Participle, the pronoun before it may serve as an auxiliary for two Participles, i.e., and ... [] had ano. However, since it has been observed that the pronoun can also be added to the Perfect, and since instances do occur in the corpus of a Perfect followed by a Participle (see also chapter five on the translation of the Aorist Indicative), it is best to retain this instance among the ambiguous ones.

3.2.5. Translated by CPA ~om + Participle

There is possibly 1 instance of $\prec \circ \circ \circ$ + Participle, if one agrees with Müller-Kessler and Sokoloff's reading of Mark 15:20 CSRO°.

Mark 15:20 CSROe

[w] yr ~ 0207 2rs w7 20022 [00] wo

And they were leading him out to crucify him Καὶ ἐξάγουσιν αὐτὸν ἵνα σταυρώσωσιν αὐτόν

It is tempting to challenge Müller-Kessler and Sokoloff's restoration of [oo] on in the example above, and to suggest as an alternative [oo] on, which would be a literal translation of the Greek Present.³³ However, since I did not have a chance to check the actual manuscript for this study, I must provisionally accept the reading of Müller-Kessler and Sokoloff's published text. As it stands, the CPA expression entails a past imperfective sense.

³³ Desreumaux (1997: 126) reads معمع مراه] م

3.2.6. Translated by CPA ~om + Verbal Adjective

There is also at least 1 instance where a Greek historical present is translated in CPA by <a>o + verbal adjective (Mark 11:1a CSRPc).

Mark 11:1 CSRPc

محة صمم متبحي لية معليم لحية وحية محمد حيي

And when they were close to Jerusalem and to Bethphage and Bethany

Καὶ ὅτε *ἐγγίζουσιν* εἰς Ἱεροσόλυμα εἰς Βηθφαγὴ καὶ Βηθανίαν

In above example, the CPA translator chose to render the Greek historical present ἐγγίζουσιν "they came near" not with a Perfect σ but with the adjective σ "near" accompanied by the Perfect of σ "to be" expressing past time. The expression σ could be interpreted either as equivalent to σ + Participle, "they were drawing near" or, more likely, as the verb "to be" with an adjectival predicate.

3.2.7. Instances with Textual Variants

Further, in at least 2 instances, the CPA witnesses disagree between translating the Greek historical present as a Participle or a Perfect (Mark 2:18a CCR1, CSRGd; 10:46 CSRPc, CSROe).

Mark 2:18

ത Δ പ്രാസര <u>രഖ്സര</u> [CCR1] ത Δ പ്രസംഗം പ്രസ്ത [CSRG $^{
m d}$]

And they came and said to him καὶ ἔρχονται καὶ λέγουσιν αὐτῷ

Since there are no variants in the Greek Vorlage of the above example, the CPA variants in the translation of ἔρχονται possibly reflect the ambivalence between translating it literally, κάκ (CSRG^d), or idiomatically, κάκ (CCR1).

Also, there is 1 instance of a CPA Imperfect (Mark 6:45 CSRO^c). However, the significance of this instance is questionable, because the passage has textual variants. Though the main text of NA²⁸ has the Present Indicative ἀπολύει, the Byzantine text has the Aorist Subjunctive ἀπολύση. Other witnesses have the Future ἀπολύσει, and still others the Aorist Indicative ἀπέλυσεν. Regardless of the Vorlage of the CPA text, the instance occurs in a

subordinate temporal clause, معمد محمد "until he dismissed the crowds." See Schulthess' (1924: 87) description of the relative future function of the Imperfect.

3.2.8. An Additional Instance

Finally, no doubt, some of the remaining instances of the Greek Present Indicative may also have been interpreted as historical presents by the CPA translator. Therefore, in addition to the clear instances of historical presents, one could possibly add 1 more instance where the Greek Present was translated by a CPA Perfect (Matt. 26:50 CSRPd, BL).

Matt. 26:50 CSRPd

سحني حد محم سالهما

Friend, why have you come? έταιρε, ἐφ' ὁ πάρει

The Greek present in the above example is not a historical present, but a perfective present, i.e., a verb that denotes "a present state or condition" and implies "the occurrence of an action which produced that condition" (Fanning 1990: 239). The use of the CPA Perfect in translation is either idiomatic or suggests that the scribe understood the Greek as a historical present.

3.3. Translation of Greek Futuristic Presents

In many languages, a present tense expression can in some contexts be employed to express future actions or events. For example, compare the following two English sentences:

[Present:] I am going to school.

[Future:] I am going to school tomorrow.

In the above examples, the same verbal phrase is used for a present and a future action. Although the English sentence "I am going tomorrow" is not semantically identical in all contexts to the future tense, "I will go tomorrow," it is also undeniable that there is a great deal of overlap between the two expressions. One distinction between the two expressions is that the expression "I am going" does not itself express the future, but the future time is expressed by the context. Similarly, the Greek Present Indicative can also be used in a future context. There are possibly 33 instances of futuris-

tic presents in the Gospels whose CPA translation is sufficiently preserved for analysis.

3.3.1. Translated by CPA Pronoun + Participle

In most instances, the CPA translation of Greek futuristic presents employs a participial expression. In 15 of the instances, it is rendered in CPA by the expression pronoun + Participle, including 2 instances where there is also a pronoun in Greek (John 14:19b CCR8; 15:27a CCR8), and 13 instances where the pronoun is added in the CPA translation (Mark 1:7a CCR1; 11:3c CSRPc; Luke 18:7 CSRS/Pc; 19:8a CSRPc; 19:8b CSRPc; 19:13 CSRPc; John 11:47a Damc; 13:27b CCR8; 14:28a T-Sc; 14:28b T-Sc; 14:28c T-Sc; 16:5a CCR8; 16:5c CCR8).³⁴

Mark 11:3 CSRPc

And if anyone says to you, "Why are you untying the foal?," say to him, "The Lord needs it." And immediately *he will* send it here.

καὶ ἐάν τις ὑμῖν εἴπη• τί ποιεῖτε τοῦτο; εἴπατε• ὁ κύριος αὐτοῦ χρείαν ἔχει, καὶ εὐθὺς αὐτὸν ἀποστέλλει πάλιν ὧδε.

In the above example, the Greek Present ἀποστέλλει expresses a future event. Although it is translated by a CPA construction normally used to express the present, there is no reason to doubt that the CPA translator understood its future function.

3.3.2. Translated by CPA Participles

In 8 instances, the futuristic present is translated in CPA by a simple Participle alone without a pronoun, but the subject is explicit in the context (Matt. 24:42 CCR1, CSRPd; 24:44b CCR1, CSRPd;

³⁴ In John 14:28a,b there is one pronoun for two Participles. In John 14:19b a Participle is visible, but not the preceding pronoun; yet, it is reasonable to assume that there was a pronoun in the lacuna, because there is one in the Greek original. Also, the instances in Luke 19:8a,b could be alternatively analyzed as performative presents.

26:24b CCR1; Mark 9:12 CSRO^e; 9:31 CSRP^e; Luke 17:20a CSRS^e; 17:20b CSRS^e; John 16:2 CCR8).

Matt. 24:42 CCR1

بر معرب عور معرب معرب معرب معرب به براء

For you do not know on what day your Lord is coming. ὅτι οὐκ οἴδατε ποία ἡμέρα ὁ κύριος ὑμῶν ἔρχεται

In the above example, the Greek ἔρχεται, a Present with future meaning, is translated by a simple Participle in CPA. My English translation "is coming" reflects the fact that the English Present Progressive with a future meaning also fits in this context.

3.3.3. Translated by CPA Imperfects

In at least 6 instances, a Greek futuristic present is translated in CPA by an Imperfect (Mt 24:40a CSRPd; 24:40b CSRPd; 24:41a CSRPd; 24:41b CSRPd; Mark 11:23c CSRPe; John 7:33b CSROc). In some of these instances, the context may be not only future, but also modal. But in others, the CPA Imperfect simply expresses the future.

Matt. 24:40-41 CSRPd

[ه]تم حسب المنا: سة المتحاة عسد المعلامة: المالم المعلامة: المالم المعلامة: المالم المعلامة المالم المعلامة المالم المال

Two men will be in the field, one *will be taken* and one *will be left*. Two women will be grinding with a millstone, one *will be taken* and one *will be left*.

τότε δύο ἔσονται ἐν τῷ ἀγρῷ, εἶς παραλαμβάνεται καὶ εῗς ἀφίεται• δύο ἀλήθουσαι ἐν τῷ μύλῳ, μία παραλαμβάνεται καὶ μία ἀφίεται.

In the above example, the CPA Imperfects express the future tense of the Greek futuristic present, without any obvious modal nuance. Also, though some of the words in v. 40 are only partially preserved, the restoration is justified on the basis of the context in v. 41 where the words are clearly visible.

3.3.4. Instances with Textual Variants

There are at least 4 instances involving textual variants that must be mentioned. In 2 instances, the Greek Present Indicative must be understood as a futuristic present in the standard published text because it follows a Future (Matt. 18:12b CSRPe; Mark 2:22b

CCR1). Both instances are translated in CPA by simple Participles. However, in both cases the preceding future tense verb has textual variants.

Mark 2:22 CCR1

[No one puts new wine in old wineskins.] Otherwise the new wine tears the wineskins, and the wine *is spilled*.

εἰ δὲ μή, ῥήξει ὁ οἶνος τοὺς ἀσκούς, καὶ ὁ οἶνος ἀπόλλυται καὶ οἱ ἀσκοί

In the above example, there is a textual variant in the tense of the Greek Future Indicative ὑήξει, from ὑήγνυμι/ὑήσσω "to tear, rip." The Greek majority reading has the Present Indicative ὑήσσει instead of the Future (and adds ὁ νέος "new," i.e., κωω, after ὁ οἶνος), in which case one can conclude that the CPA translator understood the next verb as a true present with a general present meaning rather than a futuristic present. That the CPA translation follows the majority reading in this passage is further supported by the fact that the verb in question κανάς translates the majority reading ἐκχεῖται "is spilled," instead of ἀπόλλυται "is lost."

There are also 2 instances in one verse whose textual problems deserve additional comment (Mark 11:24b CSRPe; 11:24c CSRPe).

Mark 11:24 CSRPe

Whatever *you ask for* when *you pray*, believe that you are receiving it and it will be done for you.

πάντα ὅσα προσεύχεσθε καὶ αἰτεῖσθε, πιστεύετε ὅτι ἐλάβετε, καὶ ἔσται ὑμῖν.

ticiple) is not a translation of a Greek Present Indicative, but of the Present Participle προσευχόμενοι in a subordinate temporal clause.

3.4. TRANSLATION OF SPECIAL TYPES OF GREEK PRESENTS

In addition to distinctions among Greek Present Indicatives that express past, present, and future time, there are also instances that need to be treated as special categories. This section deals with the CPA translation of Greek Present Indicatives with special types of functions, the Periphrastic Present, and certain verbs whose lexical meaning requires separate analysis. It goes without saying that, some of the special grammatical functions of Presents discussed below may have been otherwise interpreted by the CPA translators. However, due to the paucity of instances, their discussion is limited.

3.4.1. Present Indicative in Indirect Discourse

One of the functions that deserve special comment is the Present in indirect discourse. In English, there is tense sequencing, i.e., indirect discourse requires a change in tense to match the context of the direct discourse. For example, the statement "I see the city" in past indirect discourse would be "He said that he saw the city" (Burton 1898: 137). However, Greek and many modern languages do not have this sequence of tenses. Thus, the Greek equivalent would be "He said that he sees the city" (see Burton 1898: 135-142). Such a Present is not a historical present, but a Present expressing relative time (Blass and Debrunner 1984: 267-268). It occurs with verbs of speaking, perception, and belief (Turner 1963: 64). This relative tense function of the Present is also valid for other Greek tenses, but, for the purpose of this study, only Presents expressing relative tense need special comment. There are at least 5 instances of the Greek Present in indirect discourse with attested CPA translations. In 2 instances, the Greek Present in indirect discourse is translated in CPA by a simple Participle (Matt. 2:4 CCR3; 24:43 CCR1, CSRPd).

If the owner of the house had known at what hour the thief would come, . . .

εἰ ἤδει ὁ οἰκοδεσπότης ποία φυλακῆ ὁ κλέπτης ἔρχεται

In the above example, the Greek Present Indicative occurs in a clause that serves as the object of a verb of knowing. It expresses the relative present, i.e., the point of reference is the house owner (or "household master" in Greek) in the parable rather than the speaker. From the house owner's perspective, this may be a futuristic present. But for the purpose of this study, it suffices to call it a present in indirect speech. Similarly, the instance in Matt. 2:4 has also been explained as a tendential or conative present, "an action being contemplated, or proposed, or attempted but which has not actually taken place" (Brooks and Winbery 1979: 86). However, it is also a present of indirect discourse. The CPA translation in both instances is a simple Participle.

In 2 instances of the Greek Present in indirect discourse, the orthography of the CPA verb allows for the analysis as either Perfect or Participle (حلمه in Matt. 2:22 CCR3; نحمه in Mark 12:41 CSRO°).

There is also 1 instance of a CPA translation with the construction κοω + Participle (Mark 2:16a CSRGd). However, the Greek text has variants. Instead of the Present Indicative in NA²⁸ (ἰδόντες ὅτι ἐσθίει "seeing that he was eating"), the Byzantine text has a Present Participle (αὐτὸν ἐσθίοντα "[seeing] him eating"). One manuscript has a simple Imperfect Indicative (ὅτι ἔσθιον "[seeing] that he was eating"). Thus the CPA translation Δακασια ωλω αναφού "they saw him, that he was eating" may not in fact be a translation of a Greek Present Indicative.

3.4.2. Present Indicative of Past Actions Still in Progress

Another type of Greek Present Indicative that deserves special comment is the Present of past actions still in progress. This type of Present denotes an action or event that started in the past but continues in the present (see Fanning 1990: 217–219; Wallace 1996: 519–520; Brooks and Winbery 1979: 84–85 call this a "durative present"). There are at least 3 instances attested with CPA translations in the corpus.

In 2 instances of the Greek Present Indicative expressing past actions still in progress, the CPA translation employs the construc-

Matt. 23:29 CSROe

who have been building the tombs of the prophets and adorning the monuments of the righteous

ότι *οἰκοδομεῖτε* τοὺς τάφους τῶν προφητῶν καὶ κοσμεῖτε τὰ μνημεῖα τῶν δικαίων

The Greek Present Indicatives in the above example denote actions that began in the past, but continue in the present. Although the connection with the past may not be explicit in the sentence, it can be inferred from the context (see v. 30). Hence, the CPA construction $\prec \circ \circ \circ$ + Participle, expressing a past imperfective function.

In 1 instance, the Greek Present of past action still in progress is translated by the expression pronoun + Participle (Mark 8:2b CSRPe).

Mark 8:2 CSRPe

Look, already three days they have been staying with me ήδη ήμέραι τρεῖς προσμένουσίν μοι

In the above example, since the crowds arrived earlier but stayed three days, the Greek Present Indicative can be considered one that expresses a past action still in progress. The CPA translation consists of pronoun + Participle.

The fact that the Greek Present of past action still in progress is translated in CPA by either $\prec \alpha \omega +$ Participle or pronoun + Participle suggests either a semantic overlap in the two expressions (as in the case of $\prec \alpha \omega +$ Participle and the simple Participle by itself) or that the CPA translation depended on whether the translator perceived the context to emphasize the past or the present. The instances are too few to draw definite conclusions.

3.4.3. Periphrastic Present

Another special grammatical construction that occurs in the corpus, is the Greek Periphrastic Present, which consists of the Present Indicative of the auxiliary εἰμί in combination with a Present

Participle. There are at least 3 instances of the Greek Periphrastic Present with an attested CPA translation, all of which occur in similar contexts, introducing a translation of a non-Greek word. In all 3 instances, the CPA translation employs the same Passive Par-"being translated." In 2 of the instances, it is accompanied by a personal pronoun, באו בס המס כאלו for o contriv μεθερμηνευόμενον "which is translated" (Matt. 1:23 CCR3), οσι for ο΄ ἐστιν . . . λεγόμενος "which means" (Matt. 27:33 CCR8), and in 1 instance it occurs by itself, געלו בין for ὄ ἐστιν μεθερμηνευόμενον "which is translated" (Mark 15:22 CSRO^e). Since the latter two instances are parallel passages, the presence or absence of the personal pronoun seems optional. Thus, all instances of the Greek Periphrastic Present with attested CPA translations are passive and are translated with an expression that includes a Passive Participle. However, one cannot make generalizations based on these very similar instances.

3.4.4. Present Indicative of εἰμί as a Simple Verb

Besides special types of grammatical constructions and functions, there are also verbs whose lexical meaning requires separate discussion. Among these are 110 instances of the Greek Present Indicative of εἰμί "to be" functioning as a simple non-auxiliary verb with a sufficiently legible attested CPA translation.³⁵ As can be expected, the vast majority of instances express the true present. The few instances that express the historical or futuristic present are mentioned where relevant. Although the syntax of εἰμί does not always correspond to that of the CPA translation (i.e., a noun phrase pred-

³⁵ These may be listed as follows: Matt. 1:20; 2:2; 2:18; 18:14; 18:20b; 22:42b; 22:45b; 23:8a; 23:8b; 23:9; 23:10; 23:16a; 23:17; 23:18a; 23:31b; 24:5; 24:26; 24:33b; 24:45; 26:25a; 26:26; 26:28; 26:38b; 26:39a; 26:48; 26:63b; 26:66b; 26:73a; 27:6b; 27:11a; 27:37; 27:40; 27:42b; 27:43b; 27:46; 28:6; Mark 1:24; 1:27a; 2:9a; 4:16a; 4:17b; 6:35; 6:49; 7:11b; 7:15a; 7:15c; 9:5b; 9:7; 9:10; 9:39; 9:40a; 9:42a; 9:47; 12:25c; 12:27a; 12:37b; 12:42; 13:28b; 13:29b; 14:34b; 14:35; 14:44; 15:2a; 15:16a; 16:6c; Luke 1:19; 1:36; 1:63; 7:19a; 7:20a; 7:23; 9:9a; 9:12; 9:13; 9:35; 9:38b; 9:48c; 9:50a; 9:50b; 10:22b; 10:22c; 11:29a; 11:35; 17:21; 18:9; 18:11b; 18:27; 19:3; 19:9; 20:2b; John 6:33; 6:35; 6:42a; 7:40; 11:9a; 11:39d; 12:9; 13:16b; 13:17; 13:19b; 13:25b; 13:26b; 14:28d; 15:1a; 15:3; 15:14a; 15:19a; 15:20b; 15:27b; 19:35a.

icate in Greek may be translated by something other than a noun phrase predicate in CPA), the Greek syntax must serve as the starting point for the study of translation technique. Nevertheless, the CPA translation tends to be very literal.

3.4.4.1. Eiµí with a Noun Phrase Predicate

In 56 instances the Present Indicative of εἰμί functioning as a simple verb is accompanied by a noun phrase predicate with a noun or pronoun as head. In at least 45 of the instances it is translated with a personal pronoun, including 8 instances occurring in bipartite nominal clauses where the pronoun can be analyzed as the clause subject (Matt. 22:45b CCR1; 23:31b CSROe; 27:6b CSRPf; 27:43b CCR1; Mark 6:49 CSROe; 12:37b CSROe; Luke 9:38b CSRSe; John 13:26b CCR8) and 37 instances occurring in tripartite nominal clauses (Matt. 22:42b CCR1; 23:8a CCR1, CSROe; 23:9 CCR1, CSROe; 23:10 CCR1, CSROe; 24:5 CSROe; 24:45 CCR1, CSRPd; 26:25a CCR1; 26:26 CCR1; 26:28 CCR1; 26:63b CSRG/Od, BL; 27:11a CCR1, CSROe, CSRPf; 27:37 CCR8; 27:42b CCR1; Mark 1:24 CCR1; 1:27a CCR1; 4:16a CSROc; 7:15c CSROc; 9:7 CSROc; 9:10 CSROe; 15:2a CSROe; Luke 1:19 CSROc, Damb; 1:63 CSROc; 7:19a CSRPs; 7:20a CSRPs; 9:9a CSROc; 9:35 CSROc; 10:22b CSRO^c; 10:22c CSRO^c; 11:35 CSRP^c; 19:3 CSRP^c; 20:2b Dam^c; John 6:35 CSRPc; 6:42a CSRPc; 7:40 CSROc; 13:25b CCR8; 15:1a T-Sc; 15:14a T-Sc).

Matt. 27:43 CCR1

: Kolki ojo Kiki

I am the Son of God ὅτι Θεοῦ εἰμι υἱός

Matt. 24:5 CSROe

תשבים מום תות

I am the Christ. ἐγώ εἰμι ὁ χριστός

The above examples illustrate the Present Indicative of εἰμί with a noun phrase predicate translated with a personal pronoun either in a bipartite (Matt. 27:43) or a tripartite (Matt. 24:5) nominal clause. In Matt. 27:43, the Greek εἰμι is translated with the pronoun κων in a bipartite nominal clause, where the personal pronoun functions as the clause subject. In Matt. 24:5, ἐγώ εἰμι is translated in

CPA with απ κωκ, 1st person pronoun + 3rd person pronoun. The tripartite clause has been analyzed as a cleft sentence, consisting of a predicate (the *vedette*) and a personal pronoun that functions as its subject, as well as a nominalized part of the sentence (the *glose*) which is in apposition to the pronoun. That would mean that κωκ is the *vedette*, απ is the subject, and κωμκ is the *glose*, which is roughly similar to, "I am the one who is the Christ." Similarly, if the pronoun απ is viewed as a predicate marker, it would also mean that κωκ is the predicate, being explicitly so marked by the predicate marker απ, and κωμκ is the subject, which is roughly similar to, "The Christ is I."36 On the other hand, given the fact that ἐγώ is likely the subject in Greek, it is difficult to rule out the possibility that κωκ is the subject, in which case απ functions as a copula.

To some extent the distinction between bipartite and tripartite nominal clauses in CPA reflects the presence or absence of an explicitly expressed subject in the Greek original. That is, where $\epsilon l \mu l$ links two noun phrases, a subject and a predicate, the CPA pronoun occurs in a tripartite clause, whereas where $\epsilon l \mu l$ is accompanied by a single noun phrase, the CPA pronoun occurs in a bipartite clause. The latter instances can occasionally be ambiguous. That is, a single noun phrase accompanying $\epsilon l \mu l$ could be the subject rather than the predicate, in which case the clause has no expressed predicate (see below). However, the instances listed above are clearly predicates.

In at least 4 instances ɛlµl is translated in CPA with the particle of existence كمح, including 3 instances with a pronoun (Matt. 27:40 CCR8, CCR1; Luke 19:9 CSRPc; John 6:33 CSRPc) and 1 instance by itself (Luke 11:29a CSRPc).

John 6:33 CSRPc

³⁶ For a recent discussion of various approaches to tripartite nominal clauses, see Goldenberg 2006; Joosten 2006; Muraoka 2006; Van Peursen 2006a, 2006b.

ό γὰρ ἄρτος τοῦ θεοῦ *ἐστιν* ὁ καταβαίνων ἐκ τοῦ οὐρανοῦ καὶ ζωὴν διδοὺς τῷ κόσμῳ

In the above example, the Greek נפֿסדוי is translated in CPA with אילא, i.e., the particle of existence איל with a suffixed enclitic pronoun.

There is 1 instance where the translation of the Greek copula εἰμί involves a CPA textual variant consisting of the presence and absence of λ.κ (Matt. 26:48 CCR1, CSRPd, BL).

Matt. 26:48

The one whom I kiss, *it is* he. Seize him. ον αν φιλήσω αὐτός *ἐστιν*, κρατήσατε αὐτόν

In the above example, there are no variants to the Greek cotiv. The CPA witnesses disagree between an har an (CCR1), aan (CSRPd), and an an (BL). The form aan in CSRPd is probably an independent pronoun with an attached enclitic pronoun, though the broken context allows for other interpretations. Thus, the presence or absence of har may be stylistic, at least in some contexts.

There are 3 instances of εἰμί with a noun phrase predicate that occur in negative sentences. The CPA translation consists of 1 instance of ձև accompanied by a personal pronoun (Mark 12:27a CSRPe), 1 instance of ձև by itself (Matt. 18:14 CSRPe), and 1 instance of ձև and a personal pronoun (John 11:9a Dam^d).

Matt. 18:14 CSRPe

מבו אבאה ונבחו עו כך מלבן אבר הבחו עו כך מלבן ביונה אב'ים א

So *it is not* the will of your Father in heaven that one of these little ones should perish.

οὕτως *οὐκ ἔστιν* θέλημα ἔμπροσθεν τοῦ πατρὸς ὑμῶν τοῦ ἐν οὐρανοῖς ἵνα ἀπόληται εν τῶν μικρῶν τούτων

In the above example, the Greek οὖκ ἔστιν is translated in CPA by ΔΔ without an accompanying personal pronoun. The instance in John 11:9a deserves a brief comment.

John 11:9 Dam^d

ك هذهد[حصف,] تحم صب د[...]

Are there not twelve hours in [a day]? οὐχί δώδεκα ὧραί είσιν τῆς ἡμέρας

In at least 3 instances εἰμί is left untranslated, i.e., εἰμί is translated with neither ኤܝܝ, ኤܝܠ, nor a personal pronoun. Although εἰμί is not translated, there is a Greek personal pronoun translated by a CPA pronoun in 2 instances (Matt. 23:8b CSROe; Mark 14:44 CSRPe) and a Greek demonstrative pronoun translated by a CPA demonstrative in 1 instance (Luke 1:36 CCR3). Alternatively, the instances can be categorized as 2 instances of CPA bipartite nominal clauses with a demonstrative (Luke 1:36) or personal pronoun (Matt. 23:8b) as the subject and 1 instance where the personal pronoun stands alone (Mark 14:44).

Luke 1:36 CCR3

one, tio in ship,: Lin, moil ochain acin:

And this *is* to her the sixth month, to the one who was called barren.

καὶ οὖτος μὴν ἕκτος ἐστίν αὐτῆ τῆ καλουμένη στείρα

In the above example, the Greek ¿στιν is left untranslated.

3.4.4.2. εἰμί with an Adjectival Predicate

In 30 instances the Present Indicative of εἰμί functioning as a simple verb is accompanied by an adjectival predicate. In at least 13 of the instances it is translated with a personal pronoun, which can be subdivided into 6 instances occurring in bipartite nominal clauses

where the pronoun can be analyzed as the clause subject (Matt. 24:33b CSRPd; 26:66b CSRG/Od; Mark 4:17b CSROc; 13:29b CSRPe, Dam; Luke 18:9 CSRS/Pc; John 15:3 T-Sc)³⁷ and 7 instances occurring in tripartite nominal clauses (Matt. 23:17 CCR1; 26:38b CSRPd; Mark 6:35 CSROc; 13:28b CSRPc, Dam; 14:34b CSRPc; John 14:28d T-Sc; 19:35a Damf).

Matt. 24:26 CSRPd

מא מם במבובו

Look, *he is* in the desert. Ἰδοὺ ἐν τῆ ἐρήμῳ ἐστίν

In the above example, the Greek ἐστίν is translated in CPA with the personal pronoun an in a bipartite nominal clause where the pronoun can be analyzed as the clause subject.

Also, 6 instances consist of negative sentences. Of these, 2 instances consist of A accompanied by a personal pronoun, either independent or suffixed (Matt. 23:16a CCR1, CSROe; 23:18a CCR1), and 4 instances of A by itself (Mark 7:15a CSROe; 9:39 CSROe, CSRPe; John 13:16b CCR8; 15:20b CCR8).

Matt. 23:16

[CCR1] <u>لىلا ھە</u> چەلەم: [CSRO^e] <u>لىلام</u> خلەم:

It is nothing. οὐδέν ἐστιν

In the above example, the Greek copula £0TLV occurs in a negative sentence, and is translated in CPA with 🕰 and a pronoun. It is interesting to notice the CPA variant between an independent pronoun in CCR1 and a suffixed pronoun in CSROe, which suggests that the two are stylistic variants.

In 4 instances εἰμί is left untranslated, i.e., εἰμί is translated with neither איל, איל, nor a personal pronoun (Mark 2:9a CCR1; 9:5b CSRO°; 9:42a CSRO°; 9:47 CSRO°).

³⁷ In the instance in John 15:3 the CPA personal pronoun actually translates the Greek pronoun rather than of the Present Indicative of εἰμί. Nevertheless, the CPA translation results in a bipartite nominal clause with a pronoun as the subject.

Mark 9:5 CSROe

ic /c / 110 / 27:

Rabbi, it is good for us to be here. Ἡ Pαββί, καλόν ἐστιν ἡμᾶς ὧδε εἶναι

In the above example, the Greek copula cottv is omitted in CPA translation, which simply translates the predicate adjective.

In 6 of the instances εἰμί is translated idiomatically in CPA, including 3 instances in which εἰμί combined with δυνατός "possible, able" is translated in CPA with the verb $\Delta \omega$ "to be able" (Matt. 26:39a CSRPd; Mark 14:35 CSRPe; Luke 18:27 CSRSe), 2 instances where εἰμί combined with μακάριος is translated in CPA with $\Delta \omega$ + pronominal suffix (Luke 7:23 CSRPe; John 13:17 CCR8), and 1 instance where the Greek sentence is translated with the CPA possessive expression Δ + pronominal suffix (John 11:39d Dama). The following are examples of each of these:

Luke 18:27 CSRSc

As for these things, they are not possible with man, [but with God] they are possible.

τὰ ἀδύνατα παρὰ ἀνθρώποις *δυνατὰ* παρὰ τῷ θεῷ ἐστιν

John 13:17 CCR8

If you know these things, you are happy if you do them εἰ ταῦτα οἴδατε, μακάριοί ἐστε ἐὰν ποιῆτε αὐτά.

John 11:39 Dama

He already stinks, for, look, *he has* four days.

ήδη ὄζει, τεταρταῖος γάρ *ἐστιν*

In the first of the above examples (Luke 18:27 CSRSc), The Greek δυνατὰ . . . ἐστιν is translated with the CPA verb Δω "to be able." In the second example (John 13:17 CCR8), the phrase μακάριοί ἐστε is translated with α a nominal form with a pronominal suffix. In the last of the above examples (John 11:39 Dama), the Greek ἐστιν is translated with a CPA expression of possession, consisting of Δ + pronominal suffix. Thus, the Greek

τεταρταῖος γάρ ἐστιν "For it is the fourth day" is translated in CPA as אבא האבין הא "For, look, he has four days."

In 1 instance ɛiui is possibly translated in CPA with the Imperfect of ≺on (Luke 9:48c CSRPc, CSRSc). However, the Greek text has a textual variant.

Luke 9:48 CSRPc

:Ko -1 - 10

This one *will be* great. οὖτός *ἐστιν* μέγας

In the above example, the CPA Imperfect κω "he will be" may be a translation not of the Greek Present Indicative ἐστιν in the standard NA²⁸ text, but Greek majority reading, which has the Future Indicative ἔσται.

3.4.4.3. εἰμί with an Adverbial Predicate

In 8 instances the Present Indicative of εἰμί functioning as a simple verb is accompanied by a predicate adverb. As in the previous chapter, the list of predicate adverbs is limited to those adverbs that express location, time, or manner as sentence predicates, and excludes adverbial conjunctions, such as words meaning, "however," "therefore," etc., or adverbial complements that are not part of the sentence nucleus. In 5 of the instances it is translated with a personal pronoun. These include 4 instances where the subject of εἰμί is known from the context but not expressed by a noun phrase in the clause, and the CPA pronoun occurs in a bipartite nominal clause (Matt. 18:20b CSRPe; Mark 12:25c CSRPc; Luke 9:12 CSROc; John 12:9 T-Sa), and 1 instance where the subject of εἰμί is expressed, and the CPA pronoun occurs in a tripartite nominal clause (Matt. 2:2 CCR3).

Matt. 18:20 CSRPe

For where two or three are gathered in my name, there *I am* in their midst.

οὖ γάρ εἰσιν δύο ἢ τρεῖς συνηγμένοι εἰς τὸ ἐμὸν ὄνομα, ἐκεῖ *εἰμι* ἐν μέσφ αὐτῶν.

In the above example, the Greek εἰμι "I am" is translated in CPA with the pronoun κικ "I," which can be analyzed as the subject of a nominal clause.

In 3 instances, εἰμί in a negative sentence is translated with the negative ΔΔ + pronoun (Matt. 28:6 CCR1; Mark 16:6c CSRPc; Luke 18:11b CSRS/Pc)

Mark 16:6 CSRPc

مخ ليلامه محم:

He is risen. He is not here. ἠγέρθη, οὐκ ἔστιν ὧδε

In the above example, the Greek $o\dot{v}\kappa\ \ddot{e}\sigma\tau\iota\nu$ is translated in CPA with $\Delta\Delta$ + pronoun.

3.4.4.4. εἰμί with a Prepositional Phrase Predicate

In 9 instances the Present Indicative of εἰμί functioning as a simple verb is accompanied by a predicate that consists of a prepositional phrase. Since, prepositional phrases usually have an adverbial function, this category can also be considered a subset of the previous one. In 4 of the instances it is translated with a personal pronoun, including 3 instances in bipartite nominal clauses (Matt. 24:26 CSRPd; Luke 9:50b CSRPc; John 15:27b CCR8) and 1 instance in a tripartite nominal clause (Matt. 26:73a CSRG/Od).

Matt. 24:26 CSRPd

מא מ<u>מס</u> במכובי

Look, he is in the desert. Ἰδοὺ ἐν τῆ ἐρήμῳ ἐστίν

In the above example, the Greek ἐστίν is translated in CPA with the personal pronoun an in a bipartite nominal clause where the pronoun can be analyzed as the clause subject.

In 1 instance εἰμί is translated in CPA with λωκ + pronoun (Matt. 1:20 CCR3).

Matt. 1:20 CCR3

מוד אב ומרון במנט כל נסת ומטודא אדי מס

For that which is born from her is from the Holy Spirit. τὸ γὰρ ἐν αὐτῆ γεννηθὲν ἐκ πνεύματός ἐστιν ἁγίου

In the above example, the Greek cottv is translated in CPA with and a personal pronoun.

In 3 instances, εἶμί in a negative sentence is translated with the negative ΔΔ + pronoun (Mark 9:40a CSRO^c, CSRP^e; Luke 9:50a CSRP^c, CSRS^e; John 15:19a T-S^d). In this context, it is also interesting to mention a CPA textual variant between an enclitic and an independent pronoun in Luke 9:50a (CSRP^c, CSRS^e).

Luke 9:50

The one who is not against us is for us.

δς γὰρ *οὐκ ἔστιν* καθ' ὑμῶν, ὑπὲρ ὑμῶν ἐστιν

In the above example, there are no variants to the Greek \ref{EOTLV} , and the intra-CPA variants are stylistic in nature. One witness has $\ref{LLL} + \text{enclitic pronoun (CSRP}^c)$ and another witness has $\ref{LLLL} + \text{independent pronoun (CSRS}^c)$. There is no detectable difference in meaning between the two CPA translations.

There is also 1 instance where ɛlul is translated in CPA with an Imperfect of <code><am>c</code> (Luke 17:21 CSRSe).

Luke 17:21 CSRSc

His kingdom will be in your midst.

ή βασιλεία τοῦ θεοῦ ἐντὸς ὑμῶν ἐστιν

In the above example, the Greek Present LOTIV is translated in CPA with an Imperfect ROD. Unlike the instance in Luke 9:48c cited above, which may reflect a Greek textual variant, the instance in Luke 17:21 does not involve any textual problems. It is likely that it reflects the interpretation by the CPA translator as a futuristic present.

3.4.4.5. εἰμί without an Expressed Predicate

In 2 instances the Present Indicative of $\varepsilon \iota \mu \iota$ functioning as a simple verb occurs without an expressed predicate. These include 1 instance in an affirmative sentence translated with a pronoun (John 13:19b CCR8) and 1 instance in a negative sentence translated with + pronoun (Matt 2:18 CCR3).

John 13:19 CCR8

ובו ימכרו לישיבח ביו אישי ובאי שיי

So that when it happens you may believe that I am he.

ίνα πιστεύσητε όταν γένηται ότι έγώ είμι

In the above example the Greek ἐγώ εἰμι has no expressed predicate, and is translated in CPA with an κως, 1st person pronoun + 3rd person pronoun, forming a bipartite nominal clause. One could analyze the CPA clause an κως either as subject-predicate ("I am he") or predicate-subject ("It is I"), though it is clear that ἐγώ is the subject in Greek.

The other instance of $\epsilon i \mu i$ without an explicit predicate occurs in a negative clause.

Matt. 2:18 CCR3

:_ ano stal :

Because they *are* not. ὅτι οὐκ *εἰσίν*

The above example is a negative sentence where $\varepsilon l \mu l$ occurs without an explicit predicate. The CPA pronoun functions as the subject, and the negative $0 \dot{\nu} \kappa$ is translated by ΔL .

3.4.4.6. εἰμί in Special Expressions

In 4 instances, the Present Indicative of εἰμί functioning as a simple verb occurs in expressions that introduce a translation or explanation, including 3 instances of ὅ ἐστιν (Mark 7:11b CSROe; 12:42 CSROe; 15:16a CCR8, CSROe) and 1 instance of τοῦτ' ἔστιν (Matt. 27:46 CCR1). Its meaning is similar to but more general than expressions such as ὅ ἐστιν μεθερμηνευόμενον "which is translated" (15:22b CSROe). It is normally translated in CPA with τ confoliowed by a 3rd person personal pronoun.

Mark 15:16 CSROe

مة حدر مقدله إمال ملك «kit مك دهر) ماعقد مة دم

The soldiers brought him into the courtyard, *that is*, the Praetorium.

Οἱ δὲ στρατιῶται ἀπήγαγον αὐτὸν ἔσω τῆς αὐλῆς, ὅ ἐστιν πραιτώριον

In the above example, the Greek expression ὁ ἐστιν is translated in CPA with , , meaning "that is," or "which means." See also the discussion above on the Periphrastic Present. Possibly, one could add to this group the instance of τί ἐστιν in Mark 9:10 CSRO°, which is listed above under εἰμί with a noun phrase predi-

cate. The latter is similar to the instances listed here, though not identical, and is translated in CPA as , or "what it means."

There is also at least 1 instance where the Greek expression εἰμί + dative expresses possession, which occurs in a negative sentence. The CPA translation is fragmentary, but undoubtedly employs the equivalent possessive expression, [...] حمد [...] کسک (Luke 9:13 CSRO). The negative کم occurs without a pronominal suffix.

3.4.5. Present Indicative of ἔχω Expressing Possession

There are 15 instances of the Greek Present Indicative of $\ell\chi\omega$ expressing possession with attested CPA translations. Of these, at least 5 instances involve the CPA possessive Δ , either by itself (Matt. 27:65 CCR1), accompanied by $\kappa\omega$ (John 15:22 CCR8), or accompanied by $\kappa\omega$ (Mark 2:10a CCR1) or $\kappa\omega$ (Mark 4:17a CSROc; 8:2c CSRPe). Possibly, an instance of [,0 $\kappa\omega$] $\Delta\kappa\omega$ [...] in Luke 9:58b CSRPc should also be included, but one must either assume that the words in the lacuna before $\kappa\omega$ contained the preposition Δ or correct the reconstruction after the Δ .

Mark 2:10 CCR1

(that) the Son of Man has authority on earth to forgive sins ὅτι ἐξουσίαν ἔχει ὁ υίὸς τοῦ ἀνθρώπου ἐπὶ τῆς γῆς ἀφιέναι ἁμαρτίας

In the above example, the Greek $\xi \chi \epsilon \iota$, Present Indicative of $\xi \chi \omega$ "to have," is translated by $\lambda \iota \prec$ and the Δ of possession, which is prefixed to the possessor.

In at least 2 instances, the Greek Present Indicative of $\xi \chi \omega$ in a negative clause is translated in CPA with an expression containing $\lambda \Delta$ + enclitic pronoun but without Δ (Mark 8:16 CSRO°; John 15:13 T-S°).

John 15:13 T-Sc

نداح . . . ا سحلای لیلاه، یمع

No one has greater love μείζονα ταύτης ἀγάπην οὐδείς ἔχει

In the above example, the Greek οὐδεὶς ἔχει is translated by "no one has." No Δ of possession is employed in this case.

In at least 7 instances the Greek Present Indicative of ἔχω is translated by a CPA expression other than possession. Of these, 3 instances involve the Greek expression χρείαν ἔχω "to have need," and are translated in CPA with a Passive Participle, either with a pronoun (Matt. 26:65 CSRG/Od; John 13:29b CCR8) or by itself (Mark 11:3b CSRPc).

Matt. 26:65 CSRG/Od

جم حمد متم وحد لقمرد:

Why do we still need witnesses.

τί ἔτι χρείαν ἔχομεν μαρτύρων;

In the above example, the Greek expression χρείαν ἔχομεν is translated idiomatically by אוֹמס בּ וֹיביע "we need," a CPA pronoun and a Passive Participle. The other instances involve a Greek expression of possession that is translated in CPA stylistically/idiomatically by a different expression (Mark 2:19c CCR1; 6:38b CSROe; 8:5 CSRPe; 11:25b CSRPe).

Mark 2:19 CCR1

معم جد، بلقد مل مصحه من المد معم عدد عمه

As long as the bridegroom is with them, they cannot fast. ὅσον χρόνον ἔχουσιν τὸν νυμφίον μετ' αὐτῶν οὐ δύνανται νηστεύειν

In the above example, the Greek ἔχουσιν is translated idiomatically in CPA rather than with an expression of possession, since the Greek idiom "to have someone with" does not have the same meaning in CPA, i.e., the bridegroom does not actually have possession of the bridal party.

3.4.6. The Verbs δεί and ἔξεστιν

Besides εἰμί and ἔχω, there are two other Greek verbs typically translated in CPA with nominal sentences. There are 4 instances of the Greek impersonal Present Indicative δεῖ "it is necessary, one must, should." All are translated with the CPA adverb wall "by all means," which is a loanword from Greek πάντως (Mark 9:11b CSRO°; 13:7 CSRP°; Luke 17:25 CSRS°; 19:5 CSRP°). There are also 2 instances of the Greek impersonal Present Indicative ἔξεστιν "possible, permitted." Both are translated with the adjective **LL** "allowed" (Matt. 27:6a CSRP°; Mark 10:2 CSRO°). It is not necessary to discuss them further here.

3.4.7. The Verb ήκω

There is also 1 instance of the verb ἥκω "to have come, to be present," which deserves special comment. When it occurs in the Present tense, it functions as if it were a Perfect, and its function is commonly labeled "perfective present" in traditional Greek grammars. That is, it denotes a present state or situation that resulted from a past action or event. There is only 1 instance with an attested CPA translation, and it is translated with a CPA Perfect (Mark 8:3 CSRPe).

Mark 8:3 CSRPe

معتد که تحص عالم معتد مصح

For some of them *have come* from a great distance καί τινες αὐτῶν ἀπὸ μακρόθεν *ἥκασιν*

There is a textual variant in the above instance. The main text of NA²⁸ has ἥκασιν, the majority text has ἥκουσιν, and some other witnesses have εἰσίν. The form ἥκασιν is actually a Perfect Indicative. However, it developed in Hellenistic Greek because of the verb's perfect function in the Present Indicative (Blass and Debrunner 1984: 75). Therefore, the distinction between ἥκασιν and ἥκουσιν is not significant for this study. As for εἰσίν, from the verb εἰμί "to be," it can be argued that, since the Present/Perfect Indicative of ἥκω denotes a present state of a past action, there is a semantic overlap between εἰμί and ῆκω in this context. Nevertheless, the CPA translation καν most likely translates the verb ῆκω, and not εἰμί.

3.4.8. Present Indicative of Verbs That Frequently Introduce Direct Speech

There are 108 instances of the Greek Present Indicative of verbs that can introduce direct speech with attested CPA translations, of which 48 instances denote the true present, and 60 instances the historical present. True present instances consist of 45 instances of the verb $\lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \omega$, 1 instance of $\phi \eta \mu \dot{\iota}$ (Matt. 14:8), 1 instance of $\lambda \alpha \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \omega$ (Mark 11:23b), and 1 instance of $\dot{\epsilon} \rho \omega \tau \dot{\alpha} \omega$ (John 16:5b). The majority of these are translated in CPA with a participial ex-

pression, including at least 39 instances of pronoun + Participle and at least 5 instances of the simple Participle alone.³⁸

Matt. 21:31 CCR1

"Truly, *I say* to you . . ."
ἀμὴν λέγω ὑμῖν ὅτι

Mark 9:11 CSRO^c

""

Why do the scribes *say* . . .
ὅτι λέγουσιν οἱ γραμματεῖς

The above are examples of the Greek Present Indicative of the verb $\lambda \acute{\epsilon} \gamma \omega$ functioning as a true present. In the first example, it is translated by the CPA expression pronoun + Participle (Matt. 21:31), and in the second example by a simple Participle alone (Mark 9:11).

As can be expected, there are also 4 ambiguous instances, consisting of 3 instances of the CPA form in (Luke 9:33b CSROc; John 6:42b CSRPc; 13:22 CCR8) and 1 instance of Act (John 16:5b CCR8). These could be analyzed either as 3ms Perfect or as ms absolute Participles. However, given that the overwhelming majority of orthographically clear instances are Participles, most if not all of these should also be analyzed as Participles.

³⁸ The instances of pronoun + Participle consist of 38 instances of the translation of $\lambda \acute{e} \gamma \omega$ (Matt. 18:10a CSRPe; 18:13a CSRPe; 18:18 CSRPe; 18:19 CSRPe; 21:27a CCR1; 21:31c CCR1; 23:3a CCR1; 23:30 CSROe; 23:36 CSROe; 23:39 CSROe; 24:2b CSROe; 24:34 CSRPd; 24:47 CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; 25:12 CCR1, CSRPd, 26:29 CCR1; 26:64b CSRG/Od; Mark 2:11 CCR1; 7:11a CSROe; 8:12c CSROc, CSRPe; 9:13 CSROe; 11:23a CSRPe; 11:24a CSRPe; 12:43 CSRPc, CSROe; 13:30 Dam; 15:12b CSROe; Luke 7:14 CSRPs; 10:24a CSROc; 17:34 CSRS/Pc; 18:8 CSRS/Pc; 18:29a CSRSc; John 3:3a Sin²; 6:32a CSRPe; 13:16a CCR8; 13:18 CCR8; 13:19a CCR8; 13:20a CCR8; 13:21 CCR8; 16:7a CCR8) and 1 instance of $\lambda \alpha \lambda \acute{e} \omega$ (Mark 11:23b CSRPe). The instances of the Participle by itself consist of 4 instances of the translation of $\lambda \acute{e} \gamma \omega$ (Matt. 26:70 CSRG/Od; Mark 9:11a CSROe; 12:37a CSROe; Luke 9:18 CSROe) and 1 instance of φημί (Matt. 14:8 Sin²).

The 60 instances of Greek historical presents of verbs that can introduce direct speech consist of 59 instances of the verb $\lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \omega$ and 1 instance of $\dot{\epsilon} \rho \omega \tau \dot{\alpha} \omega$ (Luke 11:37). Since the historical present is used in narratives, the majority of instances are 3^{rd} person forms. Hence, in the majority of instances, i.e., 45, the CPA form is orthographically ambiguous, and could be analyzed either as a Perfect 3ms or as a Participle ms absolute. Since the orthographically clear instances include twice as many CPA Participles as Perfects, it is possible that most of the ambiguous instances are Participles. However, since both forms are well attested in orthographically clear instances, it is best not to speculate on the correct analysis of these forms, but to allow for their analysis as ambiguous.

Matt. 21:31 CCR1

... שמשה אוא בישה המא <u>ישרו</u>: אפוי הוא בישה הא בישה They said to him, "The first one." The Lord Jesus *said* to them

λέγουσιν• ὁ πρῶτος. λέγει αὐτοῖς ὁ Ἰησοῦς•

In the above example, the Greek historical present λέγει is translated in CPA with the ambiguous form אולה, which can be analyzed either as a Perfect 3ms or a Participle ms absolute. The fact that it follows a clause with a CPA Participle, אוכני, favors the

³⁹ The ambiguous instances consist of 44 instances of λέγω (Matt. 21:31b CCR1; 22:43a CCR1; 26:31 CCR1; 26:36b CSRPd; 26:38a CSRPd; 26:40c CSRPd; 26:45b CCR1, CSRPd; 26:52 BL; 26:64a CSRG/Od, BL; 27:13a CCR1, CSROc, CSRPf; 28:10 CCR1; Mark 2:5a CCR1; 2:8b CCR1; 2:10b CCR1; 4:13 CSROc; 5:36 CSROc; 5:39a CSROc; 6:38a CSROc; 7:18a CSROc; 8:1 CSRPc; 8:17a CSROc; 9:5a CSROc; 9:35a CSRPc; 11:21 CSRPc; 11:22 CSRPc; 12:16 CSRPc; 13:1 CSROc; 14:34a CSRPc; 14:37c CSRPc; 14:41b CSRPc; 14:45 CSRPc; 15:2b CSROc; 16:6a CSRPc; John 11:39a Dama; 11:40 CSRPd, Dama; 11:44 Damc; 12:4 T-Sa; 13:24b CCR8; 13:25a CCR8; 13:27a CCR8; 13:29a CCR8; 19:26 Damf; 19:27 Damf; 19:28a Damf) and 1 instance of ἐρωτάω (Luke 11:37 CSRPc). The fact that at least 1 of these instances is also accompanied by a personal pronoun in CPA is suggestive that it is an instance of pronoun + Participle (τος απο Matt. 22:43a; perhaps also Mark 16:6a), but one cannot rule out the possibility that it is a Perfect with an added pronoun.

analysis of in this context as also a Participle. Nevertheless, it is best to leave the analysis as ambiguous.

In at least 10 instances, historical presents of verbs that can introduce direct speech are translated with clear CPA Participles (Matt, 21:31a CCR1; 21:41 CCR1; 22:42c CCR1; 26:71 CSRG/O^d; Mark 2:18b CCR1, CSRG^d; 6:37 CSRO^e; 6:38c CSRO^e; 8:19 CSRO^c; 8:20 CSRO^c; John 11:39b CSRP^d, Dam^a). None of these instances is accompanied by a personal pronoun.

Mark 2:18 CCR1

معروه مهره

And they came and said to him. καὶ ἔρχονται καὶ λέγουσιν αὐτῷ•

In the above example, the Greek λέγουσιν is translated by the CPA mp Participle . It is interesting that the preceding Greek historical present is translated with a CPA Perfect (i.e., ακα), resulting in the sequence Perfect + Participle. See the discussion on this sequence under the discussion of the Participle's past time function in chapter eight, section 8.2.3.2.

In at least 4 instances historical presents of verbs that can introduce direct speech are translated with clear CPA Perfects (Matt. 27:11b CCR1, CSRO^e, CSRP^f; Mark 5:31b CSRO^e; 15:2c CSRO^e; Luke 17:37 CSRS/P^c).⁴⁰

Luke 17:37 CSRS/Pc

ما متحده معتد هم

And they answered and said to him. καὶ ἀποκριθέντες λέγουσιν αὐτῷ

In the above example, the Greek λέγουσιν, a historical present of λ έγω, is translated with α , a CPA Perfect.

There is 1 instance of a historical present of the verb $\lambda \acute{\epsilon} \gamma \omega$ with a CPA textual variant (John 11:34 CSRPd, Dama).

⁴⁰ Matt. 27:11b and Mark 15:2c are parallel texts. Technically, they are not historical presents, but perfective presents, i.e., they denote the present continuing state resulting from a past action.

John 11:34

ന<u>് രൂട്ടെ [</u>CSRP^d] ബ<u>്ട്</u> (Dam^a)

They said to him. λέγουσιν αὐτῷ

In the above example, there is no Greek textual variant, and the CPA textual variant is probably stylistic in nature. The Greek $\lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma o \nu \sigma \iota v$, a historical present of $\lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \omega$, is translated in CPA as a Perfect in CSRPd and as a Participle in Dam^a.

3.5. NON-ACTIVE INSTANCES IN GREEK AND CPA

3.5.1. Deponent Verbs

In this section, the instances of non-active Greek Present Indicatives will be discussed. The majority of non-active forms can be considered deponent. Among the instances of regular Greek Present Indicatives with attested CPA translations examined in this chapter, there are at least 74 instances of deponent verbs. Of these, the 42 instances that function as true presents may be listed as follows: ἀποκρίνομαι (Matt. 26:62a; Mark 15:4a); γίνομαι (Mark 2:21c; Luke 11:26d); δέομαι (Luke 9:38a); δέχομαι (Mark 9:37a,b; Luke 9:48a,b); διαλογίζομαι (Mark 2:8a,c; 8:17b); δύναμαι (Matt. 26:42,61; 27:42a; Mark 2:7c,19a,d; 7:15b,18d; 9:3,29; Luke 18:26; John 3:2a,3b; 6:44; 7:34b,36c; 15:4,5c); εἰσέρχομαι (Matt. 23:13b); εἰσπορεύομαι (Mark 7:19a); ἐκπορεύομαι (Mark 7:21; John 15:26); ἐντέλλομαι (John 15:14b); ἐξέρχομαι (Matt. 24:27a); ἔρχομαι (John 7:41b; 12:12,15); πορεύομαι (Luke 11:26a); σπλαγχνίζομαι (Mark 8:2a); φοβέομαι (Matt. 21:26a). Some of these verbs do occur in the active voice outside the New Testament, but are provisionally included here because their non-active forms could easily be understood as active in function by non-Greek speakers.

Most instances of Greek deponent Present Indicative verbs are translated in CPA with participial expressions, either pronoun + Participle or a simple Participle alone. In most cases, they involve an Active Participle. No instance with a Passive Participle is attested in the translation of Greek deponent Present Indicative verbs. In 5 instances Greek deponent verbs are translated in CPA with expressions that include a T-stem Participle. These include 3

instances of διαλογίζομαι translated with pronoun + T-stem Participle of απλαγχνίζομαι translated with pronoun + T-stem Participle of σπλαγχνίζομαι translated with pronoun + T-stem Participle of (Mark 8:2a CSRPe), and 1 instance of γίνομαι translated with a simple T-stem Participle of απλαγχνίζομαι translated with pronoun (Mark 2:21c CCR1). The last instance is interesting, because the translation of γίνομαι is attested in more than one way. Consider the following examples:

Mark 2:21 CCR1

מכוצא מלבבו כיין מן מא מסא

And a tear *is made* worse than it was. καὶ χεῖρον σχίσμα *γίνεται*

Luke 11:26 CSRPc

תאישה לא ביז עה שאיז שאיזי העי<u>פשס</u>

And the last conditions of the man *are* worse than the first. καὶ γίνεται τὰ ἔσχατα τοῦ ἀνθρώπου ἐκείνου χείρονα τῶν πρώτων

In the above examples, γίνομαι is translated in two different ways, with the Itpael Participle of (Mark 2:21 CCR1) and with the Peal Active Participle of com "to be" (Luke 11:26 CSRPc). At least in some contexts, the difference may be a stylistic choice on the part of the translator.

In passing, the 18 instances of δύναμαι expressing present time deserve a brief comment. As can be expected, all instances are translated by some expression containing the verb عدل "to be able." In at least 7 instances Law is a Peal Active Participle, occurring either as part of the expression pronoun + Active Participle (Matt. 26:61 CSRG/O, BL; John 7:34b CSROc; 7:36c CSROc; 15:5c T-Sc) or by itself (Mark 2:19a CCR1; 2:19d CCR1; John 15:4 T-Sc). There is also at least 1 instance of the CPA Imperfect لمنحل (Mark 2:7 CCR1). However, the majority of instances are ambivalent in form. The Peal Active Participle ms can be written either La, which could be confused with the Peal Perfect 3ms مدل (Müller-Kessler 1991: 178, 204, 207), or عمدل, which can only be distinguished from the Imperfect 3ms Like when the diacritical dot is present on the latter (Müller-Kessler 1991: 52, 207). In the case of La (Mark 7:15b CSROe; 7:18d CSROe; 9:3 CSROe; 9:29 CSRPe; Luke 18:26 CSRSc; John 3:2a Sina; 3:3b Sina; 6:44 CSRPc), the analysis as

a Participle is almost certain, since a Perfect would not fit the context. In the case of كماد (Matt. 26:42 CCR1 [cf. CSRPd?]; 27:42a CCR1), these instances are provisionally analyzed as Participles, since they do not have the diacritical dot on the aleph (cf. كماد in Mark 2:7 CCR1).

There are 20 instances of Greek deponent verbs functioning historical presents. They include the following verbs: ἀποκρίνομαι (John 13:26a); εἰσπορεύομαι ἔρχομαι (Matt. 25:11; 26:40a,45a; Mark 2:3,18a; 5:35a,38a; 8:22; 10:1a,46; 11:27a,b; 14:37a,41a; 16:2; John 11:38); παραγίνομαι (Mark 14:43); συμπορεύομαι (Mark 10:1b). Most instances are translated in CPA with a Perfect. However, instances translated with the CPA form KhK could be interpreted either as Perfect or Active Participle (from ἔρχομαι, Mark 8:22a CSROc; 10:1a CSROc; 14:37a CSRPe; 14:41a CSRPe; John 11:38 CSRPd, Dama; from παραγίνομαι, Mark 14:43 CSRPe). Although most morphologically clear instances of this verb are Perfect (e.g., Mark 2:3 CCR1; 5:35 CSROe; 11:27a CSRPe; 11:27b CSRPe; 16:2 CSRPc), at least 2 instances show a CPA textual variant between Perfect and Active Participle, i.e., Mark 2:18a (CCR1 and CSRGd); 10:46 (CSRPc and CSROc).

Mark 2:18

[CCR1] <u>مہرتہ ہ</u>کمحتے [CSRG^d] <u>مہرت</u>ے مہمحتے

And they came and said to him καὶ ἔρχονται καὶ λέγουσιν αὐτῷ

In the above example, the translation of the Greek historical present is divided between a CPA Perfect (CCR1) and an Active Participle (CSRG^d).

There are 11 instances of Greek deponent verbs functioning as futuristic presents, including: γίνομαι (Mark 11:23c); ἔρχομαι (Matt. 24:42,44b; Mark 1:7a; Luke 17:20a,b; 19:13; John 14:28b; 16:2); πορεύομαι (John 14:28c); προσεύχομαι (Mark 11:24b). Most instances are translated by an expression containing an Active Participle, either pronoun + Participle (Mark 1:7a CCR1; Luke 19:13 CSRPc; John 14:28c T-Sc) or a simple Participle alone (Matt. 24:42 CCR1, CSRPd; 24:44b CCR1, CSRPd; Luke 17:20a CSRSc; 17:20b CSRSc; John 14:28b T-Sc; 16:2 CCR8). There are no instances of T-stem or Passive Participles. There is a textual problem

in the Mark 11:24b (see above under the section on futuristic presents). There is also 1 instance of a T-stem Imperfect in the translation of γίνομαι (Mark 11:23c CSRPe).

Mark 11:23 CSRPe

he says *will be done*, all that he says will be so to him.

καὶ μὴ διακριθῆ ἐν τῆ καρδία αὐτοῦ ἀλλὰ πιστεύη ὅτι ὅ λαλεῖ γίνεται, ἔσται αὐτῷ

In the above example, the futuristic present γίνεται is translated by ALPA Itpael Imperfect. The CPA reading seems to follow the Greek majority reading, which adds δ ἐὰν εἴπη at the end of the verse. However, that does not affect the translation of γίνεται.

In addition, there is at least 1 instance of a Greek deponent Present Indicative in indirect discourse (Matt. 24:43 CCR1, CSRPd). It involves the verb ἔρχομαι and it is translated in CPA with an Active Participle. The passage is cited above under the section on special types of Presents.

3.5.2. Non-Deponent Non-Active Verbs

Aside from Greek deponent verbs, there are at least 28 other instances of non-active Present Indicatives with attested CPA translations. Of these, 17 instances function as true presents. All are translated in CPA with some type of participial expression. The majority of instances contain a T-stem Participle, including 7 instances by itself (Matt. 24:27b CSRPd; 26:45e CCR1, CSRPd; Mark 14:41f CSRPe; Luke 2:4 CSROc; 7:22f CSRPg; 10:17 CSROc; 10:20 CSROc) and 3 instances with a pronoun (Mark 5:39b CSROc; Luke 10:21 CSROc; 18:4b CSRS/Pe).

Matt. 26:45 CCR1

محناصة كحباء ملاحصة لاعتدمه المعتدين

And the son of man is handed over into the hand of sinners. καὶ ὁ υίὸς τοῦ ἀνθρώπου παραδίδοται εἰς χεῖρας ἁμαρτωλῶν

In the above example, the Greek non-deponent Present Passive Indicative παραδίδοται, from παραδίδωμι "to hand over, betray," is translated in CPA by κακανί a T-stem Participle.

There are 5 instances where a non-deponent Greek Present Passive Indicative functioning as a true present is translated in CPA with an Active Participle, including 2 instances by itself (Matt. 25:8 CSRPd, CSROe; Luke 7:22e CSRPg) and 2 instances with a pronoun (Mark 12:24 CSRPc; 12:26 CSRPc), as well as 1 instance with a CPA textual variant between the presence and absence of a pronoun (John 15:6c T-Sc, T-Sd; see discussion above).⁴¹

Matt. 25:8 CSROe

مقل معتما […]

[. . .] our lamps *are going out.* ὅτι αἱ λαμπάδες ἡμῶν *σβέννυνται*

In the above example, the Greek σβέννυνται, which is the Present Passive Indicative of σβέννυμι "to extinguish, quench," is translated in CPA with the Peal Active Participle "to be extinguished, go out," which is active in form, but semantically equivalent to the Greek passive form. An example with a pronoun is as follows:

Mark 12:24 CSRPc

الحلايا دور [عملاء] لحتب

Therefore you err. Où δ ià τοῦτο $\pi\lambda\alpha$ ν $\hat{\alpha}$ οθε

In the above example, the Greek passive $πλαν\^ασθε$ is translated by a pronoun + μ a Peal Active Participle from the verb

⁴¹ Two of these instances are orthographically ambivalent, and could be analyzed either as Active or Passive Participles. Both are translations of ἐγείρονται, Present Passive Indicative of ἐγείρω "to raise up," passive "to rise up." In 1 instance the CPA translation occurs with a pronoun, (Mark 12:26 CSRPe) and in the other instance without it, (Luke 7:22e CSRPs). Though the CPA form is ambivalent, since the verb ain the Peal stem, unlike the Greek ἐγείρω, does not mean to "raise up" but "to stand, rise up," there is no reason not to read these instances as Active Participles, "they rise up."

"to err, stray." Though active in form, the latter is semantically equivalent to the Greek passive verb.

There are also 2 instances where a Greek non-deponent Present Passive Indicative functioning as a true present is translated in CPA with a Passive Participle, both of which involve the Greek verb ἀφίημι (Matt. 23:38 CSRO^e; Mark 2:5b CCR1) in performative statements.

Matt. 23:38 CSROe

مع عصم لحم عصل معالم معادد م

Look, your house is left to you desolate. ἰδοὺ ἀφίεται ὑμῖν ὁ οἶκος ὑμῶν ἔρημος

In the example above, the Greek Present Passive Indicative ἀφίεται is translated in CPA with the Passive Participle.

There are 2 instances of historical present Greek verbs that are non-active and not deponent with attested CPA translations. Both are translated with T-stem Perfects (Matt. 2:19 CCR3; 27:38 CCR8).

Matt. 27:38 CCR8

مكسعد مقلك محمد مقلك صحه

Two robbers were crucified with him.

Τότε σταυροῦνται σύν αὐτῷ δύο λησταί

In the above example, the Greek passive historical present is translated by a CPA Itpael Perfect.

There are 8 instances of futuristic present Greek verbs that are non-active and not deponent with attested CPA translations. One of these instances involves a textual variant (Mark 11:24c CSRPe), and is cited above. There are also 4 instances in one passage translated with a T-stem Imperfect (Matt 24:40a CSRPd; 24:40b CSRPd; 24:41a CSRPd; 24:41b CSRPd). The passage was cited earlier in this chapter. There are 3 instances translated with a T-stem Participle (Matt. 26:24b CCR1; Mark 2:22b CCR1; 9:31 CSRPe).

Matt. 26:24 CCR1

בוח ז בבוא מאמשו

The son of man will be handed over. ὁ υἱὸς τοῦ ἀνθρώπου παραδίδοται

In the above example, the Greek παραδίδοται "is handed over, betrayed" is passive in function, and is translated in CPA with the Itpael Participle בארבים.

There is also 1 instance of a non-deponent Greek Present Passive Indicative functioning as a Present in indirect discourse with an attested CPA translation. It is translated by a T-stem Participle (Matt. 2:4 CCR3).

Matt. 2:4 CCR3

Type Kono

He asked when the Messiah would be born. ἐπυνθάνετο παρ' αὐτῶν ποῦ ὁ χριστὸς γεννᾶται

In addition, the 3 instances of the Greek Periphrastic Present with an attested CPA translation are all passive, since the expression contains a Present Passive Participle. They are translated in CPA with an expression that includes a Passive Participle, either accompanied by a personal pronoun (Matt. 1:23 CCR3; 27:33 CCR8) or by itself (Mark 15:22b CSRO^e). See discussion of these instances above.

3.5.3. Active Verbs Translated as Non-Active in CPA

For the sake of completeness, it should be mentioned that there are also a few instances of the Greek Present Active Indicative translated non-actively in CPA. The reason for the non-active translation is usually idiomatic in nature. There are 4 instances of CPA translations with expressions containing a T-stem Participle (Mark 1:27c CCR1; 8:21 CSROc; Luke 18:11a CSRS/Pc; John 11:41 CSRPd, Dam^a).

Mark 8:21 CSROc

صب عد عده لعلا محمدةسل]

How do *you* not yet *understand*? οὔπω συνίετε;

In the above example, the Greek συνίετε, Present Active Indicative from the verb συνίημι "to understand," is translated in CPA with a pronoun + the Itpolal Participle of "to understand." Instead of the reading οὔπω "not yet" in the main text of NA²⁸, the Greek majority text has πῶς οὖ "how not," and other manu-

scripts have $\pi\hat{\omega}\zeta$ οὖπω "how not yet." The CPA translation (ς ο how until now not") seems to follow to the latter. However, that does not affect the translation of the verb.

There may also be 1 possible instance of a Greek Present Active Indicative translated in CPA with an ambiguous form that could be analyzed either as an Active or a Passive Participle (Mark 8:17e CSROc).

Mark 8:17 CSROc

Do you [not] yet know or *understand*? οὖπω νοεῖτε οὐδὲ συνίετε;

In the above example, the Greek συνίετε, Present Active Indicative from the verb συνίημι "to understand," is translated in CPA with [...], which can be interpreted as either an Active or a Passive Participle of ... "to know." In this context, it is probably best to analyze the form as an Active Participle. It is interesting to compare the translation of the same word in Mark 8:21 CSRO^c, cited above.

3.6. SUMMARY

The majority of regular Greek Present Indicatives are translated in CPA by a participial expression, mostly pronoun + Participle but also often by the simple Participle alone. The fact that the pronoun does not always occur in connection with the Participle suggests that it is optional, and can be left out when the subject is clear from the context. This is supported by instances of textual variants involving the presence or absence of the pronoun.

When the Greek Present Indicative expresses the true present, it is mostly translated by pronoun + Participle or the Participle alone. These participial expressions translate general presents and actual presents as well as performative presents. In a couple of instances the CPA Imperfect translates the general present. The Greek Present Indicative is also occasionally translated idiomatically by a nominal sentence.

Greek historical presents are translated in CPA mostly by a Perfect, but also by participal expressions, including pronoun + Participle or a simple Participle alone. There is 1 instance of ram + adjective. There may also be 1 instance of the construction ram

+ Participle. The latter also occurs in the translation of Greek Presents that denote past actions still in progress.

As for the Greek futuristic present, most instances are translated in CPA by a participal expression, either pronoun + Participle or a simple Participle alone. In a minority of instances, the CPA translation consists of an Imperfect.

In addition to Present Indicatives functioning as true presents, historical presents, and futuristic presents, there are also special types of Presents that either have special functions or whose lexical meaning requires separate analysis. Among these, the verb εἰμί functioning as a simple non-auxiliary verb and verbs that can introduce direct speech occurred frequently enough to deserve a brief summary here. The Present Indicative of εἰμί functioning as a simple verb is almost always translated in CPA with a nominal clause. The attested exceptions involve either an idiomatic translation or a textual variant or the possible interpretation as a futuristic present. Most instances are translated with personal pronouns, both in bipartite nominal clauses and more frequently in tripartite nominal clauses. The distinction between bipartite and tripartite clauses generally reflects the presence or absence of an explicit subject in the Greek original. In a few instances, Eiui is translated with the CPA copula by, sometimes accompanied by a pronoun. Instances of εἰμί in negative clauses are usually translated with ملم sometimes accompanied by a pronoun, and in 1 instance with ~ and a pronoun. As for instances of Present Indicative verbs that can introduce direct speech, the majority of them are historical presents. Most of these are ambiguous in form, and can be analyzed either as Participle or Perfect. Most of the unambiguous instances are Participles. Regardless of the analysis, they generally occur without a personal pronoun. In contrast to these, true presents of verbs that can introduce direct speech do not occur as often in the 3rd person singular, and therefore are not ambiguous. Most of these are Participles, and are also usually accompanied by a personal pronoun.

Most instances of non-active Greek Present Indicatives can be considered deponent verbs. Most of these are translated in CPA with active expressions. Passive Participles are not attested in the translation of Greek deponent Present Indicative verbs in the corpus. T-stem Participles occur mostly in idiomatic translations. For Greek non-active verbs that are not deponent, CPA T-stem forms

are much more common. Passive Participles are rarely attested, and are limited to the translation of 2 instances of $\alpha \phi i \eta \mu$ and the 3 instances of Periphrastic Passive Presents.

4. THE CPA TRANSLATION OF THE GREEK FUTURE INDICATIVE

The Greek Future Indicative in most instances expresses the future tense. There are at least 959 instances of the Greek Future Indicative in the corpus, of which 203 instances are attested with CPA translations where the amount of text preserved is sufficient for analysis. As in the case of other Greek tenses, some of these instances are discussed separately in this chapter. These include 4 instances of the Future of the verbs εἰμί and μέλλω functioning as auxiliaries in verbal phrases expressing the future, along with 24 instances of the Future of εἰμί "to be" functioning as a simple non-auxiliary verb. There are also 2 instances of εἰμί that were excluded from this chapter because the word functions as an auxiliary in the Periphrastic Future Perfect expression, which is discussed in chapter seven, section 7.3. On the other hand, since in Greek aspectual distinctions in the future tense are not reflected in the morphology, it is not necessary to separate verbs that introduce direct speech from regular future verbs. Further, there are a number of passages with significant textual variants, which will be mentioned where relevant.

4.1. TRANSLATION OF REGULAR FUTURE INDICATIVES

4.1.1. Translated by CPA Imperfects

As already seen, the CPA Imperfect can be occasionally used in the translation of the Greek Present Indicative. It is much more frequently employed in the translation of the Greek Future Indicative.

In fact, it is the most commonly attested translation of the Greek Future. There are at least 101 instances.⁴²

Mark 1:8 CCR1

I baptized you with water, but he will baptize you with the Holy Spirit.

έγὼ ἐβάπτισα ὑμᾶς ὕδατι, αὐτὸς δὲ *βαπτίσει* ὑμᾶς ἐν πνεύματι ἁγίω

In the above example, the Greek Future βαπτίσει is translated by the CPA Imperfect.

4.1.2. Translated by CPA Pronoun + Participle

There are also many instances where the Greek Future Indicative is translated in CPA with participial expressions. The most frequent

⁴² Matt. 1:21a CCR3; 1:21c CCR3; 1:23c CCR3; 2:6b CCR3; 2:23 CCR3; 21:24a CCR1; 23:12a CCR1, CSROe; 23:12b CCR1, CSROe; 23:12c CCR1, CSROe; 23:12d CSROe; 23:36 CSROe; 24:2 CSROe; 24:5a CSROe; 24:5b CSROe; 24:7a CSROe; 24:9a CSROe; 24:9b CSROe; 24:10a CSROe; 24:10b CSROe; 24:10c CSROe; 24:11a CSRPd; 24:11b CSRPd, CSROe; 24:13 CSRPd, CSROe; 24:14a CSRPd, CSROe; 24:14b CSRPd, CSROe; 24:29a CSRPd; 24:29b CSRPd; 24:29c CSRPd; 24:29d CSRPd; 24:30b CSRPd; 24:30c CSRPd; 24:31b CSRPd; 24:46 CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; 25:1 CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; 26:31c CCR1; 26:53 BL; 26:64 CSRG/Od; 27:4 CSROd, CSRPf; 28:7 CCR1; Mark 1:2 CCR1; 1:8 CCR1; 2:20b CCR1; 8:3 CSRPe; 8:12 CSROc, CSRPe; 9:31b CSRPe; 11:29a CSRPe; 12:40 CSRPc, CSROe; 13:6a CSRPe; 13:22a CSRPe, Dam; 13:22b CSRPe, Dam; 13:24a CSRPe, Dam; 13:24b CSRPe; 13:25b CSRPe, Dam; 13:26 CSRPe, Dam; 13:31a Dam; 16:7 CSRPc; Luke 1:13a CSRPc; 1:13b CSRPc; 1:14b CSRPc; 1:15b CSRPc; 1:18 CSROc; 1:20b CSROc; 1:31c CCR3; 1:32b CCR3; 1:32c CCR3; 1:33a CCR3; 1:35a CCR3; 1:35c CCR3; 1:60 CSROc; 1:76a CSROc; 1:76b CSROc; 9:57 CSRPc; 11:31a CSRPc; 11:32a CSRPc; 11:32b CSRPc; 17:22c CSRSe; 17:23 CSRSe; 17:33b CSRS/Pc; 17:34b CSRS/Pc; 17:35b CSRS/Pc; 17:35c CSRS/Pc; 18:5 CSRS/Pc; 18:8a CSRS/Pc; 18:8b CSRS/Pc; 19:43a Damc; 19:43b Damc; 19:43c Damc; 19:43d Damc; 19:44a Dam^c; 19:44b Dam^c; 20:3 Dam^c; 20:13a CSRO^c; 20:13b CSRO^c; John 6:39 CSRPc; 6:40 CSRPc; 7:34a CSROc; 7:34b CSROc; 11:40 Dama; 13:21 CCR8; 15:20b CCR8; 16:2 CCR8.

occurring of these is the expression pronoun + Participle, of which there are at least 26 instances where both words are clearly legible in at least one manuscript (Matt. 21:24b CCR1; 21:25 CCR1; 21:37 CCR1; 21:40 CCR1; 24:31a CSRPd; 24:50 CSRPd, CSROe; 26:31a CCR1; 26:31b CCR1; Mark 4:13 CSROe; 11:2 CSROe; 11:29b CSRPe; 11:31 CSRPe; 13:27a CSRPe, Dam; 13:27b CSRPe, Dam; Luke 1:31a CCR3, Damb; 1:31b CCR3; 9:41b CSRSe; 20:5 Dame; John 7:35 CSROe; 13:26b CCR8; 14:16a T-Sb; 14:16b T-Sb; 15:10 T-Se; 15:26b CCR8; 16:7b CCR8; 16:8 CCR8) and 3 instances where the pronoun is not legible but can be reasonably restored (Luke 17:21 CSRSe; John 6:37 CSRPe; 7:36b CSROe).43

Matt. 21:40 CCR1

عد در المالك مورس المورض مدي مورد المورد ال

Then when the owner of the vineyard comes, what will he do to those farmers?

όταν οὖν ἔλθη ὁ κύριος τοῦ ἀμπελῶνος, τί ποιήσει τοῖς γεωργοῖς ἐκείνοις;

In the above example, as in many other instances, it is possible that the CPA expression pronoun + Participle, and, does not actually express the future, but that the future notion is based on the context, i.e., when he comes/will come." Nevertheless, as will be discussed below, it is undeniable that the CPA Participle can be employed in future contexts (see also Schulthess 1924: 87).

4.1.3. Translated by CPA Participles

In at least 22 instances, the Greek Future Indicative is translated in CPA by a simple Participle without a pronoun (Matt. 1:23a CCR3; 1:23b CCR3; 2:6a CCR3; 18:19 CSRPe; 24:22 CSRPd; 26:52 BL; Mark 2:20a CCR1; 8:4 CSRPe; 9:31a CSRPe; 9:39a CSROc, CSRPe; 9:39b CSROc, CSRPe; 9:49 CSROc; 16:3 CSRPc; Luke 11:29 CSRPc; 17:22a CSRSe; 17:37 CSRS/Pe; 20:6 Dame; John 7:38 CSROc;

⁴³ Some of these instances also have a pronoun in Greek (e.g., Matt. 21:24b). This list includes 5 instances of a second Participle following a single pronoun (Mark 13:27b; Luke 1:31b; 9:41b; John 13:26b; 16:8).

11:48b Dame; 11:48c Dame; 15:7 T-Se; 15:20a CCR8). It could be argued that the CPA translator took the liberty to render the Greek Future in some of these instances as if it were a general present (e.g., Matt. 26:52; Mark 2:20a; 9:39a,b; Luke 17:22a). For example:

Mark 9:39 CSRPe

For there is no one who *does* a miracle in my name who *can* quickly speak evil against me

οὐδεὶς γάρ ἐστιν ὃς ποιήσει δύναμιν ἐπὶ τῷ ὀνόματί μου καὶ δυνήσεται ταχὺ κακολογῆσαί με

Although it is possible to analyze the instances in the above example as CPA general presents, in many other instances, the future meaning is not in doubt. In fact, often there seems to be no difference in meaning between instances of the Greek Future translated by the CPA Imperfect and the Participle. That they can be interchangeable in some contexts is demonstrated by instances where both CPA forms are employed to translate more than one instance of the Greek Future in the same verse.

Mark 9:31 CSRPe

مقطلع لم: محر ومطوط دلانه الملقاء تمحم مممر

And they will kill him. And, once he is killed, after three days he will rise.

καὶ ἀποκτενοῦσιν αὐτόν, καὶ ἀποκτανθεὶς μετὰ τρεῖς ἡμέρας ἀναστήσεται

As can be seen in the above example, two Greek Futures in the same verse can be translated in CPA by a Participle (عمرة) and an Imperfect (عمرة) with no apparent difference in meaning (see also Matt. 2:6 CCR3; John 15:20 CCR8; etc.).

4.1.4. Translated by CPA Imperfect of <a>o + Participle

In 1 instance, the Greek Future is translated in CPA as the Imperfect of mailto:room + Participle (Luke 17:22b CSRS^e).

Luke 17:22 CSRSe

מא הובן אלי בלמחם בלשבר [,] בי (,] מה נכוח היו הבינה לא לעוצה בליום אינים אינ

The days will come *when you will desire* to see one of the days of the son of man and will not see it.

Έλεύσονται ήμέραι ὅτε ἐπιθυμήσετε μίαν τῶν ήμερῶν τοῦ υίοῦ τοῦ ἀνθρώπου ἰδεῖν καὶ οὐκ ὄψεσθε.

Since the above example is the only attested instance in the corpus of the Greek Future translated into CPA as Imperfect of Kom + Participle, no further discussion of this construction is warranted.

4.1.5. Translated by CPA Passive Participles

There is at least 1 instance where the Greek Future is translated in CPA by a Passive Participle (Luke 1:37 CCR3).

Luke 1:37 CCR3

:Kla Jas Kalk gal Kra Kli

For nothing is too difficult with God.

ότι οὐκ ἀδυνατήσει παρὰ τοῦ θεοῦ πᾶν ἡῆμα

In the above example, the Greek verb ἀδυνατέω "to be unable, to be impossible" is translated in CPA as κικρ, which is the Peal Passive Participle fs of στο "to be hard." However, in this context, an adjectival meaning, e.g., "hard, difficult" seems more fitting than a resultative one, e.g., "hardened, made difficult," and this instance could be considered a nominal sentence.

4.1.6. Instances with Textual Variants

The fact that the Imperfect and the Participle overlap in the expression of the future tense is further demonstrated by at least 4 instances where the CPA translation involves a textual variant where some witnesses have an Imperfect (Matt. 24:12 CSRO°; 24:47 CSRPd, CSRO°; 24:51a CSRPd, CSRO°; 24:51b CSRPd, CSRO°) and others a simple Participle (Matt. 24:12 CSRPd; 24:51a CCR1) or pronoun + Participle (Matt. 24:47 CCR1; 24:51b CCR1).

It must also be mentioned that at least 15 instances may not be valid for the study of the CPA translation of the Greek Future Indicative because of textual variants in the Greek original. Of these, 4 instances have a CPA Imperfect, including 3 instances where the majority of Greek manuscripts have an Aorist Subjunctive (Mark 6:37 CSROe; 13:31b Dam; John 6:35 CSRPe) and 1 instance where a few manuscripts have an Aorist Subjunctive and others a Present Indicative instead of a Future Indicative (John 16:3 CCR8).

There are 5 instances of the CPA expression pronoun + Participle, including 1 instance where the Greek majority reading has a Present Indicative (Mark 2:22 CCR1), 1 instance where the majority reading has an Aorist Participle (John 13:26a CCR8), 2 instances where some of the witnesses have an Aorist Subjunctive and others a Present Indicative (Matt. 27:42 CCR1; John 15:21 CCR8), and 1 instance where a few manuscripts have a Present Indicative (John 15:26a CCR8).

There are 4 instances of the CPA Participle by itself, including 2 instances where the Greek majority reading has an Aorist Participle (Matt. 18:12 CSRPe; Luke 10:15a CSROe), 1 instance where a few manuscripts have an Aorist Subjunctive (John 16:7a CCR8), and 1 instance where some manuscripts have an Aorist Subjunctive and others a Present Indicative (John 11:48a Dame).⁴⁴

In 1 instance, since the majority reading has the Aorist ἐπεσκέψατο instead of the Future ἐπισκέψεται, it is probable that the translation και (Luke 1:78 CSROc) is actually a CPA Perfect translating a Greek Aorist Indicative.

There is also 1 instance of a CPA Imperative, which is probably a translation of the Greek majority reading, which has an Aorist Imperative, though it is worth mentioning that a few manuscripts have an Aorist Subjunctive (John 14:15 T-S^b).

4.2. Translation of Special Types of Greek Futures

This section deals with the CPA translation of special types of Greek Futures. These include instances of the Periphrastic Future, consisting of the Future of $\varepsilon l \mu l$ and a Present Participle, instances of verbal phrases expressing the future with the auxiliary $\mu \dot{\epsilon} \lambda \lambda \omega$, and instances of the Future Indicative of $\varepsilon l \mu l$ functioning as a simple non-auxiliary verb.

⁴⁴ Since the verse in Luke 10:15 CSRO^c begins with war, the instance in Luke 10:15a could possibly also be classified as pronoun + Participle.

4.2.1. Periphrastic Future

There are 3 instances of the Greek Periphrastic Future, consisting of the Future Indicative of ɛiui and a Present Participle, with attested CPA translations. As can be expected, all are translated by a form of the verb row "to be" followed by a Participle. However, in 1 instance the verb "to be" is rendered as the Imperfect of row (Mark 13:25a CSRPe, Dam), and in 2 instances by pronoun + Participle of row (Matt. 24:9c CSROe; Luke 1:20a CSROe). No difference in meaning could be detected, though the instances are too few for significant comparisons.

Luke 1:20 CSROc

<u>abar Kon ak</u> Kon

And look, you will be silent. καὶ ἰδοὺ ἔση σιωπῶν

In the above example, the auxiliary ἔση, the 2 sg. Future Indicative of εἰμί, is translated in CPA with the expression pronoun + Participle, ≺οσ ৯≺. Thus, the translation of the Greek Periphrastic Future lends further evidence to the semantic overlap between the CPA Imperfect and the Participle.

4.2.2. Future Verb Phrases with μέλλω

Similar to the Periphrastic Future, the future tense in Greek can also be expressed by μέλλω + Present Infinitive. There is 1 instance of a Future of μέλλω + Infinitive with an attested CPA translation (Matt. 24:6 CSROe). It is translated by a phrase containing the Aramaic auxiliary ωωω.

Matt. 24:6 CSROe

And you are going to hear of wars and reports of wars

Απολήσετε δὲ ἀκούειν πολέμους καὶ ἀκοὰς πολέμων

In the above example, the Greek Future Indicative of μέλλω and the Present Infinitive of ἀκούω form a verbal phrase expressing future time. The phrase is translated in CPA by the phrase + (+ pronoun) followed by + 1 Imperfect.

In this context, one should also mention 2 instances of the Present of $\mu \acute{\epsilon} \lambda \lambda \omega$ + Infinitive with attested CPA translations (Luke

9:44 CSROc, CSRSc; 19:11 CSRPc) and 1 instance of the Imperfect of μέλλω + Infinitive (Luke 19:4 CSRPc).

Luke 9:44 CSRSe

For the Son of Man is going to be delivered into the hands of men. ὁ γὰρ υίὸς τοῦ ἀνθρώπου μέλλει παραδίδοσθαι εἰς χεῖρας ἀνθρώπων

Luke 19:4 CSRPc

المحلدة المحافظة المحددة

For he was going to pass through that way. ὅτι ἐκείνης ἤμελλεν διέρχεσθαι

The first of the above examples contains a verbal phrase that expresses the future, consisting of the Present of μέλλω + Present Infinitive. The last of example contains a verbal phrase that expresses the past time relative future, consisting of the Imperfect of μέλλω + Present Infinitive. The first is translated in CPA with the phrase عطعة followed by a + Imperfect, whereas the latter with אסה followed by a + Imperfect. Thus מאב א a past time marker when attached to حطعة. Both of these examples can be compared with the previous example, the Future of μέλλω + Present Infinitive, which presumably expresses the future of the future, i.e., "will be going to" vs. "is going to" or "was going to," but the difference between the employment of the Present or Future of μέλλω does not appear to be semantically significant. In all these examples, μέλλω is consistently translated with a form of the CPA auxiliary حمادة, and the Greek Infinitive is translated by a + Imperfect.45

4.2.3. Future Indicative of εἰμί as a Simple Verb

There are 24 instances of the Greek Future Indicative of ɛlul "to be" functioning as a simple non-auxiliary verb with attested CPA translations. These may be further classified as follows.

4.2.3.1. εἰμί with a Noun Phrase Predicate

In possibly 8 instances the Future Indicative of ɛlul functioning as a simple verb is accompanied by a noun phrase predicate whose head is either a noun or a pronoun. Of these, there are 3 instances where ɛlul occurs with two noun phrases, a subject and a predicate. They are translated in CPA with the Imperfect of rom linking the subject and the predicate (Matt. 23:11 CCR1, CSRO°; Mark 10:44 CSRO°; 13:19 CSRP°).

Matt. 23:11 CCR1

زمعته بخصه مص رمعة

As for your greatest one, he will be your servant. ὁ δὲ μείζων ὑμῶν ἔσται ὑμῶν διάκονος

In the above example, the Greek Future copula ἔσται is translated in CPA with the Imperfect κα.

In 2 of the instances, $\varepsilon l \mu l$ occurs with a single noun phrase and functions as the future tense of a verb of existence, "there will be." These instances are provisionally included here under instances of $\varepsilon l \mu l$ with a noun phrase predicate. However, if the noun phrase in these instances is analyzed as the subject, they should be classified as instances of $\varepsilon l \mu l$ without an expressed predicate. In both instances $\varepsilon l \mu l$ is translated in CPA with the Imperfect of κ on (Matt. 24:21 CSRPd; Luke 1:33b CCR3).

Luke 1:33 CCR3

هامعلیماه معمد بنا مهرمایماه

And for his kingdom there will be no end. καὶ τῆς βασιλείας αὐτοῦ οὐκ ἔσται τέλος

In the above example, the Greek Future ἔσται is translated in CPA with the Imperfect και. The CPA translation in the above example could also alternatively be analyzed as a possessive construction, i.e., "his kingdom will have no end." However, in this context it is best understood not as a possessive, but as reflecting the translator's need to make a choice between preserving the Greek word

order or the genitive construction, which would have required a change in the word order in Aramaic.

Additionally, in at least 3 of the instances εἰμί occurs with a prepositionless dative noun phrase whose function is similar to that of a prepositional phrase. The noun phrase in these instances is translated in CPA with a prepositional phrase. The verb εἰμί is translated in CPA with the Imperfect of ເວດ in 2 of the instances (Mark 11:23 CSRPe; Luke 11:30 CSRPe) and with the T-stem Participle of the verb عدد "to do" in 1 instance (Mark 11:24 CSRPe).

Mark 11:23 CSRPe

ور المحمد المان علمانية ويالم المحمد المحمد المحمد المان عمل المان الما

Whoever says to this mountain, "Be taken up and thrown into the sea," and does not doubt in his heart, but believes that what he says will be done, whatever he says *will happen* for him.

ος αν εἴπη τῷ ὄρει τούτῳ• ἄρθητι καὶ βλήθητι εἰς τὴν θάλασσαν, καὶ μὴ διακριθῆ ἐν τῆ καρδία αὐτοῦ ἀλλὰ πιστεύη ὅτι ος λαλεῖ γίνεται, ἔσται αὐτῷ

Mark 11:24 CSRPe

In the above examples, the Greek Future ἔσται is translated in CPA in two different ways in adjacent verses in the same manuscript. In v. 23 it is translated with the Imperfect κα, and in v. 24 with the T-stem Participle Hence, the choice appears to be stylistic in this context.

4.2.3.2. εἰμί with an Adjectival Predicate

In 5 instances the Future Indicative of εἰμί functioning as a simple verb is accompanied by an adjectival predicate. Of these, 4 of the instances are translated in CPA with the Imperfect of κοω (Mark 9:35 CSRPe; Luke 1:15a CSRPe; 1:32a CCR3; 10:14 CSROe).

Luke 1:15 CSRPc

בו וב שונק מוא:

For he will be great before the Lord.

έσται γὰρ μέγας ἐνώπιον τοῦ κυρίου

In the above example, the Future Indicative copula ἔσται accompanied by an adjectival predicate is translated in CPA as in the majority of instances, with the Imperfect κα, "he will be."

There is also 1 instance where it is translated with a personal pronoun in a nominal clause (Luke 11:36 CSRPc).

Luke 11:36 CSRPc

താ എപ്പ് ഹിത

It is entirely illuminated. ἔσται φωτεινὸν ὅλον

In the above example, the Future Indicative copula ἔσται is translated in CPA not with a form of ≺οπ, but with a personal pronoun οπ, which, in turn, could be analyzed as the clause subject.

4.2.3.3. εἰμί with an Adverbial Predicate

In 2 instances the Future Indicative of $\varepsilon l \mu l$ is accompanied by a predicate adverb. As in previous chapters, the list of predicate adverbs is provisionally limited to those adverbs that express location, time, or manner as sentence predicates, and excludes adverbial conjunctions and adverbial complements that are not part of the clause nucleus. In 1 instance $\varepsilon l \mu l$ is translated in CPA with the Participle of $\prec \alpha m$ (Luke 1:34 CCR3).

Luke 1:34 CCR3

ス3の 7 <u>べ0の</u> ぐの

How will this happen to me? Πῶς ἔσται τοῦτο

Matt. 24:51

(CCR1) هجه المتعدد ال

In that place there will be weeping and gnashing of teeth. ἐκεῖ ἔσται ὁ κλαυθμὸς καὶ ὁ βρυγμὸς τῶν ὀδόντων

In the above example, there are no Greek variants. Thus, it is possible that the difference in the CPA manuscripts is stylistic in nature. The Greek Future ἔσται is translated in CPA as κω, an Imperfect, by two of the witnesses (CCR1, CSRPd) and as κωω by one witness (CSROc). Although the latter form can be analyzed as either a Participle or a Perfect, it is more likely a Participle, since the Perfect does not seem to fit in the context.

4.2.3.4. εἰμί with a Prepositional Phrase Predicate

In at least 6 instances the Future Indicative of εἰμί is accompanied by a predicate that consists of a prepositional phrase. Since, prepositional phrases often have an adverbial function, this category can also be considered a subset of the previous one. In 5 instances εἰμί is translated in CPA by the Imperfect of ເພດ (Matt. 24:7b CSROe; 24:40 CSRPd; Luke 17:24 CSRSe; 17:26 CSRSe; 17:34a CSRS/Pe), and in the other instance it is translated with the expression pronoun + Participle of κοω (Luke 9:41a CSROc, CSRSe).

Luke 9:41 CSRSe

2. Noch, Nin wood Koker , oscart sero

How long will I be with you and endure you? ἕως πότε ἔσομαι πρὸς ὑμᾶς καὶ ἀνέξομαι ὑμῶν;

In the above instance, the Greek Future ἔσομαι is translated in CPA with the expression pronoun + Participle, καω κικ. It is interesting to note that the pronoun possibly serves as a personal marker for two Participles, Δωνα...καω κικ. The use of the expression pronoun + Participle can be explained as due to the fact that the verb denotes not only a future state, but a present state that continues into the future. However, it is clear from the remainder of this study that participial expressions can also have a future function.

4.2.3.5. εἰμί without an Expressed Predicate

In at least 2 instances ɛἰμί functioning as a simple verb occurs without an expressed predicate, since the noun phrase accompanying εἰμί must be understood as the subject rather than the predicate. Both instances occur in the same context, are similar in word-

ing, and both are translated in CPA with the Imperfect of com (Matt. 24:27 CSRPd; 24:39 CSRPd).

Matt. 24:27 CSRPd

mar , dan x cerposta rein r Lein:

So will be the coming of the Son of Man. οὕτως ἔσται ἡ παρουσία τοῦ υἱοῦ τοῦ ἀνθρώπου

In the above example the Greek Future Indicative ἔσται is translated by the CPA Imperfect κωλ.

4.2.3.6. ะในใ in Possessive Expressions

In 1 instance the expression $\varepsilon l\mu l$ + dative expresses possession. It is translated in CPA by the equivalent possessive expression (Luke 1:14a CSRP^c).

Luke 1:14a CSRPc

: Kamia Kam W Kma

And you will have joy and gladness. καὶ ἔσται χαρά σοι καὶ ἀγαλλίασις

In the above example, the Greek Future $\xi \sigma \tau \alpha \iota + \text{dative}$ is translated with the equivalent CPA possessive expression, $-\Delta \kappa \sigma$, consisting of the Imperfect of $\kappa \sigma \sigma + \Delta$ of possession.

4.3. Non-Active Instances in Greek and CPA

4.3.1. Deponent Verbs

In this section, the instances of non-active Greek Future Indicatives will be discussed. Among the instances of regular Greek Future Indicatives with attested CPA translations examined in this chapter, there are at least 30 instances of deponent verbs. 46 They include the following verbs: ἀνέχομαι (Luke 9:41b); γίνομαι (Matt. 18:19; John 15:7); γινώσκω/γνώσομαι (Mark 4:13; Luke 1:18); δύναμαι (Mark 8:4; 9:39b); ἐξέρχομαι (Matt. 2:6a);

⁴⁶ In addition, 2 other possible instances of deponent Future Indicatives were excluded from this discussion due to textual issues in the Greek Vorlage: πισκέπτομαι (Luke 1:78) and παρέρχομαι (Mark 13:31b).

ἔπέρχομαι (Luke 1:35a); ἔρχομαι (Matt. 24:5a; Mark 2:20a; 13:6a; Luke 17:22a; John 11:48b; 15:7); λαμβάνω/λήμψομαι (Mark 12:40); ὁράω/ὄψομαι (Matt. 24:30c; 26:64; 27:4; 28:7; Mark 13:26; 16:7; Luke 17:22c; John 11:40); παρέρχομαι (Mark 13:31a); πίπτω/πεσοῦμαι (Matt. 24:29c); προπορεύομαι (Luke 1:76b); συλλαμβάνω/συλλήμψομαι (Luke 1:31a); τίκτω/τέξομαι (Matt. 1:21a,23b; Luke 1:31b); χαίρω/χαρήσομαι (Luke 1:14b).⁴⁷

Most of the deponent Greek Future Indicatives are translated with CPA active forms. In 17 instances, a CPA active stem Imperfect is employed (Matt. 1:21a CCR3; 24:5a CSROe; 24:30c CSRPd; 26:64 CSRG/Od; 27:4 CSROd, CSRPf; 28:7 CCR1; Mark 12:40 CSRPc, CSROe; 13:6a CSRPc; 13:26 CSRPe, Dam; 13:31a Dam; 16:7 CSRPc; Luke 1:14b CSRPc; 1:18 CSROe; 1:35a CCR3; 1:76b CSROe; 17:22c CSRSe; John 11:40 Dama). A few instances are translated with a CPA Active Participle, either by itself (Matt. 1:23b CCR3; 2:6a CCR3; Mark 2:20a CCR1; 8:4 CSRPe; 9:39b CSROc, CSRPe; Luke 17:22a CSRSe; John 11:48b Dame) or with a pronoun (Mark 4:13 CSROc; Luke 1:31a CCR3, Damb; 1:31b CCR3; 9:41b CSRSe). There are no instances of Passive Participles. There are only 2 instances of a T-stem Participle, both of which are translations of the Greek verb γίνομαι (Matt. 18:19 CSRPe; John 15:7 T-Se).

John 15:7 T-Sc

مامع دار ت ا محملات محمد الت عام معملات محمد [...]

Ask what you wish and it will be done [. . .] δ ἐὰν θέλητε αἰτήσασθε, καὶ γενήσεται ὑμῖν

In the above example, the Future Indicative γενήσεται is translated idiomatically in CPA by the Itpael Participle משלבים "it is/will

⁴⁷ The verb ὁράω "to see" does not occur as a Future Active Indicative. Instead, the deponent Future Middle Indicative ὄψομαι, formed from a different root, functions as the Future of ὁράω. Similarly, the Future of γινώσκω "to know" is the Middle γνώσομαι, the Future of λαμβάνω "to take" is the Middle λήμψομαι, the Future of πίπτω "to fall" is the Middle πεσοῦμαι, the Future of συλλαμβάνω "to conceive" is the Middle συλλήμψομαι, the Future of τίκτω "to give birth" is the Middle τέξομαι, and the Future of χαίρω "to rejoice" is the Middle/Passive χαρήσομαι.

be done." For what it is worth, it is also interesting that $\Delta \ddot{\alpha} \mathbf{z}$ in the above passage translates the Aorist Imperative $\alpha i \tau \dot{\eta} \sigma \alpha \sigma \theta \epsilon$ "ask," as in the manuscripts followed by the main text of NA²⁸, rather than the Greek majority reading, which has a Future Indicative $\alpha i \tau \dot{\eta} \sigma \epsilon \sigma \theta \epsilon$ "you will ask."

4.3.2. Non-Deponent Non-Active Verbs

Aside from Greek deponent verbs, there are at least 39 other instances of non-active Future Indicatives with attested CPA translations. These instances are translated in CPA either with T-stem forms or idiomatically with active forms. There are 23 instances translated with T-stem Imperfects (Matt. 2:23 CCR3; 23:12b CCR1, CSROe; 23:12d CSROe; 24:2 CSROe; 24:10a CSROe; 24:14a CSRPd, CSROe; 24:29d CSRPd; 24:30b CSRPd; 25:1 CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; 26:31a CCR1; 26:31c CCR1; Mark 8:12 CSROc, CSRPe; 13:25b CSRPe, Dam; Luke 1:15b CSRPc; 1:20b CSROc; 1:32b CCR3; 1:35c CCR3; 1:60 CSROc; 1:76a CSROc; 17:34b CSRS/Pc; 17:35b CSRS/Pc; 17:35c CSRS/Pc; 20:13b CSROc).

Matt. 2:23 CCR3

بريه والمعترية

He will be called a Nazarene. ὅτι Ναζωραῖος κληθήσεται

In the above example, the Greek Future Passive Indicative κληθήσεται is translated in CPA with the Itpael Imperfect "he will be called." Thus, the CPA T-stem is employed to express a passive notion.

Instances of CPA active translations of non-active non-deponent Greek Future Indicative verbs are generally idiomatic in nature. They include at least 10 instances of CPA active stem Imperfects (Matt. 24:7a CSROe; 24:11a CSRPd; 24:13 CSRPd; 24:29a CSRPd; 24:29c CSRPd; Mark 8:3 CSRPe; 9:31b CSRPe; 13:22a CSRPe, Dam; 13:24a CSRPe, Dam; Luke 11:31a CSRPc; 11:32a CSRPc) and 5 instances with an Active Participle, either by itself

 $^{^{48}}$ In addition, 1 instance of the Future Passive Indicative of ὑψόω (Luke 10:15a) was excluded from this discussion due to textual variants in the Greek text.

(Matt. 24:22 CSRPd; Mark 9:49 CSROc; Luke 11:29 CSRPc; 17:37 CSRS/Pc) or with a pronoun (Matt. 21:37 CCR1). There is also 1 instance where the CPA witnesses disagree between an Active Participle and an Imperfect (Matt. 24:12 CSRPd, CSROc).

Luke 11:31 CSRPc

تد[رجه] تتنه[مجه] بومعة

The queen of the south will rise up βασίλισσα νότου ἐγερθήσεται

In the above example, the Greek ἐγερθήσεται, Future Passive Indicative of ἐγείρω "to raise up," is translated idiomatically in CPA with the Peal Imperfect, hand, from μοσ "to stand, rise up."

There is also 1 instance of a Greek Periphrastic Passive Future with an attested CPA translation, which is translated by pronoun + Participle of Kom + T-stem Participle (Matt. 24:9c CSROe).

Matt. 24:9 CSROe

معمد مرامع المعتمد معدد:

And you will be hated by all nations because of my name. καὶ ἔσεσθε μισούμενοι ὑπὸ πάντων τῶν ἐθνῶν διὰ τὸ ὄνομά μου

In the above example, the Greek Periphrastic Passive Future ἔσεσθε μισούμενοι includes a Present Passive Participle. The Greek verb "to be" in this phrase is translated in CPA with pronoun + Participle of κοσ, as seen in previous examples. The Greek Present Passive Participle μισούμενοι is translated with the Itpael Participle. Thus, here is another example of the CPA T-stem employed to render a passive notion.

There are no attested instances of Greek non-deponent non-active Future Indicative verbs translated with CPA T-stem Participles or Passive Participles.

4.3.3. Active Verbs Translated as Non-Active in CPA

For the sake of completeness, it should be mentioned that there is 1 instance of the Greek Future Active Indicative with a CPA textual variant between an Active and a T-stem Imperfect (Mark 13:22b CSRPe, Dam).

Mark 13:22

[CSRPe] <u>دحتدہ</u> م جامحے:

[Dam] ميلا[حقدم تمالم,]، ه كده

who will do signs and wonders [CSRPe] / and signs and wonders will be done [Dam] καὶ δώσουσιν σημεῖα καὶ τέρατα

Although the Greek δώσουσιν, from δίδωμι "to give," in the above example has a textual variant (a few manuscripts have ποιήσουσιν, from ποιέω "to do"), both forms are Future Active Indicative. The CPA witnesses disagree between the Active (Peal) and the T-stem (Itpael) Imperfect of "to do, make." The differences are not due to the Greek textual variants, and can be, therefore, ascribed to stylistic variation.

4.4. SUMMARY

In summary, the Greek Future Indicative is translated mostly by a CPA Imperfect. There are also many instances where a participial expression is employed, mostly pronoun + Participle, but also the simple Participle alone, and in 1 instance a Passive Participle. Although the future function of participial expressions may be contextually based rather than inherent in the Participle itself, CPA textual variants support the fact that the Imperfect and the Participle overlap in the expression of future time. This overlap is also reflected in the translation of Greek Periphrastic Futures, where the auxiliary εἰμί is translated by the CPA auxiliary κοω either as Imperfect or as pronoun + Participle. As for the Future Indicative of εἰμί functioning as a simple non-auxiliary verb, it is translated in CPA mostly with the Imperfect of Koon, but in at least 2 instances with a simple Participle, and once with the expression pronoun + Participle. There is also an instance of a textual variant between the Imperfect and the Participle of κοω. The translation of εἰμί seems unaffected by the various syntactic constructions with which it occurs. Thus, the translation of the Future of Eiui as a simple verb seems to be similar to the translation of other Greek Futures.

Unlike the situation with the Greek Imperfect and the Present Indicative, the majority of non-active Greek Future Indicative verbs are non-deponent. Deponent instances are mostly translated actively in CPA, except for infrequent idiomatic instances of T-stem forms. Non-deponent non-active instances are more often translated with T-stem forms. Some non-deponent non-active instances are idiomatically translated in CPA with active forms. There

114 GREEK INDICATIVE VERBS IN THE CPA GOSPELS

are no attested instances of non-active Greek Future Indicative verbs translated with CPA Passive Participles.

5. THE CPA TRANSLATION OF THE GREEK AORIST INDICATIVE

The Greek Aorist Indicative in most instances expresses a simple past tense. There are at least 3407 instances of the Greek Aorist Indicative in the corpus, of which at least 685 instances are attested with CPA translations where the amount of text preserved is sufficient for analysis. Although the Greek Aorist Indicative can express notions other than a simple past, which traditional Greek grammars call gnomic, dramatic, futuristic, etc., these do not occur in sufficient numbers to justify treating them as separate sections of this chapter. Instead, they will be discussed on a case by case basis where the CPA translation significantly departs from the translation of the Aorist expressing the simple past. Nevertheless, some verbs do require separate analysis because of their lexical meaning. These include 1 instance of ἔχω "to have" expressing possession and 149 instances of the verbs λέγω, λαλέω, φημί, and ἐρωτάω/ἐπερωτάω. Textual variants will also be discussed where relevant.

5.1. TRANSLATION OF REGULAR GREEK AORIST INDICATIVES

5.1.1. Translated by CPA Perfects

Of the remaining 535 instances of Greek Aorist Indicatives, the majority are translated by CPA Perfects and do not need to be discussed here. These include at least 372 instances where the orthography is clear.⁴⁹ In addition, there are also 136 instances of ambigu-

⁴⁹ Matt. 1:18 CCR3; 1:19 CCR3; 1:20 CCR3; 1:25a CCR3; 2:1 CCR3; 2:2a CCR3; 2:2b CCR3; 2:3 CCR3; 2:7 CCR3; 14:6a Sin^a; 14:7 Sin^a; 14:9

Sin^a; 14:10 Sin^a; 14:11a Sin^a; 14:11b Sin^a; 14:11c Sin^a; 14:12a Sin^a; 14:12b Sin^a; 14:12c Sin^a; 18:15 CSRP^e; 21:25 CCR1; 21:32b CCR1; 21:32c CCR1; 21:32d CCR1; 21:33b CCR1; 21:35a CCR1; 21:36b CCR1; 21:39a CCR1; 21:39b CCR1; 22:46 CCR1; 23:2 CCR1; 23:23 CCR1; 23:35 CSROe; 23:37a CSROe; 23:37b CSROe; 24:3 CSROe; 24:22b CSRPd; 25:3 CCR1, CSRPd; 25:4 CCR1, CSRPd; 25:5 CSRPd, CSROe; 25:7a CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; 25:7b CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; 25:9 CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; 25:10b CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; 25:10c CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; 26:24 CCR1; 26:26a CCR1; 26:37 CSRPd; 26:40 CSRPd; 26:42 CCR1, CSRPd; 26:43 CCR1, CSRPd; 26:44 CCR1, CSRPd; 26:49b CSRPd, BL; 26:50b CSRPd, BL; 26:50c BL; 26:51b BL; 26:55b BL; 26:55c BL; 26:57a BL; 26:57b BL; 26:65b CSRG/Od; 26:65c CSRG/Od; 26:67a CSRG/Od; 26:67b CSRG/Od; 26:67c CSRG/Od; 26:69 CSRG/Od; 26:71 CSRG/Od; 26:74a CSROd; 26:75a CSROd; 27:1 CSROd; 27:2a CSROd; 27:2b CSROd; 27:3a CSROd; 27:3b CSROd, CSRPf; 27:4a CSROd, CSRPf; 27:5b CSROd, CSRPf; 27:7 CSROd, CSRPf; 27:8 CSROd, CSROe, CSRPf; 27:9a CSROd, CSROe, CSRPf; 27:9b CCR1, CSROd, CSROe, CSRPf; 27:9c CCR1, CSROd, CSROe, CSRPf; 27:10a CCR1, CSROd, CSRPf; 27:10b CCR1, CSROe, CSRPf; 27:11a CCR1, CSROe, CSRPf; 27:12 CCR1, CSROe, CSRPf; 27:14 CCR1, CSROe; 27:18 CCR1, CSROe; 27:19a CSROe; 27:19b CSRO^e; 27:20 CSRO^e; 27:27 CCR8; 27:28 CCR8; 27:29a CCR8; 27:30 CCR8; 27:31a CCR8; 27:31b CCR8; 27:31c CCR8; 27:31d CCR8; 27:32a CCR8; 27:32b CCR8; 27:34a CCR8; 27:35 CCR8; 27:37 CCR8; 27:42 CCR1; 27:46a CCR1; 27:46b CCR1; 27:66 CCR1; 28:1 CCR1; 28:2a CCR1; 28:4b CCR1; 28:6a CCR1; 28:7a CCR1; 28:9a CCR1; 28:9b CCR1; 28:9c CCR1; Mark 1:8 CCR1; 1:9c CCR1; 1:20b CCR1; 1:23 CCR1; 1:24 CCR1; 1:26 CCR1; 1:27 CCR1; 2:4 CCR1; 2:23b CCR1, CSRGd; 5:27 CSROe; 5:33a CSROe; 5:33b CSROe; 5:35 CSROe; 6:39 CSROe; 6:41a CSROe; 6:41c CSROe; 6:42a CSROe; 6:42b CSROe; 6:43 CSROe; 6:49a CSROe; 6:49b CSROe; 7:17 CSROe; 8:4 CSRPe; 8:6b CSRPe; 8:8a CSROc, CSRPe; 8:8b CSROc, CSRPe; 8:8c CSROc, CSRPe; 8:11a CSRPe; 8:11b CSRPe; 8:14 CSROc, CSRPe; 8:19b CSROc; 8:20 CSROc; 9:2 CSROe; 9:3 CSROe; 9:4 CSROe; 9:6 CSROe; 9:8 CSROe; 9:9a CSROe; 9:9b CSROe; 9:10 CSROe; 9:13 CSROe; 9:14 CSROe; 9:27a CSRPe; 9:27b CSRPe; 9:28 CSRPe; 9:33 CSRPe; 9:35 CSRPe; 9:36a CSRPe; 9:38b CSRPe; 10:47 CSROe; 11:4a CSRPc; 11:4b CSRPc; 11:19 CSRPe; 11:20 CSRPe; 11:21 CSRPe; 12:16a CSRPc; 12:22a CSRPc; 12:22b CSRPc; 12:26a CSRPc; 12:42 CSRPc, CSROc; 12:43b CSRPc, CSROc; 12:44a CSRPc, CSROc; 12:44b CSRPc, CSROc; 13:20a CSRPc, Dam; 14:33 CSRPc; 14:37 CSRPc; 14:39 CSRPe; 14:40 CSRPe; 14:46a CSRPe; 14:50 CSRPe; 15:1a CSROe; 15:1b CSROe; 15:5 CSROe; 15:8 CSROe; 15:9 CSROe; 15:11 CSROe CSROe; 15:15b CSROe; 15:16 CCR8, CSROe; 15:18 CCR8, CSROe; 15:20a CSROe; ous forms that could be analyzed either as Peal Perfect 3ms or Peal Active Participle ms.⁵⁰ However, due to the relative paucity of in-

15:20b CSROe; 15:20c CSROe; 15:25 CSROe; 15:43a CSRPc; 15:46a CSRPc; 15:46b CSRPc; 15:46c CSRPc; 16:1 CSRPc; 16:5a CSRPc; 16:5b CSRPc; 16:6a CSRPc; 16:b CSRPc; 16:8a CSRPc; Luke 1:1 CSRPc; 1:2 CSRPc; 1:4 CSRPc; 1:5 CSRPc; 1:8 CSRPc; 1:11 CSRPc; 1:12b CSRPc; 1:20 CSRO^c; 1:22 CSRO^c, Dam^b; 1:24 CSRO^c; 1:26 CCR3, CSRO^c, Dam^b; 1:29 CCR3, CSROc; 1:30b CCR3, CSROc; 1:38b CCR3; 1:56b CSROc; 1:57a CSROc; 1:57b CSROc; 1:58a CSROc; 1:58b CSROc; 1:59b CSROc; 1:64 CSROc; 1:65 CSROc; 1:66 CSROc; 1:67a CSROc; 1:67b CSROc; 1:68a CSRO^c; 1:69 CSRO^c; 2:1b CSRO^c; 2:6b CSRO^c; 2:7b CSRO^c; 2:7c CSRO^c; 2:21a Pa; 2:21b Pa; 7:9c CSRPg; 7:10 CSRPg; 7:13a CSRPg; 7:14b CSRPg; 7:15b CSRPg; 7:24a CSRPg; 7:24b CSRPg; 9:7b CSROc; 9:8a CSROc; 9:8b CSROc; 9:9b CSROc; 9:10a CSROc; 9:10b CSROc; 9:11 CSROc; 9:12a CSROc; 9:15a CSROc; 9:15b CSROc; 9:16a CSROc; 9:17a CSROc; 9:17b CSROc; 9:17c CSROc; 9:32 CSROc; 9:34a CSROc; 9:36a CSROc; 9:36b CSROc; 9:36c CSROc; 9:37b CSROc; 9:38 CSRSc; 9:40a CSROc, CSRSc; 9:40b CSROc, CSRSc; 9:42d CSROc, CSRSc; 9:46 CSRSc; 9:47 CSRPc, CSRSe; 9:49b CSRPc, CSRSe; 9:51b CSRPc; 9:52b CSRPc; 9:53 CSRPc; 9:56 CSRPc; 10:13a CSROc; 10:13b CSROc; 10:17 CSROc; 10:21c CSROc; 10:21d CSROc; 10:24a CSROc; 11:27c CSRPc; 11:32 CSRPc; 17:17b CSRSe; 17:20a CSRSe; 17:26 CSRSe; 17:27a CSRSe; 17:27c CSRSe; 18:40a CSRSc; 18:43b CSRPc; 19:6b CSRPc; 19:7 CSRPc; 19:8b CSRPc; 19:9b CSRPc; 19:14 CSRPc; 19:45 Damc; 19:46 Damc; 20:1b CSROc, Damc; 20:5b CSROc, Damc; 20:7 CSROc; 20:9b CSROc; 20:9c CSROc; 20:11a CSROc; 20:11b CSROc; 20:12a CSROc; 20:12b CSROc; John 2:23 Sina; 3:3a Sina; 6:43a CSRPc; 7:37 CSROc; 7:39b CSROc; 7:43 CSROc; 7:45a CSROc; 7:47 CSROc; 11:28a CSRPd; 11:28b CSRPd; 11:30 CSRPd; 11:31a CSRPd, Dama; 11:31b CSRPd, Dama; 11:31c CSRPd, Dama; 11:32a CSRPd, Dama; 11:32b CSRPd, Dama; 11:33b CSRPd, Dama; 11:41a CSRPd, Dama; 11:41d Dama; 11:45b Pa; 11:46a Pa; 11:46c Pa; 11:51b Dame; 11:53 Dame; 12:1b T-S^a; 12:2 T-S^a; 12:5a T-S^a; 12:5b T-S^a; 12:9b T-S^a; 12:9c T-S^a; 12:10 T-Sa; 12:13a T-Sa; 12:13b T-Sa; 12:16a T-Sa; 12:16b T-Sa; 12:16c T-Sa; 13:15b CCR8; 13:18a CCR8; 13:21a CCR8; 13:21b CCR8; 13:27 CCR8; 14:28a T-Sc; 14:28c T-Sc; 14:31 T-Sc; 15:9a T-Sc; 15:9b T-Sc; 15:12 T-Sc; 15:15a T-Sc; 15:16a T-Sc; 15:16b T-Sc; 15:16c T-Sc; 15:19 T-Sd, CCR8; 15:20b CCR8; 15:20c CCR8; 15:22a CCR8; 15:24a CCR8; 15:25 CCR8; 16:3 CCR8; 19:27 Damf; 19:29 Damf; 19:32b Damf; 19:33a Damf.

⁵⁰ The ambiguous instances are as follows: Matt. 1:24a CCR3; 1:24c CCR3; 1:25b CCR3; 2:21a CCR3; 2:21b CCR3; 2:22a CCR3; 2:23 CCR3; 14:5 Sin^a; 14:6b Sin^a; 21:23b CCR1; 21:29b CCR1; 21:30c CCR1, Jer; 21:31

stances where the Greek Aorist Indicative is translated by an unambiguous Participle, it is likely that most if not all of these are Perfects.⁵¹

Matt. 1:20 CCR3

המא בלאבת ונכו א אמעד לות בבעבה,

And look, an angel of the Lord appeared to him in a vision.

CCR1; 21:32a CCR1; 21:33c CCR1; 21:33d CCR1, Jer; 21:33e CCR1; 21:33f CCR1, Jer; 21:34a CCR1, Jer; 21:34b CCR1; 21:36a CCR1; 21:37 CCR1; 25:10a CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; 25:14a CSRPd; 26:27 CCR1; 26:39 CSRPd; 26:47 CCR1, CSRPd; 26:48 CCR1, CSRPd; 26:51a BL; 26:65a CSRG/Od; 26:70 CSRG/Od; 26:74b CSROd; 26:75b CSROd; 27:5a CSROd, CSRPf; 27:34b CCR8; 27:45 CCR1; 28:2b CCR1; Mark 1:4 CCR1; 1:9a CCR1; 1:9b CCR1; 1:28 CCR1; 2:23a CCR1; 4:7d CSROc; 4:8 CSROc; 5:30 CSROe; 5:31 CSROe; 5:37 CSROe; 6:41b CSROe; 6:46 CSROe; 8:6a CSRPe; 8:9 CSROc, CSRPe; 8:10 CSRPe; 8:13 CSROc, CSRPe; 9:7a CSROe; 9:7b CSROe; 10:45 CSROe; 10:50 CSRPc; 10:52b CSRPc, CSROe; 11:2 CSROe; 11:28 CSRPe; 12:19 CSRPc; 12:20b CSRPc; 13:19 CSRPe; 13:20c CSRPe, Dam; 13:20d; 14:45 CSRPe; 14:47a CSRPe; 14:47b CSRPe; 15:14a CSROe; 15:15a CSROe; 15:43b CSRPc; 15:44a CSRPc; 15:44c CSRPc; 15:45 CSRPc; Luke 1:3 CSRPc; 1:13b CSRPc; 1:23a CSROc; 1:23c CSROc; 1:25 CSROc; 1:51b CSROc; 1:53a CSROc; 1:59a CSROc; 1:63a CSROc; 1:63b CSROc; 1:73 CSROc; 2:1a CSROc; 2:4 CSROc; 2:6a CSROc; 3:3 Jer; 7:11a CSRPs; 7:14a CSRPs; 7:15a CSRPs; 7:15c CSRPs; 7:19 CSRPs; 7:20b CSRPg; 9:7a CSROc; 9:10c CSROc; 9:16b CSROc; 9:18a CSROc; 9:37a CSROc; 9:42a CSRSc; 9:42b CSROc, CSRSc; 9:42c CSRSc; 9:42e CSROc, CSRSe; 9:51a CSRPc; 9:55 CSRPc; 11:27a CSRPc; 11:30 CSRPc; 17:16 CSRSe; 17:27b CSRSe; 17:28 CSRSe; 18:29b CSRSc; 19:4 CSRPc; 19:5a CSRPc; 19:6a CSRPc; 19:10 CSRPc; 19:12b CSRPc; 19:13a CSRPc; 19:15a CSRPc; 20:1a CSROc; John 6:31b CSRPc; 7:44 CSROc; 11:33a CSRPd; 11:35 CSRPd, Dama; 11:41b CSRPd, Dama; 11:54a T-Sa; 12:1a T-Sa; 12:14 T-Sa; 13:18b CCR8; 13:28a CCR8; 15:6b T-Sc, T-Sd; 15:24b CCR8; 19:30a Damf; 19:30c Damf; 19:34a Damf; 19:34b Damf.

ίδου ἄγγελος κυρίου κατ' ὄναρ *ἐφάνη* αὐτῷ

In the above example, the Greek Aorist ἐφάνη is translated in CPA with the Perfect .

Since the Greek Aorist Indicative is so frequently translated by the CPA Perfect, it is not as important in this chapter to categorize different types of Aorists. Rather, the discussion will focus on instances that are not translated by the CPA Perfect. There will also be a separate section for additional discussion of non-active instances, the significance of which will become clearer in chapter eight, which discusses the function of the CPA verb forms.

5.1.2. Translated by CPA $\prec \circ \circ \circ$ + Participle

There are a number of instances of the Greek Aorist Indicative that are clearly translated by CPA participial expressions. In at least 8 instances, it is translated in CPA by κοω + Participle. Of these, 4 instances involve verbs of speaking. These include 2 instances of the word κράζω "to shout" introducing direct speech (Mark 15:13 CSROe; 15:14b CSROe) and 2 instances of other words for speaking in contexts where they do not introduce direct speech (διαλέγομαι "to argue" Mark 9:34 CSRPe; συλλογίζομαι "to talk, discuss" Luke 20:5a CSROc, Dame). It is possible that the CPA translator(s) felt that these instances required an imperfective sense in translation, but since these verbs consist of words for speaking, the aspectual opposition between Aorist and Imperfect may also have been neutralized.

The other 4 instances where the Greek Aorist Indicative is translated in CPA by <a>o + Participle occur in conditional clauses (Matt. 24:43b CCR1, CSRPd; Mark 13:20b CSRPe, Dam; John 11:21b Damd; 11:32c CSRPd, Dama).

Mark 13:20 CSRPe

רל הבהל הבישה הליש ביים ביים אלים להים לשים להם ליש המש

And except the Lord had shortened these days, no flesh *would* be saved.

καὶ εἰ μὴ ἐκολόβωσεν κύριος τὰς ἡμέρας, οὐκ ἂν ἐσώθη πᾶσα σάρξ.

In the above example, the translation of the Greek Aorist in CPA by the expression $\prec \circ \circ \circ$ + Participle was due to the contrary to fact

conditional clause in the context. See also the discussion of conditional clauses in chapter eight, section 8.2.6.1.

5.1.3. Translated by CPA Passive Participles

Related to the instances in conditional clauses mentioned above there is also 1 instance where the Greek Aorist Indicative in a conditional clause is translated in CPA with a Passive Participle accompanied by room bar (Matt. 24:43a CCR1, CSRPd).

Matt. 24:43 CSRPd

If the owner of the house had known at what hour the thief would come, *he would have been awake* and would not have allowed his house be broken into.

εὶ ἤδει ὁ οἰκοδεσπότης ποία φυλακῆ ὁ κλέπτης ἔρχεται, ἐγρηγόρησεν ἂν καὶ οὐκ ἂν εἴασεν διορυχθῆναι τὴν οἰκίαν αὐτοῦ

In the above example, the Greek Aorist έγρηγόρησεν in a conditional apodosis is translated by in Kom hir. The word in is normally understood as an adjective, but is a Passive Participle in form. It is possible to analyze the words is to a as the Passive Participle with a nominal/adjectival function accompanied by the copula har with rom as the past time marker. However, no unequivocal instances of Kom as a temporal marker for bur are attested in this study, and may alternatively have a function related to the counter factual apodosis (see the discussion in chapter eight, section 8.2.6.1). This clause is followed by the expression Kam + Participle in the following clause (are Kam for the Greek Aorist εἴασεν). Additionally, it is interesting to note the CPA expression ממס + Participle (בזהג מסס) in the conditional protasis above as the translation of ἤδει, which is a Pluperfect Indicative that serves as the past tense of οἶδα "to know," a Perfect Indicative with present meaning.

5.1.4. Translated by CPA Pronoun + Participle

There is at least 1 instance of the Greek Aorist Indicative translated in CPA by pronoun + Participle (Mark 1:29 CCR1).

Mark 1:29 CCR1

And they went out immediately from the synagogue and *they* were coming into the house of Simon and of Andrew with James [and John].

Καὶ εὐθὺς ἐκ τῆς συναγωγῆς ἐξελθόντες ηλθον εἰς τὴν οἰκίαν Σίμωνος καὶ Ἀνδρέου μετὰ Ἰακώβου καὶ Ἰωάννου

5.1.5. Translated by CPA Participles

In at least 4 instances, the Greek Aorist Indicative is translated by a simple CPA Participle without either the verb con or a pronoun (Matt. 24:22a CSRPd; 25:1 CSROe; 28:8 CCR1; Luke 18:28b CSRSc). Three of the instances could be explained as stylistic or idiomatic, due to the context.

Matt. 25:1 CSROe

سلم وتعدر لعبوتهم معدنه المانكة المانكة

These who took their lamps and were going out to meet the bridegroom

αἵτινες λαβοῦσαι τὰς λαμπάδας ἑαυτῶν ἐξηλθον εἰς ὑπάντησιν τοῦ νυμφίου

In the above example, the Greek has an Aorist Participle $(\lambda\alpha\beta\circ\hat{\upsilon}\sigma\alpha\iota)$ in the first clause followed by the Aorist Indicative έξηλθον in the second clause. As in the previously discussed example, the CPA translator may have inverted the syntax for stylistic or idiomatic reasons, translating the Aorist Participle as a Perfect and the Aorist Indicative as a Participle. The same phenomenon seems to have occurred in the instances in Matt. 28:8 and Luke 18:28b. It is also of interest to mention that the above example in Matt. 25:1 contains a gender switch from the feminine $\frac{1}{1000}$ to the

masculine عصع. These issues will be further discussed in chapter eight.

The instance of a simple CPA Participle in Matt. 24:22a deserves further comment.

Matt. 24:22 CSRPd

And [. . .] those days *are cut short*, but if [. . .] no one would be saved.

καὶ εἰ μὴ *ἐκολοβώθησαν* αἱ ἡμέραι ἐκεῖναι, οὐκ ἂν ἐσώθη πᾶσα σάρξ

In the above example, the Greek Aorist Indicative does not denote a past time action, but is part of a conditional clause, and the CPA translation with a Participle may, therefore, express not past time, but conditional modality. However, there is also an important difference between the Greek original and the CPA translation in this text. Whereas the Greek original places the conditional conjunction εί "if" (εί μὴ "unless") at the beginning of the clause, the CPA translation places the conditional conjunction dix after the corresponding clause. The placement of $\Delta \kappa$ could suggest a reversal of the protasis and the apodosis in the translation, but, since the CPA text is unfortunately broken two important places, the exact nature of the CPA conditional sentence in Matt. 24:22 is unclear. Alternatively, if the placement of $\Delta \kappa$ means that the clause is not part of the CPA conditional sentence, the Participle could denote a future event. Contrast this passage with the CPA translation of the parallel passage in Mark 13:20 CSRPe (אבלה הליש ה ביאה ל מלים (Let. Lemiso, Ly cook with and cast

5.1.6. An Ambiguous Instance

In 1 instance, the CPA Participle is preceded by a lacuna, and it is not possible to determine whether a pronoun or the auxiliary κοπ had been originally present (Matt. 26:60 BL). Nevertheless, this may not be a translation of the Greek Aorist Indicative, but may be due to interference from the parallel passage in Mark 14:55, which has the Greek Imperfect ηὕρισκον instead of the Aorist εὖρον.

5.1.7. Translated by CPA Imperfects

There are also at least 6 possible instances where the Greek Aorist Indicative is translated by a CPA Imperfect, which may be ascribed to the CPA translator understanding the Aorist verb as expressing something other than a simple past. Of these, 2 instances could be understood as applying in a present rather than past sense (John 15:8 T-S^c; 15:15b T-S^c).

John 15:8 T-Sc

במו*י*א ישוקביה [...]

By this [my Father] is glorified ἐν τούτω ἐδοξάσθη ὁ πατήρ μου

Although the above example contains an Aorist Indicative, it is probable that the CPA translator understood it as a general present (i.e., a dramatic or gnomic Aorist).

In at least 2 instances, the CPA Imperfect occurs in subordinate clauses (Matt. 2:22b CCR3; 24:39b CSRPd).

Matt. 2:22 CCR3

Klely : Keikl Like Kolus od , subra

And it was revealed to him in a dream that he should go to the land of Galilee.

χρηματισθεὶς δὲ κατ' ὄναρ ἀνεχώρησεν εἰς τὰ μέρη τῆς Γαλιλαίας

Matt. 24:39 CSRPd

And they did not [know] *until the flood came* καὶ οὐκ ἔγνωσαν *ἕως ἦλθεν* ὁ κατακλυσμὸς

fit Schulthess' (1924: 87) description of the Imperfect as a relative future.

In 1 instance of the CPA Imperfect, it is not clear whether or not a modal nuance is present (Mark 14:46b CSRPe).

Mark 14:46 CSRPe

مه مرز أ محده] علم, كمنة د[مه] <u>من ده</u> ملاه

And they laid their hands on him to seize him. οἱ δὲ ἐπέβαλον τὰς χεῖρας αὐτῷ καὶ ἐκράτησαν αὐτόν

In the above example, it is possible to interpret the CPA Imperfect in a telic sense, but other possibilities cannot be ruled out. Contrast the Imperfect above with the Perfect on in the parallel passage Matt. 26:50 BL.

Finally, in 1 instance, since the first letter must be reconstructed, i.e., _a[] Mark 15:23 CSROe, it is not clear that we are dealing with an Imperfect.

5.1.8. Instances that Involve Textual Variants

There are a number of instances that involve textual variants. Of these, 2 instances involve the CPA construction κων + Participle (Matt. 27:29b CCR8; Luke 7:11b CSRPs). In Matt. 27:29b the majority of Greek witnesses read the Imperfect Indicative ἐνέπαιζον instead of the Aorist Indicative ἐνέπαιξαν, and in Luke 7:11b the majority of Greek witnesses read the Imperfect ἐπορεύετο instead of the Aorist ἐπορεύθη. Thus, the CPA construction κων + Participle in these instances may in fact be a translation of a Greek Imperfect.

There is also 1 instance of the CPA expression pronoun + Participle (Mark 11:24 CSRPe), where, instead of the Aorist Indicative ἐλάβετε, the majority of Greek manuscripts have the Present Indicative λαμβάνετε, and some other witnesses have the Future Indicative λήμψεσθε (perhaps under the influence of the parallel passage Matt. 21:22).

Further, though it is possible that the Greek Aorist Indicative is translated in 1 instance by a CPA nominal clause, the CPA text, σος και και ανα ("For he saves/lives without end. And he said, 'It is the hour." Mark 14:41 CSRPe), is not a translation of the main text of NA²⁸ ἀπέχει ηλθεν ή ὥρα "It is enough. The hour has come." Rather, it is more likely a translation of variants such as the Western text, ἀπέχει τὸ τέλος καὶ ἡ ὥρα

(perhaps under the influence of τέλος in Luke 22:37), which do not contain the Aorist $\mathring{\eta}\lambda\theta$ εν. See Metzger's (1994) comments on the Greek text of Mark 14:41.

In addition, there are at least 2 instances of CPA textual variants. In Matt. 24:45, one CPA witness has a Perfect (CCR1) and another one has an Imperfect (CSRPd). The variant may be explained as due to interference from the parallel passage in Luke 12:42, which has the future καταστήσει instead of the Aorist κατέστησεν. Another CPA textual variant occurs in John 15:6a, where, although there are no Greek textual variants, T-Sc has the pronoun an after the Participle (CHCR), but T-Sd does not. In any event, in the context of the conditional clause in John 15:6, the Aorist ἐβλήθη does not denote a past time event, but a potential event. Thus, John 15:6a is not only another example of the optional nature of the pronoun in connection with the Participle, but also of the expression (pronoun +) Participle used in conditional clauses.

5.2. TRANSLATION OF SPECIAL TYPES OF GREEK AORISTS

This section deals with the CPA translation of special types of Greek Aorists, which consist primarily of certain verbs whose lexical meaning requires separate analysis.

5.2.1. Aorist Indicative of ἔχω Expressing Possession

There is 1 possible instance of the Greek Aorist Indicative of ἔχω expressing possession with an attested CPA translation (Mark 12:23 CSRPc). It is translated idiomatically as a CPA Perfect.

Mark 12:23 CSRPc

For seven *took* her as wife οἱ γὰρ ἑπτὰ ἔσχον αὐτὴν γυναῖκα

In the above example, the Greek ἔσχον, which is an Aorist Indicative of ἔχω, is translated by a CPA Perfect, which is orthographically clear by the ending with $\alpha[\ldots]$. Müller-Kessler and Sokoloff's restoration $\alpha[$ is reasonable, because, although the Greek verb ἔχω means literally "to have," the CPA translation with the verb α "to take" is the idiomatic expression for taking in marriage.

5.2.2. Aorist Indicative of Verbs That Frequently Introduce Direct Speech

There are 149 instances of Greek Aorist Indicative verbs that are often employed to introduce direct speech with attested CPA translations, including 133 instances of λέγω/εἶπον, 52 3 instances of λαλέω (Matt. 23:1; John 7:46b; 15:22b), 6 instances of ἐπερωτάω (Matt. 22:41; 27:11b; Mark 15:2; 15:44b; Luke 9:18b; 18:40b), 1 instance of ἐρωτάω (John 19:31), and 6 instances of φημί (Matt. 21:27b; 26:61b; 27:11c; Mark 9:12,38a; 12:24). The majority of instances are 3rd person singular in Greek, and, therefore, have a CPA translation that involves ambiguous spelling, i.e., they can be analyzed as either as 3ms Perfect or as ms absolute Participle. Nevertheless, most of the non-ambiguous instances (i.e., 1st and 2nd person and plural forms) are clearly CPA Perfects, and therefore, most of the ambiguous instances can be assumed to be CPA Perfects.

Matt. 2:5 CCR3

ന<u>്റ</u> പ്രാഹ ,1 പ്രവന

And they said to him of $\delta \hat{\epsilon} \, \epsilon \hat{l} \pi \alpha v \, \alpha \hat{v} \tau \hat{\phi}$

In the above example, the Greek εἶπαν, which is the 2^{nd} Aorist of εἶπον/λέγω "to speak, say," is translated in CPA by στως. Since the verb is a 3^{rd} person plural, there is no ambiguity in the form of the CPA translation. It is clearly a 3mp CPA Perfect.

There are a few examples of Greek Aorist verbs that introduce direct speech that are translated in CPA by orthographically unambiguous participial expressions, including 5 instances of the

These may be listed as 2:5,8; 18:21; follows: Matt. 21:24,28,29a,30a,b,38; 22:44; 24:2,4; 25:8,12; 26:25a,26b,49a,50a,55a,61a,62,63,64,66,73; 27:4b,6,17,21a,b; 28:5,6b,7b; Mark 2:19; 5:34; 6:37; 7:10; 8:5,7; 9:29,36b,39; 10:3a,49,51a,b,52a; 11:29; 12:15,16b,17,26b,43a; 13:2; 16:7; Luke 1:13a,18,19a,28,30a,34,35,38a; 7:13b,14c,20a; 9:9a,12b,13a,b,14,19a,41,43,48,49a,50,54,57,58,59a; 10:18,21b,23; 11:27b,28; 17:17a,19,20b,22; 18:4,9,26,27,28a,29a,41,42; 19:5b,8a,9a,11,12a,13b,15b; 20:2,3,8,13; John 3:3b; 6:32,34,35,36,43b; 7:35,38,42; 11:34,37,40,41c,46b,51a; 12:6; 13:21c,28b; 14:26,28b; 15:20a; 16:4a,b; 19:30b.

simple Participle by itself (Luke 9:12b CSROc; 9:19a CSROc; 11:27b CSRPc; 18:26 CSRSc; John 7:35 CSROc).

John 7:35 CSROc

[...] محنه الما معتمد

The Jews said εἶπον οὖν οἱ Ἰουδαῖοι πρὸς ἑαυτούς

For what it is worth, 3 of the instances involve a reversal of the Greek syntax, from Greek Participle + Aorist Indicative to CPA Perfect + Participle (Luke 9:12b,19a; 11:27b).

Luke 9:19 CSROc

מט בי, א בבה מאמוים

They answered and said οἱ δὲ ἀποκριθέντες εἶπαν

For a discussion of this syntactical reversal, see chapter eight, section 8.2.3.2.

There is 1 possible instance where the Greek Aorist Indicative of $\lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \omega / \epsilon \dot{l} \pi o \nu$ is translated in CPA with $\prec o \omega$ + Participle (Luke 18:9 CSRS/Pc).

Luke 18:9 CSRS/Pc

さろん へののの

And he was saying Εἶπεν δὲ

In the above example, the Greek $\hat{\epsilon l}\pi\epsilon v$, 2nd Aorist Indicative of $\lambda \dot{\epsilon} \gamma \omega / \epsilon \dot{l}\pi o v$ is translated in CPA with $\dot{\epsilon} \omega \kappa \omega \omega$. It might be possible to analyze the latter phrase as $\kappa \omega \omega + \text{Perfect}$, but in the absence of unambiguous instances of the latter in the corpus, it is best to analyze it as $\kappa \omega \omega + \text{Participle}$.

In 1 instance of the Greek Aorist Indicative of ἐπερωτάω "to ask," there is a CPA textual variant between the Perfect and the Imperfect (Matt. 27:11b CSRO $^{\rm e}$, CSRP $^{\rm f}$).

Matt. 27:11

<u>ಬ್ರೌ(ಸ್)</u> ಸಂಬ್ರಾ ಹ[csRO^e] ಹ[ರ್] (CSRP^f)

And the governor asked him. καὶ ἐπηρώτησεν αὐτὸν ὁ ἡγεμὼν

In the above example, there is no Greek variant, and therefore, it is an intra-CPA variant. The Greek ἐπηρώτησεν, Aorist Indicative of ἐπερωτάω "to ask," is translated in CPA with an Imperfect in CSRO^e and with a Perfect in CSRPf.

5.3. NON-ACTIVE INSTANCES IN GREEK AND CPA

5.3.1. Deponent Verbs

In this section, the instances of non-active Greek Aorist Indicatives will be discussed. Close to half of the Greek non-active forms can be considered deponent. Of the 535 instances of regular Greek Aorist Indicatives with attested CPA translations, there are at least 75 instances of deponent verbs. They include the following verbs: ἀποκρίνομαι (Matt. 25:9; 27:12,14; Mark 8:4; 15:5,9; Luke 17:20a; 20:7; John 3:3a; 6:43a; 7:47); ἀρνέομαι (Matt. 26:70); βούλομαι (Matt. 1:19); γίνομαι (Matt. 27:45; 28:2a,4b; Mark 1:4,9a; 2:23a; 1:5,8,23a,59a,65; 9:3,6,7a,b; 11:19; Luke 2:1a,6a; 9:18a,34a,37a,51a; 10:13a; 11:27a,30; 17:26,28; 19:9b,15a; 20:1a; John 7:43); δέομαι (Luke 9:40a); δέχομαι (Luke 9:53); διαλέγομαι (Mark 9:34); διηγέομαι (Luke 9:10a); δύναμαι (Mark 9:28,40b); δωρέομαι (Mark 15:45); ἐκλέγομαι (Mark 13:20c; John 13:18a; 15:16a,b,19); ἐμβριμάομαι (John 11:33b); έντέλλομαι (John 14:31); ἐπιλανθάνομαι (Mark 8:14); ἐπισκέπτομαι (Luke 1:68a); ἰάομαι (Luke 9:42d); καταράομαι (Mark 11:21); μεταμέλομαι (Matt. 21:32d); μιμνήσκομαι (Matt. 26:75a; John 12:16c); παραγίνομαι (Matt. 2:1); πορεύομαι (Luke 7:11b; 9:56; 19:12b); προσεύχομαι (Matt. 26:44; Mark 14:39); σπλαγχνίζομαι (Luke 7:13a); συλλογίζομαι (Luke 20:5a); ὑποδέχομαι (Luke 19:6b).

Greek deponent Aorist Indicatives are generally translated in CPA with active Perfect verbs, and these instances require no extra comments. There are no instances translated in CPA with a Passive Participle. In 15 instances the deponent Greek Aorist Indicative is translated in CPA with a T-stem Perfect. These include: βούλομαι (Matt. 1:19 CCR3); γίνομαι (Matt. 28:2a CCR1; Mark 9:3 CSRO^e; 11:19 CSRP^e; Luke 1:5 CSRP^e; 1:8 CSRP^e; 9:34a CSRO^e; 10:13a CSRO^e; 19:9b CSRP^e; John 7:43 CSRO^e); ἔμβριμάομαι (John 11:33b CSRP^d, Dam^a); ἔπιλανθάνομαι (Mark 8:14 CSRO^e, CSRP^e); μιμνήσκομαι (Matt. 26:75a CSRO^d; John 12:16c T-S^a); σπλαγχνίζομαι (Luke 7:13a CSRP^g).

Matt. 26:75 CSROd

ind afice approximation in its individual in its

And Peter *remembered* the word of the Lord Jesus that he had said

καὶ ἐμνήσθη ὁ Πέτρος τοῦ ῥήματος Ἰησοῦ εἰρηκότος

In the above example, the Greek deponent $\ell \mu \nu \eta \sigma \theta \eta$ is translated idiomatically in CPA with the T-stem (Itpael) Perfect of $\iota \omega$ "to remember."

In 1 instance, a deponent Greek Aorist Indicative is translated in CPA with rom + T-stem Participle (Mark 9:34 CSRPe).

Mark 9:34 CSRPe

For *they were discussing* with one another along the way who would be the greatest.

πρὸς ἀλλήλους γὰρ *διελέχθησαν* ἐν τῆ ὁδῷ τίς μείζων

In the above example, the Aorist of διαλέγομαι is translated in CPA with κοω and the Itpaal Participle of "to think." The fact that the imperfective expression κοω + Participle is employed in this passage was discussed above. The use of the T-stem Participle in this case is idiomatic in nature.

The translation of γίνομαι deserves additional comment. It is translated in CPA with either the Peal of κοω "to be" or the Itpael stem of του in the sense of "to be done, to occur." The Aorist Indicative of γίνομαι is frequently used in expressions that function as a discourse marker similar to the Biblical Hebrew ἐγένετο οτ ἐγένετο δέ. In such cases it is generally translated with the verb κοω (Mark 1:9a CCR1; 2:23a CCR1; Luke 1:23a CSROc; 1:59a CSROc; 2:1a CSROc; 2:6a CSROc; 7:11a CSRPe; 9:18a CSROc; 9:37a CSROc; 9:51a CSRPc; 11:27a CSRPc; 19:15a CSRPc; 20:1a CSROc), but the Itpael of του does occur (Luke 1:8 CSRPc). Compare the following:

Luke 1:8 CSRPc

[אואב]בג ג, בג [...] מבמ

And *it happened*, while he was serving as priest, . . . Έγενετο δὲ ἐν τῷ ἱερατεύειν αὐτὸν Luke 1:59 CSRO^c

עזידאן עטטים עסשים

And *it was*, on the eighth day, . . . Καὶ *ἐγένετο* ἐν τῆ ἡμέρα τῆ ὀγδόη

In its function as a regular verb rather than a discourse marker, γίνομαι is translated in CPA with either κοω (Matt. 27:45 CCR1; 28:4b CCR1; Mark 1:4 CCR1; 9:6 CSRO^e; 9:7a CSRO^e; Luke 1:65 CSRO^e; 11:30 CSRP^e; 17:26 CSRS^e; 17:28 CSRS^e) or the Itpael stem of κοω (Matt. 28:2a CCR1; Mark 9:3 CSRO^e; 11:19 CSRP^e; Luke 1:5 CSRP^e; 9:34a CSRO^e; 10:13a CSRO^e; 19:9b CSRP^e; John 7:43 CSRO^e).⁵³ The following examples illustrate both translations:

Mark 9:3 CSROe

:κωλ νο κτιμό μοσο μοσο απολικό, αικό And his garments were made dazzling and very white like snow. καὶ τὰ ἱμάτια αὐτοῦ ἐγένετο στίλβοντα λευκὰ λίαν

Matt. 27:45 CCR1

Άπὸ δὲ ἕκτης ὥρας σκότος *ἐγένετο* ἐπὶ πᾶσαν τὴν γῆν ἕως ὥρας ἐνάτης.

The above examples show that the CPA translation of the Aorist Indicative of γίνομαι was stylistic and/or idiomatic, and varied according to the translator's sense of its meaning.

5.3.2. Non-Deponent Non-Active Verbs

Aside from Greek deponent verbs, there are at least 83 other instances of non-active Aorist Indicatives with attested CPA translations. Most instances are translated in CPA by active stem Perfects. In 36 instances the non-active Aorist Indicative is translated in CPA with a T-stem Perfect (Matt. 1:18 CCR3; 1:20 CCR3; 2:3 CCR3; 14:11b Sin^a; 25:10c CCR1, CSRP^d, CSRO^e; 26:24 CCR1;

 $^{^{53}}$ There is also 1 instance of κ $\hbar \kappa$ (Mark 9:7b CSROe). However, it may be a translation of the Greek majority reading, which has $\mathring{\eta}\lambda\theta$ εν "he came" rather than ἐγένετο.

26:57b BL; 27:3a CSROd; 27:5b CSROd, CSRPf; 27:8 CSROd, CSROc, CSRPf; 27:9a CSROd, CSROc, CSRPf; 27:9c CCR1, CSROd, CSROc, CSRPf; Mark 1:9c CCR1; 1:27 CCR1; 9:2 CSROc; 9:4 CSROc; 16:5b CSRPc; Luke 1:4 CSRPc; 1:11 CSRPc; 1:26 CCR3, CSROc, Damb; 1:29 CCR3, CSROc; 1:57a CSROc; 1:64 CSROc; 1:67a CSROc; 2:6b CSROc; 2:21b Pa; 7:9c CSRPg; 9:8a CSROc; 9:36a CSROc; 17:17b CSRSc; John 7:39b CSROc; 11:53 Damc; 12:5a T-Sa; 12:5b T-Sa; 12:10 T-Sa; 12:16b T-Sa; 13:21a CCR8).

Matt. 27:8 CSROe

Τοκαί , τος τος τος τος τος τολικός το Therefore that field is called "field of blood" to this day. διὸ $\dot{\epsilon}$ κλήθη ὁ ἀγρὸς ἐκεῖνος ἀγρὸς Αἴματος ἕως τῆς σήμερον

In the above example, the Greek Aorist Passive Indicative ἐκλήθη, from καλέω "to call," is translated in CPA with , an Itpael Perfect of "to call." Thus, the T-stem is employed in this instance to expresses the passive notion of the Greek verb.

In passing, it should be mentioned that there are 2 instances of Greek non-deponent Aorist Passive Indicatives translated with CPA T-stem forms other than Perfect. These consist of 1 instance of a T-stem Participle with a textual variant involving the presence or absence of an accompanying pronoun (John 15:6a T-Sc, T-Sd) and 1 instance of a T-stem Imperfect (John 15:8 T-Sc). Both passages were cited and/or discussed earlier in this chapter.

5.3.3. Active Verbs Translated as Non-Active in CPA

For the sake of completeness, it should be mentioned that there are 2 instances of the Greek Aorist Active Indicative translated non-actively in CPA. Both involve the same Greek verb, προφητεύω "to prophesy," and are translated idiomatically with a T-stem (Itpaal) Perfect of عدم (Luke 1:67b CSROc; John 11:51b Dame).

5.4. SUMMARY

In summary, the Greek Aorist Indicative is translated in the majority of instances by a CPA Perfect. There are relatively few instances where it is orthographically clear that a verb form other than a Perfect is employed. Some of these are participal expressions. The construction $\prec \alpha m$ + Participle occurs in conditional clauses and

with some verbs of speaking. The expression pronoun + Participle and the simple Participle alone are employed in past time (perhaps with an imperfective meaning) after a Perfect, or in conditional clauses. One instance of the Passive Participle accompanied by com buc occurs in a conditional clause, and it occurs in a context where other clauses have the construction com + Participle. There are also a few instances of the CPA Imperfect, most of which translate Greek Aorists that express a notion other than a simple past. Many of the instances where the CPA translation has a form other than a Perfect involve textual variants. There are also a number of stylistic and idiomatic CPA translations.

Most of the Greek non-active verbs are translated in CPA with active forms. Deponent Aorist Indicative verbs do not constitute as large a proportion of non-active instances as in the case of the Imperfect and Present Indicative. Often the CPA translation is idiomatic in nature. However, in some instances the CPA T-stem is employed to render the passive voice expressed by the Greek original. There are no instances translated with Passive Participles.

6. THE CPA TRANSLATION OF THE GREEK PERFECT INDICATIVE

The Greek Perfect Indicative in most instances expresses a present perfect tense/aspect. Since traditional Greek grammars explain it as denoting a present state that is the result of a past event, it may be more precisely classified as a present resultative. There are at least 365 instances in the Gospels, of which 69 instances are attested with CPA translations. Since the Greek Perfect is not part of the aspectual opposition between perfective and imperfective, it is not necessary to give special treatment to verbs that introduce direct speech. However, there are at least 18 instances of verbs that do deserve special treatment, because they are employed in the Perfect to express a present tense. These, along with instances of the Periphrastic Perfect, which consist of the Present Indicative of ɛlul and a Perfect Participle, will be discussed under a separate section in this chapter.

6.1. TRANSLATION OF REGULAR GREEK PERFECT INDICATIVES

Of the 51 instances of regular Greek Perfect Indicatives with attested CPA translations, the major distinction in the way they are translated in CPA seems to be between active and non-active forms. In the Perfect Indicative, the forms of the Middle and Passive are morphologically indistinguishable, though the distinction can often be lexically or contextually made, and all non-active instances are likely Passive based on context. None of the instances are deponent. With few exceptions, Greek Perfect Active Indicatives tend to be translated with CPA Perfects, whereas the non-active forms tend to be translated with CPA Passive Participles.

6.1.1. Active Perfect Indicatives

6.1.1.1. Translated by CPA Perfects

In at least 31 instances, a Greek Perfect Active Indicative is translated with a CPA Perfect (Matt. 1:22 CCR3; 2:20 CCR3; 24:21 CSRPd; 24:25 CSRPd; 25:6 CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; 26:45 CCR1, CSRPd; Mark 5:33 CSROe; 10:52 CSROe; 11:21 CSRPe; 13:19 CSRPe; 13:23 CSRPe, Dam; Luke 1:25 CSROe; 1:36 CCR3; 9:36 CSROe; 10:19 CSROe; 17:19 CSRSe; 18:42 CSRSe; John 6:36 CSRPe; 6:42b CSRPe; 11:27 CSRPd; 11:34 CSRPd; 14:29 T-Se; 15:10 T-Se; 15:15b T-Se; 15:24a CCR8; 15:24b CCR8; 16:1 CCR8; 16:4 CCR8; 16:6a CCR7; 16:6b CCR8; 19:35a Damf).54

John 6:42 CSRPc

שאש מב מב אשו ושל מה מוש מיש

How does he now say, "I have come down from heaven"? πῶς νῦν λέγει ὅτι Ἐκ τοῦ οὐρανοῦ καταβέβηκα;

In the above example, the Greek Perfect Active Indicative is translated in CPA by a Perfect. It is typical of the majority of instances.

6.1.1.2. Ambiguous Instances

In addition, there are also instances of Greek Perfect Active Indicatives translated in CPA by ambiguous forms. Of these there are 7 instances where the CPA form could be analyzed either as Perfect or Active Participle (Matt. 26:46 CCR1, CSRPd; Mark 7:37 CSRPe; 9:13a CSROe; Luke 1:22 Damb; John 6:32 CSRPc; 6:39 CSRPc; 15:18 T-Sd). In most of these instances, a Participle does not seem to fit the context.

Mark 9:13 CSROe

תאת וש תולת השתו משל תושת תות

There is a textual variant in Matt. 25:6, where CCR1 and CSRPd read κασικά and κασικά respectively, but CSROe has Lal. However, the footnote in Müller-Kessler and Sokoloff indicates that the manuscript is unclear in the latter. In addition, an instance of the Greek ἥκασιν translated by a CPA Perfect ahiκ (Mark 8:3 CSRPe) could be added to this list. See the discussion of ἥκω in chapter three.

But I tell you that, truly, Elijah has already come. άλλα λέγω ὑμῖν ὅτι καὶ Ἡλίας ἐλήλυθεν

Although And in the above example could be analyzed as a Participle, such an analysis does not fit the context, which suggests rather the analysis as a CPA Perfect. Nevertheless, in a few of these instances, it is possible that the CPA translator employed a Participle rather than a Perfect in order to express a present situation. For example:

Mark 7:37 CSRPe

rack con relax more

He has done/does all things well. καλῶς πάντα πεποίηκεν

In the above example, are can be interpreted either as a pronoun + Perfect, expressing a past or perfect notion "he did/has done," or pronoun + Participle, which may express a general present notion, "he does."

Also, there are 2 instances of Greek Perfect Active Indicatives translated by CPA forms that could be analyzed either as Perfect or adjective (Mark 14:42 CSRPe; 15:44 CSRPe). Since the Greek Perfect Indicative can refer to present states that result from past events, it is natural that some instances could be translated in CPA as a present state or situation. However, both instances are best analyzed as CPA Perfects. In Mark 15:44 CSRPe is probably a CPA Perfect, based on a comparison with Aut. 2:20 CCR3, where the plural form of the same Greek verb is clearly translated by a Perfect. As for the instance in Mark 14:42 CSRPe, it is worth comparing it with the parallel passage in Matt. 26:46 CCR1.

Mark 14:42 CSRPe

مى <u>مند</u> مە تحم*ون* ل

Look, he who betrays me is near. ἰδοὺ ὁ παραδιδούς με ἤγγικεν

Matt. 26:46 CCR1

م م<u>ند</u> ، رحصن لر

Look, he who betrays me has come near. ἰδοὺ ἤγγικεν ὁ παραδιδούς με

In the above examples, both passages have the Greek ἤγγικεν, a Perfect Indicative of ἐγγίζω "to come near." Since the Greek of

the parallel passages above is very similar, except for the word order, a strong case can be made for explaining the difference in the CPA translations as simply orthographic (see Müller-Kessler 1991: 154 on the orthography of e/i- Perfects). See also in Matt. 26:45 (CCR1 and CSRPd). Thus, it is probable that the form in Mark 14:42 CSRPe stands for a Perfect. Nevertheless, if it could be shown to be an adjective, the difference between in Matt. 26:46 and in Mark 14:42 would be stylistic rather than orthographic in nature.

6.1.2. Non-Active Perfect Indicatives

6.1.2.1. Translated by CPA Passive Participles

As for the 11 instances of non-active Greek Perfect Indicatives, these instances are generally translated in CPA by some type of nominal expression, mostly including a Passive Participle. In 1 instance the CPA Passive Participle is accompanied by a personal pronoun (Matt. 26:31 CCR1).

Matt. 26:31 CCR1

علامت ۱۷ مخ

For it is written γέγραπται γάρ

In the above example, the CPA translation inserts a pronoun that is not in the original. Thus, the Greek Perfect Passive Indicative is translated in CPA with the expression pronoun + Passive Participle.

In at least 6 instances, the CPA translation of the Greek Perfect Passive Indicative involves a simple Passive Participle by itself (Matt. 2:5 CCR3; Mark 1:2 CCR1; 9:12 CSROe; 9:13b CSROe; 16:4 CSRPe; Luke 19:46 Dame). Most of these involve the Greek verb γράφω "to write."

Matt. 2:5 CCR3

For thus it is written in the prophet. οὕτως γὰρ γέγραπται διὰ τοῦ προφήτου

In the above example, the Greek γέγραπτα is translated in CPA by the Passive Participle ... Besides γράφω, the Perfect Passive

Indicative of ἀποκυλίω "to roll away" is also translated with a CPA Passive Participle (Mark 16:4 CSRPc).

There is at least 1 instance where the Greek Perfect Passive Indicative is translated in CPA by a Passive Participle accompanied by the verb COM (Mark 9:42 CSROc). It occurs in a counterfactual hypothetical clause.

Mark 9:42 CSROc

It would be better for him if a donkey's millstone were [tied] on his neck, and *he were thrown* into [the sea].

καλόν ἐστιν αὐτῷ μᾶλλον εἰ περίκειται μύλος ὀνικὸς περὶ τὸν τράχηλον αὐτοῦ καὶ *βέβληται* εἰς τὴν θάλασσαν

In the above example, the Greek βέβληται, a Perfect Passive Indicative of βάλλω "to throw, cast," is translated in CPA with καί [κασ]α, the verb κασ "to be" and the Passive Participle of "to throw." For what it is worth, the fact that the preceding Greek verb in the context is a Present Indicative, περίκειται, from περίκειμαι "to place around, be around," shows that βέβληται expresses more a resulting state than an anterior action, and thus functions as a resultative rather than an anterior.

There is also 1 instance where the CPA form could be analyzed either as a Passive Participle or as an adjective (John 19:28 Dam^f).

John 19:28 Damf

במא געמי מוש בחל בבו משום נוש בתלח בבו משלם

When the Lord Jesus saw that everything was already accomplished

είδως ὁ Ἰησοῦς ὅτι ἤδη πάντα τετέλεσται

In the above example, the Greek τετέλεσται, which is the Perfect Passive Indicative of τελέω "to finish, complete," is translated in CPA as α ("accomplished," which is a Pael Passive Participle in form, though it can also have the simple adjectival meaning "complete."

6.1.2.2. Translated by CPA Kom and T-Stem Participle

Possibly, the instances of Greek Perfect Passive Indicative translated in CPA by nominal expressions also include 1 instance of a T-stem Participle accompanied by the verb com (Mark 15:47 CSRPc). However, there is a textual variant in this instance.

Mark 15:47 CSRPc

Mary Magdalene and Mary the daughter of James and Joses looked where he was being/was placed.

ή δὲ Μαρία ή Μαγδαληνή καὶ Μαρία ή Ἰωσῆτος ἐθεώρουν ποῦ τέθειται

In the above example, the Greek majority text has the Present Passive Indicative τίθεται instead of the Perfect τέθειται, though it is not clear whether this difference affects the translation. The CPA expression κοω could be analyzed as the expression κοω + Participle translating a Greek Present in indirect discourse, i.e., "he was being placed." On the other hand, κοω can also be analyzed as the non-auxiliary verb κοω accompanied by a T-stem Participle functioning adjectivally, i.e., "he was placed." The latter would make more sense if it is a translation of the Greek Perfect.

6.1.2.3. An Instance Involving a CPA Addition

There is at least 1 instance where the Greek Perfect Passive Indicative is translated in CPA with an expanded interpretative nominal clause (John 19:30 Dam^f).

John 19:30 Damf

[When (?)] then the Lord Jesus took the vinegar that was with the gall, he said, "Fulfilled also is this scripture."

ότε οὖν ἔλαβεν τὸ ὄξος ὁ Ἰησοῦς εἶπεν• *τετέλεσται*

In the above example, the Greek τετέλεσται from τελέω "to finish," which constitutes a one word clause, is clarified or interpreted in the CPA translation by means of an entire clause. On the spelling of χελες "peace," see Müller-Kessler (1991: 48). Here, it is

perhaps used with an extended meaning of something whole or complete. It is noteworthy that the CPA translation of this verse contains an unusual amount of added words. The additions are not due to Greek textual variants in this verse, but the addition of κωία in this verse may be due to σειά χολῆς in that verse.

6.2. TRANSLATION OF SPECIAL TYPES OF GREEK PERFECTS

This section will discuss the CPA translation of two special types of Greek Perfects. The first consists of verbs that are employed in the Perfect to express a present tense. The second consists of the Perphrastic Perfect, which has the same range of meaning as the Perfect Indicative.

6.2.1. Perfect Indicative Verbs That Express the Present Tense

There are 18 instances of the Greek Perfect Indicative that involve verbs that express the present tense with a Perfect morphology. The most frequent of these is οἶδα "to know," which occurs in 17 instances with an attested CPA translation. These are consistently translated by a participial expression employing either the verb or the verb in the majority of instances, it is translated by the CPA expression pronoun + Participle, including 14 instances where both words are clearly visible in at least one manuscript (Matt 21:27 CCR1; 24:42 CCR1, CSRPd; 25:12 CCR1, CSRPd; 25:13 CCR1, CSRPd; 26:72 CSROd; 26:74 CSROd; 27:65 CCR1; 28:5 CCR1; Mark 1:24 CCR1; 4:13 CSROc; John 6:42a CSRPc; 11:22 Damd; 13:17 CCR8; 13:18 CCR8) and 1 instance where the pro-

noun can be reasonably assumed in a lacuna next to the Participle (John 19:35b Dam^t).

Matt. 25:13 CCR1

και και και και και και και και ανα ανα ανα Βε alert, therefore, for you know neither the day nor the hour. γρηγορεῖτε οὖν, ὅτι οὐκ οἴδατε τὴν ἡμέραν οὐδὲ τὴν ὥραν.

In the above example, the Greek Perfect οἴδατε is translated in CPA by the expression pronoun + Participle, مدخه ماهد.

In 2 instances, the Greek Perfect Indicative of οἶδα is translated in CPA by a simple Participle without an accompanying pronoun (Mark 13:32 Dam; John 15:21 CCR8).

John 15:21 CCR8

بهد سلع: مصل <u>محتم</u> هل:

Because *they* do not *know* the One who sent me. ὅτι οὐκ *οἴδασιν* τὸν πέμψαντά με

In the above example the CPA Participle is not accompanied by a pronoun.

Another Greek verb that, like $0\tilde{l}\delta\alpha$, occurs as a Perfect with a present meaning is $\pi\epsilon l\theta\omega$, which means "to trust" in the Perfect, but otherwise means "to persuade." There is only 1 such instance with an attested CPA translation, and it is translated by a CPA Imperfect (Matt. 27:43 CCR1).

Matt. 27:43 CCR1

مصرخ کے غصم

He trusts in God. πέποιθεν ἐπὶ τὸν θεόν

In the above example, the Greek Perfect Indicative πέποιθεν has a general present meaning, and is translated by the CPA Imperfect indicative.

6.2.2. Periphrastic Perfect

In addition to the Greek Perfect Indicatives discussed above, instances of the Periphrastic Perfect, consisting of the Present Indicative of the Periphrastic Perfect Participle, can also be included here, since the Periphrastic Perfect has the same range of meanings as the Perfect Indicative. There are at least 3 instances with attested

CPA translations (Matt. 18:20 CSRPe; John 6:31 CSRPe; 12:14 T-Sa). ⁵⁶ All of these are passive, consisting of the Present Indicative of εἰμί and a Perfect Passive Participle, and all instances are translated by a CPA Passive Participle.

Matt. 18:20 CSRPe

For where two or three *are assembled* in my name, there I am in their midst.

οὖ γάρ εἰσιν δύο ἢ τρεῖς συνηγμένοι εἰς τὸ ἐμὸν ὄνομα, ἐκεῖ εἰμι ἐν μέσφ αὐτῶν

In the example above, the Greek Periphrastic Passive Perfect εἰσιν . . . συνηγμένοι is translated in CPA by a Passive Participle . . . In spite of the periphrastic nature of the Greek expression, none of the attested instances include the verb κοω in CPA translation.

6.3. SUMMARY

In summary, the major distinction in the CPA translation of regular Greek Perfect Indicatives can be seen between active and non-active instances. Most instances of the Greek Perfect Active Indicative are translated in CPA by a Perfect. In a few instances the form is ambiguous and can be analyzed as either Perfect or Active Participle or as either Perfect or adjective. As for the non-active Greek Perfect Indicative, all of which are likely to be Perfect Passive Indicatives based on context, most instances are translated by a CPA nominal clause. The latter consists mostly of a clause containing a Passive Participle, which is in some cases indistinguishable from an adjective, and perhaps 1 instance of a T-stem Participle accompanied by the verb

⁵⁶ Another possible instance occurs in Luke 20:6, πεπεισμένος γάρ ἐστιν. However, there it is more likely that the Greek Perfect Participle functions adjectivally with the verb ἐστιν serving as a copula. It is translated in CPA as in the compact (Luke 20:6 Dame), a Passive Participle followed by a pronoun.

Participle accompanied by Kom translating a Greek Perfect Passive Indicative in a counterfactual hypothetic clause.

Special types of Greek Perfects consist primarily of verbs in the Perfect that express the present tense. These are translated in CPA with expressions that are commonly employed to translate the Greek Present tense, i.e., older is translated with a CPA participial expression and one such instance of $\pi\epsilon l\theta\omega$ is translated with a CPA Imperfect expressing the present. In addition, the only instances of the Greek Periphrastic Perfect with attested CPA translations are passive in voice, and are translated with a CPA Passive Participle without $\kappa a \omega$.

7. THE CPA TRANSLATION OF THE GREEK PLUPERFECT INDICATIVE

The Greek Pluperfect Indicative serves as the past of the Perfect, and is, therefore, in most instances a past resultative. There are 68 instances in the Gospels, of which 13 instances are attested with CPA translations. The instances are few, but they are included here for the sake of completeness. Since none of the Middle or Passive instances are attested with a CPA translation, all of the attested instances are Pluperfect Active Indicative. As in the case of the Greek Perfect Indicative, there are 8 instances of special Pluperfect verbs that need to be discussed separately. These, along with instances of the Periphrastic Pluperfect, which consist of the Imperfect Indicative of εἰμί and a Perfect Participle, will be discussed under the section for special types of Pluperfects in this chapter. Also, an additional section is added to this chapter to discuss 2 instances of the Periphrastic Future Perfect, consisting of the Future Indicative of εἰμί and a Perfect Participle, which does not occur in enough instances to warrant a separate chapter.

7.1. TRANSLATION OF REGULAR GREEK PLUPERFECT INDICATIVES

7.1.1. Translated by CPA Perfects

Of the 5 regular instances of the Greek Pluperfect Indicative, 4 are translated with a CPA Perfect (Mark 14:44 CSRPe; 15:7 CSROe; 15:10 CSROe; John 11:57 T-Sa).57

⁵⁷ In 1 of these instances, the CPA translation is graphically ambivalent and could be alternatively analyzed as an Active Participle, i.e.,

Mark 15:10 CSROe

رن بردة مهر م<u>دهته</u> لانه علي عبر خرمه المرابع عبر خرمه

For he knew that because of envy the chief priests *had handed* him *over*.

έγίνωσκεν γὰρ ὅτι διὰ φθόνον παραδεδώκεισαν αὐτὸν οἱ ἀρχιερεῖς

In the above example, the Greek Pluperfect παραδεδώκεισαν is translated in CPA by the Perfect σων. This instance also happens to occur in indirect discourse. However, it follows a past time antecedent, i.e., the Imperfect ἐγίνωσκεν, and its indirect discourse function matches the normal function and/or translation of the Pluperfect.

7.1.2. Translated by CPA ~om + Participle

There is also 1 instance of a Greek Pluperfect Indicative translated in CPA with the expression $\prec \circ \circ \circ$ + Participle (John 11:30 CSRPd).

John 11:30 CSRPd

حد دده [. . .] حامل ها(معه) خام <u>خام[ح] حمه</u> حلا م*ه عد* عد [دیم] حاملات [دیم] بمتحدار احتا

The Lord Jesus *was* not yet *coming* to the village, [but] was still in the place [where] Martha met him.

οὔπω δὲ ἐληλύθει ὁ Ἰησοῦς εἰς τὴν κώμην, ἀλλ' ἦν ἔτι ἐν τῷ τόπῳ ὅπου ὑπήντησεν αὐτῷ ἡ Μάρθα

In the above example, the Greek $\hat{\epsilon}\lambda\eta\lambda\dot{\upsilon}\theta\epsilon$ t, which is the Pluperfect of $\tilde{\epsilon}\rho\chi\rho\mu\alpha\iota$ "to come," is translated in CPA with the expression $\kappa \circ \sigma + P$ articiple, $\kappa \circ \lambda[\kappa] \kappa \circ \sigma$. The choice is probably either stylistic or idiomatic. That is, the CPA translator preferred to state that Jesus "was not yet coming" (or "had not been coming yet") as opposed to "had not yet come."⁵⁸

(Mark 14:44 CSRP^c). However, the non-ambivalent instances are clearly CPA Perfects, e.g., متابعة (John 11:57 T-S^a).

58 Müller-Kessler (1999: 237) includes the form khr as an example of a Peal Perfect (along with khr, etc.). However, this does not mean that khr rom in John 11:30 could be an instance of rom + Perfect, since such examples come from manuscript A (i.e., the eleventh century Gospel lectionary, Vatican Syr. 19), which is from the late CPA period

7.2. TRANSLATION OF SPECIAL TYPES OF GREEK PLUPERFECTS

This section will discuss the CPA translation of two special types of Greek Pluperfects. The first consists of verbs that are employed in the Perfect with a present meaning and in the Pluperfect with a past rather than pluperfect meaning. The second consists of the Periphrastic Pluperfect, which has the same range of meaning as the Pluperfect Indicative.

7.2.1. Pluperfect Indicative Verbs That Express the Simple Past Tense

There are 8 instances of Greek verbs that occur in the Perfect with a present meaning and in the Pluperfect with a past meaning. These include 5 instances of the verb oloa "to know," 2 instances of $\varepsilon l \omega \theta \alpha$ "to be in the habit of," and 1 instance of $l \omega \eta \mu u$, which in the Perfect ($l \omega \eta \mu u$) means "to stand." In at least 4 instances, the Pluperfect of oloa is translated in CPA with the expression $l \omega u u u$ + Participle, including 3 instances where both the auxiliary and the Participle are at least partially visible (Matt. 24:43 CCR1, CSRPd; Mark 9:6 CSROe; John 11:42 CSRPd)⁵⁹ and 1 instance where $l \omega u u$ stands next to a lacuna in which a Participle can reasonably be assumed to have been (Mark 14:40 CSRPe).

Mark 9:6 CSROe

For he *did* [not] *know* what to answer. οὐ γὰρ *ἤδει* τί ἀποκριθῆ

In the above example, ηδει, which serves as the past tense of οἶδα, is translated in CPA by κοω + the Participle of ωω "to know."

In 1 instance of the Pluperfect of oldante a the CPA translation entails a textual variant (Matt. 27:18 CCR1, CSRO).

and has peculiar orthographic conventions (cf. Müller-Kessler 1999: 39–40). Besides, no unequivocal example of the expression $\prec \alpha \omega \omega +$ Perfect is attested in the corpus.

⁵⁹ The instance in Matt. 24:43 occurs in a counterfactual conditional clause.

Matt. 27:18

(CCR1) איז איז בידי ואר אמינה אריידי וידי וידי איש (CCB1) איז איזי וידי וידי וידי וידי איזי במינט איט (CCBO).

For [look, CSRO^e] *he knew* that because of envy they handed him over.

ήδει γὰρ ὅτι διὰ φθόνον παρέδωκαν αὐτόν

In the above example, there are no Greek textual variants to the Pluperfect not. The form in CSROe can be analyzed either as a Perfect or a Participle. However, it is possible that the reading in CSROe is a scribal error for foo, in which case, the correct reading of this instance is like the previously discussed instances, where the Pluperfect of note is translated in CPA by the expression for the Participle.

Instances of Greek verbs that occur in the Pluperfect with a simple past time meaning also include 2 instances of the verb εἴωθα "to be accustomed to" (Matt. 27:15 CCR1, CSRO^c, CSRP^f; Mark 10:1 CSRO^c).

Matt. 27:15 CCR1

בבר במשל משא מי אמשל הממשא מי אמשל המשא מי אמשל משל שמיל המשא מי אמשל

At every feast, the governor *was in the habit of* releasing one prisoner to the people.

Κατά δὲ ἑορτὴν εἰώθει ὁ ἡγεμὼν ἀπολύειν ἕνα τῷ ὄχλῳ δέσμιον ὃν ἤθελον.

According to Müller-Kessler (1991: 36), the form ΔΔκ in the above example is vocalized / 'elop/, and is analyzed as a Peal Passive Participle from ΔΔ "to learn." Thus, the Greek Pluperfect Active Indicative εἰώθει is translated with a Passive Participle accompanied by Κοφ.

Another Greek verb that occurs in the Pluperfect with a simple past meaning is $\text{\'{i}}\sigma\tau\eta\mu\iota$ "to set, place," whose Perfect $\text{\'{e}}\sigma\tau\eta\kappa\alpha$ means "to stand" (John 7:37 CSROc).

⁶⁰ Bar-Asher (1988: 53–55) also discussed the use of the nominal pattern *qātōl* as an Active Participle in CPA, as is the case in Western Aramaic in general (Kutscher 1976: 30–31). No examples occur in this study.

John 7:37 CSRO^c

ב] השרט ג, בפבא [1] משרט הבא לא הבא הבא האמע בארט. בארט שיים אולי

On the last day of the great feast, the Lord Jesus *stood* and cried out and said.

Έν δὲ τῆ ἐσχάτη ἡμέρα τῆ μεγάλη τῆς ἑορτῆς εἰστήκει ὁ Ἰησοῦς καὶ ἔκραξεν λέγων

In the above example, the Pluperfect εἰστήκει is translated in CPA by Δλα. Although the latter can be analyzed either as a CPA Perfect or Participle, the context favors the analysis as a Perfect.

7.2.2. Periphrastic Pluperfect

In addition to the instances of the Greek Pluperfect Indicative, there are also at least 7 instances of the Periphrastic Pluperfect, which has the same range of meaning as the Pluperfect Indicative.⁶¹ The Periphrastic Pluperfect consists of the Imperfect Indicative of ɛiμi and a Perfect Participle. As can be expected, all instances are translated in CPA by a phrase that contains the verb ເວດ. All instances are non-active, since they have a Greek Perfect Middle-Passive Participle, 6 of which can be analyzed as Passive due to context. In 5 of the 6 passive instances, the CPA translation consists of the verb ເວດ and a Passive Participle (Mark 15:7 CSROe; 15:26 CSROe; 15:46 CSRPc; Luke 9:45 CSRPc, CSRSe; John 12:16 T-Sa).

Mark 15:7 CSRO^e

משם: מלם גיב עבא בינה בל מלה ובבנה בעבא במשם בינה בל וביל מבא בבנה הלה וביל הבינה הלה וביל הבינה הלה בינה הלה ה

And the one that was called Barabbas [or Bar-Rabba] was imprisoned with those who caused unrest, those who in the unrest had committed murder.

⁶¹ Possibly 1 more instance occurs in Luke 1:7. However, that instance is better understood as the verb εἰμί "to be" functioning as a copula, and the Perfect Participle functioning adjectivally (cf. Luke 1:18). In any event, the CPA translation color occlor o

ην δε ὁ λεγόμενος Βαραββᾶς μετὰ τῶν στασιαστῶν δεδεμένος οἴτινες ἐν τῆ στάσει φόνον πεποιήκεισαν

In the above example, the Greek Periphrastic Passive Pluperfect $\hat{\eta}$ ν . . . δεδεμένος is translated in CPA with improvements. Since the CPA expression does not express an imperfective aspect, e.g., "was being imprisoned," it is not equivalent to the expression comparately the Participle in function. Thus, unless there is evidence to the contrary, the Passive Participle in such expressions functions as a nominal or adjectival predicate, and the verb com is not an auxiliary.

In 1 instance the Periphrastic Passive Pluperfect is translated in CPA with the verb **~oo** and a verbal adjective (Matt. 26:43 CCR1, CSRPd).

Matt. 26:43 CCR1

Αnd he found them asleep, for their eyes were heavy. εὖρεν αὐτοὺς καθεύδοντας, ἦσαν γὰρ αὐτῶν οἱ ὀφθαλμοὶ βεβαρημένοι

Burton (1898: 45) cited the above example as a Periphrastic Pluperfect. It could be argued that the above example is not a true Greek Periphrastic Pluperfect, but simply a past time copulative sentence with a Perfect Participle functioning adjectivally. On the other hand, it must also be acknowledged that periphrasis in Greek can also occur with verbal adjectives (Turner 1963: 89). In any event, the CPA translation employs a verbal adjective.

There is also 1 instance of a Greek Periphrastic Middle-Passive Pluperfect with a middle rather than passive function. Its CPA translation is like that of its passive counterparts, i.e., it is translated with the verb rand a Passive Participle (Mark 1:6 CCR1).

Mark 1:6 CCR1

המנגש לביצ שבו ז' בכל מומא המצא בעוד פ. ה. And John was dressed in camel's hair with a leather belt on his waist.

καὶ ην ὁ Ἰωάννης ἐνδεδυμένος τρίχας καμήλου καὶ ζώνην δερματίνην περὶ τὴν ὀσφὺν αὐτοῦ

In the above example, the Greek Periphrastic expression has a Perfect Middle Participle and is translated in CPA by and a Passive Participle.

7.3. THE CPA TRANSLATION OF THE GREEK PERIPHRASTIC FUTURE PERFECT

The Greek Periphrastic Future Perfect consists of the Future of eiui and a Perfect Participle. Just as the Perfect/Periphrastic Perfect expresses a present resultative and the Pluperfect/Periphrastic Pluperfect expresses a past resultative, so the Periphrastic Future Perfect expresses a future resultative. Inasmuch as the Greek Future Perfect Indicative does not occur in the New Testament, and the 2 instances of the Greek Periphrastic Future Perfect attested with CPA translation in this corpus do not warrant a separate chapter, I decided to include its discussion under the present chapter. Both attested instances are Passive, both occur in the same verse, and both are translated in CPA with the Imperfect of con and a Passive Participle (Matt. 18:18a,b CSRPe).

Matt. 18:18 CSRPe

دحه د ده دهمین حل کامی همین دیم عمدند: محمد دیم دهمین می میمین دیم عمدند دیمید

Whatever you bind on earth *will be bound* in heaven, and whatever you loosen on earth *will be loosed* in heaven.

ὄσα ἐὰν δήσητε ἐπὶ τῆς γῆς ἔσται δεδεμένα ἐν οὐρανῷ, καὶ ὅσα ἐὰν λύσητε ἐπὶ τῆς γῆς ἔσται λελυμένα ἐν οὐρανῶ

In the above example, the Periphrastic Passive Future Perfects are translated in CPA with and in and in it., i.e., the Imperfect of rom followed by the Passive Participle.

⁶² Although it can be analyzed as either an Active or a Passive Participle, the context favors the analysis as a Passive Participle. Also, though the Passive Participle in the can have a nominal function as adjective or noun, the verbal meaning seems more likely here.

7.4. SUMMARY

In summary, all instances of the Greek Pluperfect Indicative with attested CPA translations are Active in terms of morphology. Regular Pluperfects are mostly translated with a CPA Perfect, though there is also 1 instance of ram + Participle. Instances of Greek Pluperfects with a past rather than pluperfect meaning are variously translated: the Pluperfect of οἶδα is translated in CPA with κοω + Participle; the Pluperfect of εἴωθα with a Passive Participle accompanied by <a>o, and the only instance of a Pluperfect of ιστημι with a form that could be analyzed either as Perfect or Participle. In contrast to the instances of the Greek Pluperfect Indicative, there are no instances of Periphrastic Active Pluperfects. Most Periphrastic Passive Pluperfect instances are translated in CPA with Kom accompanied by a Passive Participle and in 1 instance by rom and a verbal adjective. In 1 instance a Greek Periphrastic Middle Pluperfect is translated in CPA by com and a Passive Participle. All instances of Periphrastic Pluperfects are translated by a phrase that contains the verb con.

The only 2 instances of the Periphrastic Future Perfect attested with CPA translation in the corpus are Passive, and are rendered in CPA with the Imperfect of room followed by a word that is best analyzed as a Passive Participle.

8. TRANSLATION TECHNIQUE AND CPA VERBAL FUNCTION

In the study of translated texts, the starting point for the study of translation technique consists of the source text and its language, i.e., the text and the language from which the translation is made, whereas the starting point for grammatical studies consists of the translated text and the target language in which the translation was made. However, as was stated in the beginning, because virtually all extant CPA texts are translations, an adequate description of the CPA verbal system cannot be done without attention to translation technique. It was also explained that in some ways a translated text can afford a greater degree of objectivity in the grammatical description of tense and aspect. Moreover, the presence of textual, stylistic, and/or idiomatic variation in an otherwise literal translation provides useful clues not only concerning the nature of the CPA translation, but also the functions of CPA verbs. Thus, translation technique is an important piece of evidence in the study of morphosyntactic function. Therefore, this research explored both translation technique and the function of the CPA verbs in the New Testament Gospels.

8.1. OBSERVATIONS ON TRANSLATION TECHNIQUE

The most common phenomena in CPA translation of the Greek Indicative verbs are definitely not extraordinary. That is, the Greek Imperfect Indicative is mostly translated by the CPA expression + Participle, the Greek Present Indicative by the CPA expression pronoun + Participle, the Greek Future Indicative by the CPA Imperfect, and the Greek Aorist, Perfect, and Pluperfect Indicatives by the CPA Perfect. This is the ordinary way one would expect an Aramaic translation to render these Greek tenses, and, thus, the majority of instances require no comment.

In general, the CPA translation of the Gospels can be characterized as literal. That is, the CPA translators attempted to stay very close to the wording of the Greek original. The fact that the language of the CPA Gospels is influenced by the Greek original is especially evident in the fact that historical and futuristic instances of the Greek Present Indicative are more frequently translated by CPA Participles than Greek Aorist and Future Indicatives. This will be discussed in more detail below.

On the other hand, it is apparent that the CPA Gospels were not mechanically translated. The clearest evidence of some room for stylistic variation comes from the fact that every Greek tense has two or more ways in which it is translated in CPA. Although, some of these involve idiomatic expressions that cannot be translated literally, one cannot deny that there are instances that are solely due to the stylistic choice of the translator. Examples include leaving out a repetition of the verb διδωμί in John 14:27 T-S^c, as well as the addition of extra words in John 19:30 Dam^f (see chapter six, section 6.1.2.3.).

Further evidence for stylistic variation comes from a number of words analyzed in this study that showed variations in the CPA forms chosen for translation, mostly synonyms. For example, the verb οἶδα is translated by both ... (e.g., Matt. 21:27 CCR1) and בב (e.g., Matt. 25:12 CCR1). The same is true of γινώσκω, which is translated both by مده (e.g., Mark 13:28a CSRPe; 15:10 CSROe) and in (e.g., Luke 10:22a CSROc). See especially Matt. 24:50b, which has a textual variant between عند (CCR1) and نعند (CSROe). Similarly, γίνομαι is translated both by the Peal of κοπ (e.g., Luke 11:26 CSRPc) and the Itpael of ____ (e.g., Mark 2:21 CCR1; 11:23 CSRPe). Compare the translation of σαλευθήσονται in parallel passages, محمدة, Itpalpal of محمد, (Matt. 24:29 CSRPd) and المعالمة, Itpaal of المعالمة, (Mark 13:25 CSRPe and Dam), both meaning "they will be shaken." Also, the CPA translation of the Greek Perfect σέσωκεν from σώζω "to save" can be literal, אישאל from "to live" in Afel "to save" (Luke 17:19 CSRSe; 18:42 CSRSc), or idiomatic, معمو "to heal" (Mark 10:52 CRSOe).

A degree of stylistic latitude in translation is also suggested by intra-CPA textual variants, i.e., variants not motivated by textual variants in the Greek Vorlage. Examples include textual variants of grammatical forms such as between a Peal Imperfect and a T-stem (Itpael) Imperfect of the same word (Mark 13:22 CSRPe, Dam), the

Passive Participle with 🗸 on and without it (e.g., John 11:38 CSRPd, Dama), the Active Participle and the Imperfect (e.g., Matt. 24:12 CSRPd, CSROe; 24:50 CCR1, CSROe, CSRPd; 24:51 CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; Luke 9:49 CSRPc, CSRSe), the expression pronoun + Participle and the Imperfect (e.g., Matt. 24:47 CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe; 24:51 CCR1, CSRPd, CSROe), the Active Participle and the Perfect (e.g., Mark 2:18 CCR1, CSRGd), and possibly also 🗸 on + Participle and the Perfect or the simple Participle alone (e.g., Matt. 27:18 CCR1, CSROe). Other examples include variants between masculine and feminine (e.g., Matt. 25:2 CCR1, CSRPd) and between the presence or absence of 🖍 on serving as copula (e.g., Matt. 25:2 CCR1, CSROe, CSRPd). The last example is worth commenting on:

Matt. 25:2

[CCR1] (απο [CCR1]) απος [CCR1] ([CCR1]) ασις $[CSRO^e]$ ([CCR1]) $[CSRO^e]$ ([CCR1]) $[CSRP^d]$ ($[CCRP^d]$) $[CSRP^d]$ πέντε δὲ ἐξ αὐτῶν $[[CCRP^d]$ πέντε φρόνιμοι.

In the above example, there are no textual variants to the Greek ησαν, Imperfect of εἰμί "to be." However, there are intra-CPA textual variants between masculine and feminine forms of κοσ (com CCR1 and σσ CSROe respectively) and a nominal sentence without κοσ (CSRPd), not to mention the variant in the synonyms σω (CCR1, CSRPd) and κλε (CSROe), both meaning "foolish." As a matter of fact, both CCR1 and CSRPd use masculine verbs where CRSOe uses feminine verbs for the entire parable (vv. 1–13). However, all three witnesses use the masculine in v. 10, even where the Greek is feminine (αὶ ἕτοιμοι).

Thus, though one must acknowledge some Greek influence on CPA usage in the Gospels, it would be wrong to view the CPA texts as simply "translation Aramaic." Examples of idiomatic translations and stylistic variation in CPA suggest that, notwithstanding the influence of Greek usage on the CPA translation, the latter also bears witness to the native Aramaic syntax. That is, the CPA text contains authentic, albeit translated, Aramaic. It is not possible in this limited study to determine the full extent of Greek influence on the CPA text, but the latter is nevertheless a text that would be understood by native speakers of CPA.

In what follows, the foregoing study on CPA translation technique is explored for evidence concerning morphosyntactic function in the CPA verbal system. Before proceeding to the next section, however, I must make two additional important comments. First, although I argued here that the CPA translation is not mechanical, and that, therefore, translation technique can shed light on the functions of the CPA verbs, it must also be acknowledged that translation technique does not tell us everything about the Aramaic verb. Second, although translation technique sheds light on the functions of the CPA verbs, one cannot assume that nothing else is known about them. Therefore, one cannot discuss the functions of the CPA verbs on the basis of translation technique alone, but rather translation technique furnishes us with important clues that must be evaluated in the context of comparative synchronic and diachronic evidence.

The format of the ensuing discussion will be as follows. For each CPA construction to be discussed, a brief description will be given along with a summary of the Greek Indicative constructions that it translates, followed by a discussion of the function of the CPA construction. Since many examples are given in the previous chapters, I attempted to avoid repeating CPA examples that were already cited in earlier chapters, though some repetition is inevitable. Also, since the bulk of this chapter deals with the CPA verbal system, it was not always necessary to give the Greek text (nor the English translation) for the CPA examples cited in this chapter.

8.2. OBSERVATIONS ON THE CPA VERBAL SYSTEM

8.2.1. The CPA Perfect

The CPA Perfect is attested in the translation of past tense forms (the Greek Present Indicative expressing historical present and the Aorist Indicative, perhaps also the Imperfect Indicative), resultative forms (the Greek Perfect and Pluperfect Indicative), and some conditional clauses. Thus, the primary function of the CPA Perfect is the expression of past time. Its employment in conditional clauses is part of the common cross-linguistic phenomenon of the employment of past tense forms for the expression of hypothetical and counterfactual modality (Palmer 2001: 203–221). In addition to its function as past tense, the fact that the CPA Perfect translates the Greek Perfect and Pluperfect Indicatives suggests that the for-

mer may also express a perfect function. Compare the following examples:

Matt. 21:36 CCR1

وحجده لحمه ح محمر:

έποίησαν αὐτοῖς ὡσαύτως

Luke 1:25 CSROc

זבו ב בבו ל מוץ

ότι ούτως μοι *πεποίηκεν* κύριος

Mark 15:7 CSROe

ωίτινες ἐν τῆ στάσει φόνον πεποιήκεισαν

All three examples above contain translations of the Greek verb ποιέω "to do," and all are translated with a CPA Perfect of the verb عدد "to do." However, the Greek verb is an Aorist in Matt. 21:36 (ἐποίησαν), a Perfect in Luke 1:25 (πεποίηκεν), and a Pluperfect in Mark 15:7 (πεποιήκεισαν).

The fact that the CPA Perfect is employed to translate the Greek Perfect and Pluperfect Indicatives does not in itself prove that the former has a perfect function. However, there are two reasons why it is plausible to posit that the CPA Perfect has a perfect function in addition to its primary past tense function. First, as mentioned in the introductory chapter, there is a diachronic relationship between the perfect and past functions. That is, resultatives tend to grammaticalize into anteriors, and anteriors into perfectives or past tenses (Bybee, Perkins, and Pagliuca 1994: 51-105), and, in the process, older functions may persist. Thus, it is not unusual for some languages to have a past tense grammatical form that continues to express perfect notions. Second, whereas the Passive of other Greek tenses are translated in CPA mostly by T-stem forms, Greek Perfect and Pluperfect Passives are mostly translated by CPA Passive Participles. Since the latter expresses a passive perfect/resultative sense (see the discussions on the Passive Participle below in sections 8.2.3 and 8.2.4), it is reasonable to conclude that the CPA Perfect can also denote an active perfect sense. Unfortunately, there are too few perfect instances to determine whether this perfect function is resultative or anterior.

The expression <a>m + Perfect occurs in some forms of late ancient Aramaic, e.g., in Syriac (Nöldeke 1904: 206). However, no unambiguous CPA examples of these were attested in the translation of Greek Indicative verbs in the present study.

8.2.2. The CPA Imperfect

The CPA Imperfect may be attested in a few instances in the translation of Greek verbs expressing present time (the Greek Present Indicative expressing present time, the Aorist Indicative with a present meaning, and the Perfect Indicative with present meaning). It is more frequently attested in the translation of forms expressing future time (the Greek Present Indicative functioning as futuristic present and the Future Indicative). It is also attested in some types of modality (e.g., in the translation of some instances of the Greek Aorist Indicative). In a few instances, the Imperfect may fit Schulthess' (1924: 87) description of a relative future (Matt. 2:22 CCR3; 24:39 CSRPd; Mark 6:45 CSROe), though modality may be an alternative explanation, since they occur in subordinate clauses.

The following examples illustrate the CPA Imperfect in present and future contexts:

Mark 2:7 CCR1

:κωλκ τω καλκ κλέω ραστα Δοκ [...] τίς δύναται ἀφιέναι ἁμαρτίας εἰ μὴ εἶς ὁ θεός;

Mark 11:23 CSRPe

مه معرد: مع الم عمل مع المعالم المعالم

καὶ μὴ διακριθῆ ἐν τῆ καρδία αὐτοῦ ἀλλὰ πιστεύη ὅτι ὅ λαλεῖ γίνεται, ἔσται αὐτῷ

John 6:39 CSRPc

مراء المرابع المرابع

άλλὰ ἀναστήσω αὐτὸ τῆ ἐσχάτη ἡμέρα

The above examples illustrate the employment of the CPA Imperfect in the expression of the present (Mark 2:7) and the future (John 6:39), including future instances that are translations of the Greek futuristic present (Mark 11:23).

A brief comment can be made concerning the few instances of the CPA Imperfect that translate Greek present time expressions. These include at least 2 instances that translate the Present Indicative (Mark 2:7 CCR1; 7:6 CSRPe, possibly also Matt. 24:50 CSRPd; Mark 14:41 CSRPe; Luke 9:49 CSRSe), 2 instances that

translate the Aorist Indicative expressing a general present (i.e., a dramatic or gnomic Aorist) (John 15:8 T-Sc; 15:15 T-Sc), and 1 instance that translates the Perfect Indicative of $\pi\epsilon i\theta\omega$, which has a present meaning (Matt. 27:43 CCR1). These instances occur in contexts where the Greek verbs may be explained as expressing the general present rather than the actual present. However, it must be acknowledged that distinction between general and actual present is not always clear. Besides, the CPA translator may have interpreted it differently. Hence, although it is possible that the present time function of the CPA Imperfect may be limited to general presents, the paucity of instances does not allow for definite conclusions. 63

The semantic overlap between the CPA Participle and the Imperfect in the expression of the present and the future can be illustrated, inter alia, by intra-CPA textual variants. The following are examples:

In the above examples, since there are no textual variants in the Greek Vorlage, the CPA variants are due to stylistic variation

⁶³ Joosten (2002) noticed that the Biblical Hebrew Imperfect expressed the general present but not the actual present. The same is true of the Aramaic of Daniel (Li 2009: 101–103, 149–151).

among the translators. The same Greek Present and Future Indicative verbs are translated in CPA either with a (pronoun +) Participle (Matt. 24:12 CSRP^d; 24:47 CCR1; 24:50 CCR1, CSRO^e) or with an Imperfect (Matt. 24:12 CSRO^e; 24:47 CSRP^d, CSRO^e; 24:50 CSRP^d).

An interesting illustration of the semantic overlap between the CPA Imperfect and the Participle comes from the translation of the Greek Periphrastic Future, consisting of the Future of ɛiμi and a Present Participle. In 1 instance the verb "to be" is translated in CPA with the Imperfect of ເດດ (Mark 13:25 CSRPe, Dam), and in 2 instances with the expression pronoun + Participle of ເດດ (Matt. 24:9 CSROe; Luke 1:20 CSROe).

Mark 13:25 CSRPe

καὶ οἱ ἀστέρες *ἔσονται* ἐκ τοῦ οὐρανοῦ πίπτοντες

Matt. 24:9 CSROe

καὶ *ἔσεσθε μισούμενοι* ὑπὸ πάντων τῶν ἐθνῶν διὰ τὸ ὄνομά μου

Luke 1:20 CSROc

DAZ KOM AK KOM

καὶ ἰδοὺ ἔση σιωπῶν

In the above examples, the Future of the auxiliary ɛiμi, is translated by a CPA Imperfect of rom in Mark 13:25 and by the expression pronoun + Participle of rom, i.e., rom rom in Matt. 24:9 and rom hr in Luke 1:20. Both types of expressions function as auxiliary to a following Participle, and there is no detectable difference in meaning between them.

Although there is some overlap in the functions of the (pronoun +) Participle and the Imperfect, it is clear that the CPA Participle is more frequently employed in the present tense, and the Imperfect more frequently in the future tense. Moreover, since this study focused on the translation of Greek Indicative verbs, modal instances of the CPA Imperfect are not fully represented.

The expression <code><-com + Imperfect</code> occurs in some forms of late ancient Aramaic, e.g., Syriac (Nöldeke 1904: 209) and Samaritan Aramaic (Vilsker 1981: 84). However, no CPA examples were

attested in the translation of Greek Indicative verbs in the present study.

8.2.3. The CPA Participles

Aramaic Participles have both nominal and verbal functions. Nevertheless, since the instances discussed in this book are translations of Greek finite verbs, all CPA Participles discussed in this study have a predicate function. In terms of voice, however, it is clear that there is no one-to-one relationship between Greek and CPA. The CPA translation is often idiomatic in nature. There are at least three Participles in CPA. In addition to the Active and Passive Participles of active stems, the T-stems also have a Participle. Whereas the non-active forms of the Greek Imperfect, Aorist, Present, and Future Indicative non-deponent verbs are often translated in CPA with T-stem forms, the non-active forms of Greek Perfect and Pluperfect Indicatives are regularly translated with CPA Passive Participles. The difference is due to the fact that, though both the CPA T-stem and Passive Participles may overlap in the expression of some non-active notions, Passive Participles function more frequently as resultatives. That is, the usual non-active form of the CPA Perfect expressing the simple past is the T-stem Perfect, whereas the usual non-active form of the Perfect expressing the anterior/resultative is the Passive Participle. The evidence supports Goldenberg's (1992) observation of a relationship between the perfect aspect and the Aramaic Passive Participle.⁶⁴ The following are some examples of CPA T-stem forms that translate Greek Aorist Passive Indicatives with simple past meaning:

Mark 1:9c CCR1

عبات کید حسون میں بی مربع تصوب

⁶⁴ It appears that Farina (2007–08) misunderstood an earlier article of mine (Li 2008) in her assessment that I had disagreed with Goldenberg. In fact, my article agreed with Goldenberg's observation that the Aramaic Passive Participle had a resultative sense, but added that, since the T-stem forms can also function as the passive/non-active counterpart of the Active forms, the study of Aramaic Participles involves three forms rather than only two.

Luke 1:26 CCR3

Contrast the above examples with the following CPA Passive Participles that translate Greek Perfect Passive Indicatives:

Mark 16:4 CSRPc

معتسر صعه حمله:

Luke 19:46 Dam^c

The above examples employ the CPA Passive Participle in the translation of the Greek Perfect Passive Indicative. Thus, one can distinguish the non-active simple past tense function of the CPA T-stem Perfect from the resultative function of the CPA Passive Participle.

Therefore, T-stem Participles are treated as the non-active counterpart of the Active Participles, and are included in the tally of the expressions $\kappa \sim +$ Participle and (pronoun +) Participle. On the other hand, Passive Participles function more often as resultatives, and are, therefore, treated separately.

Active and T-stem Participles occur in at least two types of attested CPA verbal participial constructions, the expression <code>con+</code> Participle and the construction (pronoun +) Participle. In what follows, the said constructions will be discussed in more detail, followed by a discussion of the Passive Participle. It is important to highlight here that the discussion is limited to the verbal and/or predicate functions of these Participles, and is not a complete survey of all their functions.

8.2.3.1. ≺o⊕ + Participle

As is the case with Western Aramaic dialects in general, the verb $\prec \alpha m$ in the expression $\prec \alpha m$ + Participle precedes the Participle, and in some cases serves as auxiliary to a series of two or more Participles. In contrast, in Eastern Aramaic, such as Syriac, the normal word order is Participle + $\prec \alpha m$.

The construction $\prec \alpha \omega$ + Participle is mostly employed to translate the Greek Imperfect Indicative, the Periphrastic Imperfect, and the Pluperfect of $oi\delta\alpha$. There are a few instances where it translates the Present Indicative (in the case of historical presents and Presents of past actions still in progress), the Aorist Indicative

(in conditional clauses and with verbs of speaking), and at least once the Perfect Indicative (in a hypothetical clause). The verb com is a CPA Perfect in virtually all attested instances of com + Participle translating Greek Indicative verbs. The Imperfect of com + Participle is rare, but is attested once in the translation of a Greek Future Indicative and once in the translation of a Greek Periphrastic Future, where it has the same function as the 2 attested instances of the expression pronoun + Participle of com + Participle (see the discussion in section 8.2.2 above).

In passing, it should be mentioned that, as can be expected, the expression Imperative of rom + Participle occurs in CPA in the translation of some Greek Imperatives (e.g., Mark 11:24 CSRPe), but it is not attested in the translation of Greek Indicative verbs.

In terms of function, the CPA construction kappa + Participle generally expresses some type of imperfective aspect. Since imperfective aspect encompasses both progressive and habitual notions, evidence for the imperfective function of <math>
kappa + Participle is found in the fact that it is employed in the translation of Greek Imperfects expressing both the past progressive and the past habitual. For examples, see chapter two. As for the few instances of Imperfect kappa + Participle, due to the paucity of instances, it is not possible to determine whether the construction expresses imperfective aspect in future time or whether it is simply a "periphrastic" future tense. The rest of the discussion deals with Perfect kappa + Participle.

Although it is clear that the construction kan + Participle is a past imperfective construction, it does not follow that the Greek
Imperfect Indicative and the CPA construction kan + Participle have the same range of meanings and usage. As mentioned earlier,
although imperfective constructions express both progressive and
habitual aspects, they do not always express the exact same range
of meanings across languages. Thus, although it is possible that the
CPA translations of Greek inceptive and tendential Imperfects with kan + Participle are due to the fact that this construction expressed the said notions (see examples in chapter two, sections
2.2.3.1 and 2.2.4.1), the few attested instances cannot prove it, especially since the Greek Imperfect can be variously interpreted.
Furthermore, Fanning (1990: 191–192, 252–253) explained that the
inceptive notion in Greek is based on the discourse rather than

Additionally, the CPA construction 🗝 + Participle is often employed in counterfactual hypothetic or conditional clauses, in both the protasis (Matt. 24:43 CCR1, CSRPd; John 14:28 T-Sc) and the apodosis (Matt. 24:43 CCR1, CSRPd; Mark 13:20 CSRPe, Dam; John 11:21 Damd; 11:32 CSRPd, Dama). See the discussion below on conditional clauses in section 8.2.6.1.

8.2.3.2. (Pronoun +) Participle

More often than not, the Participle without <code><am>com</code> occurs with a personal pronoun, which was labeled in this study "pronoun + Participle." The fact that the pronoun agrees with the subject of the Participle indicates that it serves as a marker of personal agreement rather than as the copula or focus marker. The pronoun usually precedes the Participle, but may also occur after it, and in some cases may even be an enclitic, without any noticeable difference in meaning. The pronoun may also serve as a personal marker for two or more Participles. Further, the presence or absence of the pronoun seems to be optional, which means that the simple Participle by itself is a variant of the construction pronoun + Participle, and the actual construction could also be labeled "(pronoun +) Participle."

Throughout this study, the simple Participle by itself and the expression pronoun + Participle have been listed separately in the analysis. The following can be said about each one. The expression pronoun + Participle occurs mostly in the translation of the Greek

⁶⁵ Here the label "tendential" is used as an umbrella term for tendential (i.e., at the point of happening), conative (i.e., attempted), and voluntative (i.e., desired) notions. These denote actions that did not come to successful completion. Fanning prefers the label "conative."

Present Indicative (including true present, historical present, and futuristic present), in the translation of the Perfect Indicative of οἶδα, often in the translation of the Future Indicative, and rarely in the translation of the Aorist Indicative. It might also occur in the apodosis of conditional sentences, translating a Greek Imperfect Indicative (John 15:19 T-Sd), or perhaps an Aorist Indicative (John 15:6 T-S^c). In terms of function, it overlaps with the CPA Imperfect (see below). As for the Participle by itself without either the auxiliary <a on or the personal pronoun, it occurs in the translation of all tenses, i.e., in the past (including the Greek Imperfect Indicative, the Present Indicative functioning as historical present, and the Aorist Indicative), present (the Greek Present Indicative functioning as true present and the Perfect Indicative of πείθω with a present meaning), and future (including the Greek Future Indicative and the Present Indicative functioning as futuristic present). The simple Participle also occurs in conditional clauses (Matt. 24:22 CSRPd; perhaps also John 15:6 T-Sd). Notice the CPA textual variant in John 15:6 between the presence of the pronoun (T-Sc) and its absence (T-Sd).

However, though the simple Participle alone and the expression pronoun + Participle were separately analyzed throughout this study, for most regular verbs they are variant forms of the same grammatical construction. That is, the pronoun in the expression pronoun + Participle is optional, and its presence or absence results in no noticeable difference in meaning. One potentially significant difference that can be observed between the simple Participle and the expression pronoun + Participle is that the first occurs in a few instances in the translation of the Greek Imperfect Indicative but the latter does not. It is possible, however, to explain that difference as due to the paucity of instances where the Participle without con translates the Greek Imperfect in this corpus. 66 Since the majority of instances of the simple Participle alone occur in the

⁶⁶ Note, however, that in the translation of the Greek Present Indicative expressing past actions still in progress, the CPA translation employs both κοω + Participle (Matt. 23:29 CSRO^e, where the verb οοω serves as auxiliary to two CPA Participles) and pronoun + Participle (Mark 8:2 CSRP^e).

translation of the Greek Present Indicative, and a sizable number of instances occur in the translation of the Future Indicative, its distribution is not very different from that of the expression pronoun + Participle. Further, there are instances where the personal pronoun was added to the CPA Perfect even where the Greek original did not have one (e.g., Mark 2:3 CCR1; 11:27 CSRPe; 15:17 CCR8), which indicates that the addition of a pronoun is not a phenomenon restricted to the Participle.

The majority of instances of the CPA construction (pronoun +) Participle occur in present time contexts. The construction is employed for both general presents and actual presents, as well as performatives. For examples, see chapter three. However, this construction is not limited to the expression of the present tense. It also occurs frequently in future time contexts, occasionally in past time contexts, and often in conditional clauses.

The above examples show the expression (pronoun +) Participle in past (Mark 8:22), present (Matt. 23:20), and future (Mark 11:2) contexts. For further examples, see chapters three to five.

The fact that the CPA construction (pronoun +) Participle occurs in all tenses merits some further comment. The past time function of the Aramaic Participle has been labeled "historical present," but this borrowing of Greek and Latin grammatical terminology in the description of Aramaic morphosyntax is inconsistent, since its future time function is not labeled "futuristic present." Both functions are attested in CPA, but it will be argued here that the labels are not the most appropriate.

There are at least three reasons why the label "historical present" is not the most appropriate for the attested function. First, a large number of instances are due primarily to translation technique rather than to Aramaic usage. Based on the comparison of the translation of the Greek historical present and the Aorist Indica-

tive, as well as the Greek futuristic present and the Future Indicative, there appears to be a tendency to translate the Greek Present Indicative in CPA with the expression (pronoun +) Participle regardless of whether it denotes a past, present, or future action. Although the most common CPA translation of both the Greek historical present and the Aorist Indicative consists of a CPA Perfect, there is a noticeable difference in the proportion of instances translated by a participial expression. Orthographically clear instances of the CPA expression (pronoun +) Participle translate a significantly larger proportion of Greek historical presents than Greek Aorist Indicatives. That is, excluding orthographically ambiguous instances and special types of verbs such as those that introduce direct speech, historical presents are translated by 6 instances of (pronoun +) Participle and 20 instances of Perfects (there are also 2 instances where there is a CPA textual variant between Participle and Perfect), whereas Aorist indicatives are translated by 6 instances of (pronoun +) Participle and 372 instances of Perfect.⁶⁷ Similarly, there is a noticeable difference between the proportion of CPA participial expressions employed in the translation of the Greek futuristic present and the Future Indicative. The Greek futuristic present is translated mostly by (pronoun +) Participle and in a minority of instances by the Imperfect (23 Participles to 6 Imperfects in orthographically clear instances), whereas the Greek Future. on the other hand, is translated in the majority of instances by the Imperfect and in a minority of instances by (pronoun +) Participle (101 Imperfects to 51 Participles in orthographically clear instances). It is possible, of course, that some of the instances of Greek historical and futuristic presents were understood by the CPA translators as true presents, but that does not account for all instances. Thus, many of the instances of (pronoun +) Participle in past or future contexts are best explained as due to translation technique rather than Aramaic usage. This is also an example of

⁶⁷ It must also be acknowledged that there are 13 instances of Greek historical presents and 136 instances of Aorist Indicatives that are translated by orthographically ambiguous CPA forms that could be analyzed as either Participle or Perfect. However, one would expect the ratio of the ambiguous instances to be similar to that of the clear instances.

how the study of grammatical function in CPA must pay attention to translation technique.

However, since the CPA (pronoun +) Participle is also used in the translation of the Greek Aorist and Future Indicatives, not all instances can be ascribed to a translation technique. Thus, although the extent to which CPA would normally employ the Participle in past time or future time contexts is much more limited than what is attested in a translated text, one cannot deny that the CPA Participles can have these functions. That brings us to the second reason why the label "historical present" is not the most appropriate for this function, that is, past time instances of the Participle that are not due to translation technique can be explained as contextually based. Schulthess (1924: 87) listed two types of past time functions of the CPA Participle, i.e., Participles in subordinate clauses and Participles expressing a vivid description following a Perfect. There are very few instances of Schulthess' first category in this study, because it was based on Greek Indicative instances, and most orthographically clear instances of (pronoun) + Participle in this study occur in main clauses. As for Schulthess' (1924: 87) second type of past time Participles, those expressing a vivid depiction of a past action, it is significant that, as he observed, these Participles occur following a Perfect (see also Margolis 1910: 80-81 for Babylonian Talmudic Aramaic). Aside from instances in conditional clauses and those introducing direct speech, all attested instances of (pronoun +) Participle translating the Greek Aorist Indicative occur after a CPA Perfect (Matt. 25:1 CSROe; 28:8 CCR1; Mark 1:29 CCR1; Luke 18:28 CSRSc).

Matt. 25:1 CSROe

αἴτινες λαβοῦσαι τὰς λαμπάδας ἑαυτῶν ἔξῆλθον εἰς ὑπάντησιν τοῦ νυμφίου

Matt. 28:8 CCR1

המבי אווא כן מביואא בגעלא יבא הבענהא המדי אווא בא מביואא בישה

Καὶ ἀπελθοῦσαι ταχὺ ἀπὸ τοῦ μνημείου μετὰ φόβου καὶ χαρᾶς μεγάλης *ἔδραμον* ἀπαγγεῖλαι τοῖς μαθηταῖς αὐτοῦ.

Mark 1:29 CCR1

יוארנים ארבי בתידע אישר אישר ומיהבי אי אניד פיניאט נסיהבי איא הייא פיניאט נסיהבי איארנים

Καὶ εὐθὺς ἐκ τῆς συναγωγῆς ἐξελθόντες ηλθον εἰς τὴν οἰκίαν Σίμωνος καὶ Ἀνδρέου μετὰ Ἰακώβου καὶ Ἰωάννου

Luke 18:28 CSRSc

م نامع کے جوبرہ مرامہ محمد

ήμεις ἀφέντες τὰ ἴδια ήκολουθήσαμέν σοι.

In each of the above examples, the CPA (pronoun +) Participle in past time occurs after a Perfect. What is even more significant is that all these instances involve a reversal of the syntax of the Greek. That is, the Greek sequence Participle + Aorist Indicative was reversed in CPA as Perfect + Participle. This reversal occurs even in some instances of verbs that introduce direct speech (e.g., Luke 9:12 CSROc; 9:19 CSROc; 11:27 CSRPc).

Luke 9:12 CSROc

معتدم لاه الانحمة الم المعتب الم

προσελθόντες δὲ οἱ δώδεκα εἶπαν αὐτῷ

Luke 9:19 CSROc

מט ביר א אביר מאמדים

οί δὲ ἀποκριθέντες εἶπαν

Luke 11:27 CSRPc

ω κίτως κωλος ας ο ωλο κίπεν αὐτῷ ἔπάρασά τις φωνὴν γυνὴ ἐκ τοῦ ὄχλου εἶπεν αὐτῷ

The fact that these instances of the CPA Participle in past time occur after the Perfect, and that the CPA translator even reversed the order of the Greek syntax to place the Perfect first, suggests that the Participle does not itself express past time, but can have a past time function when the context indicates the temporal sphere. Thus, besides instances that are due to translation technique, the past time function of the CPA Participle appears restricted to instances where the past time is clearly expressed elsewhere in the context, especially by a preceding Perfect verb.

On the other hand, the fact that the past time function of the CPA Participle is contextually conditioned does not necessarily mean that it has no aspectual value. The occasional translation of the Greek Imperfect Indicative by the simple Participle without was suggests either that the past time auxiliary was may be optional, or at least the possibility that the Participle alone without was could also express an imperfective notion. Although the instances are few, they are worth mentioning.

Matt. 2:18 CCR3

مسههاء بحت مراه

Mark 4:8 CSROc

[مر]من بول [. . .] محم لحدة [ساح ومتاح [ماصلم الماصل الم

Luke 2:3 CSROc

שמר שוע הער קטר שאריו ביטון אות הטר שוע העניתשט

In the above examples, "she [did not] want" (Matt. 2:18 CCR3) can be described as a past stative continuous, whereas the other instances, "and they kept bringing forth" (Mark 4:8 CSRO°) and "they were going" (Luke 2:3 CSRO°), occur in contexts that suggest a distributive notion, i.e., individual acts of multiple agents (Wallace 1996: 546), and by extension a past habitual/iterative aspect. In the example from Mark 4:8, the distributive notion is highlighted by the switch in CPA from singular to plural, a switch that does not occur in the Greek original (as well as perhaps by the CPA switch from Perfect to Participle). Thus, the Participle in past time contexts can express some types of past imperfective aspect, even without the auxiliary "Aom.

As in the case of past time instances of the CPA expression (pronoun +) Participle, future time instances that are not due to translation technique can be explained as contextually based. Additionally, however, future time CPA Participles also attest to a process common in the development of Northwest Semitic languages in general. That is, the Participle was in the process of taking over the functions of the Imperfect. These explanations are not mutually exclusive.

The third reason why the label "historical present" is not the most appropriate is diachronic in nature. Since, unlike the Greek Present Indicative, the Aramaic Participle was originally atemporal, its employment in the past and the future preceded its development as the present tense. Thus, the employment of the CPA (pronoun +) Participle in past and future contexts could perhaps be evidence

that it has not yet become a full fledged present tense at the diachronic stage of the language attested in the corpus. On the other hand, even if the CPA Participle is a true present tense, its employment in the past and future is better explained as a remnant of its earlier function as an atemporal progressive or imperfective, rather than a more advanced extension of its later present function. This observation does not contradict the well known fact that the Aramaic Participle was in the process of taking over many of the functions of the Imperfect, since the said process does not require it to be a present tense before functioning in the past and the future.

It should be highlighted here that the past and future functions of the CPA (pronoun +) Participle are not in doubt, but only the label "historical present" (and the label "futuristic present"). To some extent, the interpretation of the past and future instances of (pronoun +) Participle depends on whether it is employed to translate the Greek Present Indicative because it is the CPA present tense or because, being atemporal, it is the expression that best fits the Greek original. Unfortunately, the present study cannot give a completely unequivocal answer to this question. Either way, however, the employment of (pronoun +) Participle in past time is not a true "historical present," because it is not an expansion of its present tense function. Rather, since the Semitic Participle was originally atemporal, the fact that the CPA expression (pronoun +) Participle occurs in past, present, and future contexts may be either because it has not yet fully developed into a present tense, or because in spite of its development as a present tense, some of its earlier atemporal functions persist.

One can also contrast the grammaticalization of the CPA expression pronoun + Participle with the Syriac Participle + pronominal enclitic. On the one hand, neither in CPA nor in Syriac is the grammaticalization of the expression pronoun + Participle complete, since one pronoun can serve as a personal marker for two or more Participles in both CPA and Syriac. On the other hand, the Syriac construction Participle + enclitic pronoun is at a later stage of grammaticalization than its counterpart in CPA. In CPA both the position and the form of the pronoun are variable, i.e., the pronoun can stand before or after the Participle and be independent or enclitic, whereas in Syriac the pronoun is a clitic rather than an independent word. Also, whereas in CPA the expression pronoun +

170

Participle has not yet become distinct from the simple Participle alone, and continues to have an atemporal function, in Syriac the distinction is clearer, i.e., the Syriac Participle by itself retains its atemporal function but the construction Participle + pronominal enclitic is much more consistently used for the expression of the present tense.⁶⁸ This observation also reflects the difference between Eastern and Western Aramaic of the late ancient Aramaic period.

Although the CPA verbal system did not clearly distinguish between pronoun + Participle and the simple Participle by itself, that distinction may be observable in verbs that commonly introduce direct speech. That is, CPA participial expressions that translate Greek Present Indicatives of verbs of speaking denoting present time consist mostly of the expression pronoun + Participle along with a few instances of the simple Participle by itself, whereas those that translate historical presents and Aorist Indicatives consist of the simple Participle by itself without a personal pronoun. Thus, at least for verbs that introduce direct speech, the simple Participle by itself can denote both past and present actions, whereas pronoun + Participle tends to be more restricted to present actions. However, because the behavior of verbs that introduce direct speech is distinctive, one must be careful in drawing inferences concerning the CPA verbal system as a whole. 70

⁶⁸ Also, the 3rd person pronoun is omitted in this Syriac expression but not in CPA. For further discussion on the Syriac Participle + pronominal enclitic as the present tense, see Li 2010.

^{16:6} CSRPc). However, the form is ambiguous, and could be analyzed either as a Participle or a Perfect. Besides, one cannot rule out the possibility that the CPA translator translated the Greek Present literally as a present tense.

⁷⁰ For the sake of completeness, it should be stated that Greek Imperfect Indicative of verbs of speaking are translated mostly with καω + Participle, and in a few instances with orthographically clear Perfects. The orthographically ambiguous instances can be analyzed either as CPA Perfects or Participles, including one instance of τωκ αωω (Mark 14:36 CSRPe). The latter could be an instance of pronoun + Participle of a verb

It is possible that the CPA expression pronoun + Participle was in the process of developing along the same path of grammaticalization as in Syriac, and would eventually have become distinguished from the simple Participle by itself to serve as a grammatical construction limited to the expression of the present tense. However, since with the rise of Islam CPA ceased to be a spoken language, it is not possible to pursue the question of how the CPA Participle would have further developed if the language had continued as a living language.

8.2.4. The CPA Passive Participle

The CPA Passive Participle is mostly employed to translate the Greek Perfect Passive and Pluperfect Passive Indicatives. It also occurs in the translation of the Pluperfect Active Indicative of $\varepsilon \tilde{t} \omega \theta \alpha$, which has a simple past meaning, rarely in the translation of Greek Imperfect and Present Indicatives, as well as in the translation of the Periphrastic Passive Present. It is not attested in the corpus in the translation of Greek Aorist or Future Indicatives.

As already mentioned, although non-active Greek Imperfect, Aorist, Present, and Future Indicatives are often translated in CPA with T-stem forms, non-active Greek Perfect and Pluperfect Indicatives are regularly translated with Passive Participles. Thus, although both T-stem and Passive Participles may overlap in the translation of the non-active Greek forms, T-stem forms are the usual means of expressing non-active diathesis in CPA, including, inter alia, the passive, whereas Passive Participles function more frequently as resultatives. That is, the CPA Passive Participle denotes a state that resulted from a previous action or event.⁷¹

of speaking in past time, but may simply be a Perfect accompanied by a pronoun. See the discussion of the passage in chapter two, section 2.3.4.

⁷¹ Falla (2008) has an insightful discussion on the classification of words that have participial forms in Syriac. Due to the difficulties in distinguishing results and states, as well as other syntactic complexities, Falla prefers to consider words with such functions adjectives rather than Passive Participles. Nevertheless, the label "Passive Participle" is retained here, because the expression of resultative notions is part of the verbal system of some languages, and the instances discussed here involve the translation of Greek verbs and verb phrases.

Since the CPA Passive Participle, with or without a personal pronoun, denotes a present state, it can be analyzed as a nominal predicate in the clause. Although this study does not deal with the nominal functions of Participles, mention should be made of at least 3 instances where Greek Indicative verbs are translated in CPA with Passive Participles functioning adjectivally. They consist of 1 instance where the Greek Future Indicative of the verb άδυνατέω "to be unable, to be impossible" is translated in CPA with the Passive Participle (Luke 1:37 CCR3), 1 instance where the Greek Perfect Passive Indicative is translated with the Pael Passive Participle معلم (John 19:28 Dami), and 1 instance of the Passive Participle יבה in the phrase יבה אסם אהל, which translates the Greek Aorist ἐγρηγόρησεν in a conditional apodosis (Matt. 24:43 CCR1, CSRPd).72 Though these instances involve words that are Passive Participles in form, they function adjectivally. These instances are discussed elsewhere in this book, and there is no need for further comment here.

In a number of instances, the CPA Passive Participle occurs in conjunction with rom. Although the combination of rom and a Passive Participle is a literal translation of the Greek Periphrastic Passive Pluperfect (Mark 1:6 CCR1; 15:7 CSROe; 15:26 CSROe; 15:46 CSRPc; Luke 9:45 CSRPc, CSRSe; John 12:16 T-Se), it does not follow that both must be analyzed as verbal phrases. It is instructive to compare the translation of the Greek Periphrastic Passive Perfect and Pluperfects.

```
John 12:14 T-S<sup>a</sup>

καθώς ἐστιν γεγραμμένον

John 12:16 T-S<sup>a</sup>

ἐμνήσθησαν ὅτι ταῦτα ἦν ἐπ' αὐτῷ γεγραμμένα
```

⁷² Another possible instance is in Mark 15:44 CSRP^c. However, there it is better analyzed as a CPA Perfect. See the discussion of this passage in chapter six, section 6.1.1.2.

The above examples come from the same context and manuscript. Notwithstanding the fact that the verb ɛlul "to be" is part of the Greek Periphrastic Passive Perfect construction in John 12:14, the CPA translation does not include the verb ⊀on, but consists of the Passive Participle alone. On the other hand, the Greek Periphrastic Passive Pluperfect in John 12:16 is translated in CPA with ⊀on and the Passive Participle. Thus, the addition of the Perfect of ⊀on can be understood as a past time marker. That is, since the CPA Passive Participle without ⊀on denotes a present resultative state in a nominal clause, the addition of the Perfect of ⊀on turns it into a past resultative state, i.e., a resultative state in a past time clause. Similarly, the translation of the Greek Periphrastic Passive Future Perfect entails the addition of the CPA Imperfect of ⊀on, which denotes a future resultative state, i.e., a resultative state in a future time clause (Matt. 18:18 CSRPe).

Another interesting comparison comes from the following instances.

Mark 10:1 CSROc

مصر على حملح <u>عملح حممة</u> [م].مهم

Mark 15:8 CSROe

مرمصة مهم بالبع منعه: المهاءمد سامه سيده

On ΔΔκ as a Passive Participle, see Müller-Kessler's (1991: 36). Although the CPA expression ΔΔκ κοω is the same in both passages above, they translate two different Greek expressions. The example from Mark 10:1 is a translation of the Greek Pluperfect Active Indicative of εἴωθα "to be accustomed to, be in the habit of," whose Pluperfect has a simple past meaning (see also Matt. 27:15 CCR1, CSROe, CSRPh). On the other hand, as mentioned in chapter two (see section 2.2.2.5), the CPA reading in Mark 15:8 seems to follow a few late manuscripts that read καθὼς εθος ην ἴνα τὸν Βαραββᾶν ἀπολύση αὐτοῖς "as it was custom, that he should release Barabbas to them." Therefore, it is best to analyze Δακ κοω in Mark 15:8 as a past time nominal sentence, translating the Greek copular clause εθος ην.

There is also an interesting instance of a CPA textual variant consisting of the presence or absence of Kom in conjunction with

the Passive Participle. It occurs in the translation of a Greek Imperfect Indicative (John 11:38 CSRPd, Dama).

John 11:38

[CSRP^d] محمد معمده حصحه [...] [Dam^a] محمد حصحه حلين

In the above example, there is no textual variant in the Greek Vorlage. Thus, the distinction between kan (CSRPd) and (CSRPd) in the CPA witnesses is stylistic, and shows that the addition of kan to the Passive Participle is optional, at least in some contexts.

Thus, the combination of <code><am>com</code> and a Passive Participle is best analyzed not as a verbal phrase <code><am>com</code> + Passive Participle, but as a Passive Participle functioning as a predicate adjective accompanied by <code><am>com</code> functioning as a linking verb/temporal marker. Nevertheless, though there is a syntactic difference between a resultative adjective accompanied by a past time marker and a past time resultative expression, the two expressions are very similar in terms of meaning. In fact, one can posit the following diachronic development for the two expressions:

[past] + [resultative] > [past resultative]

That is, what begins as a combination of a past time marker and a resultative adjective can develop into a past time resultative verbal phrase. Either way, the expression denotes a past resultative (i.e., pluperfect) state, as in other forms of Aramaic (Nöldeke 1904: 219,220; Margolis 1910: 82).

In addition, the combination of <code>koo</code> and a Passive Participle also occurs in the translation of the Greek Perfect Indicative in a hypothetic clause (Mark 9:42 CSROc). See the discussion below on conditional clauses, especially section 8.2.6.1.

In some other forms of Aramaic the Peal Passive Participle of certain transitive verbs can at times function with the active meaning of the root, e.g., Samaritan Aramaic (Rosenberg 1901: 33), Syriac (Nöldeke 1904: 220; Goldenberg 1992: 118–119), Jewish Babylonian Aramaic (Margolis 1910: 82). It is possible that this phenomenon also occurred in CPA, though the attested instances in this study were too few for a thorough analysis. Among the possible examples that can be given, there is the instance of in Matt. 24:43 (in Matt. 24:43 (in Matt. 24:43) (in Matt. 24:4

clauses have $\prec \alpha \omega +$ Active Participle, as well as 4 instances of the CPA Peal Passive Participle vis "to need" employed in the translation of the Greek expression χρείαν ἔχω "to have need" (Matt. 26:65 CSRG/Od; Mark 11:3 CSRPc; John 2:25 Sina; 13:29 CCR8).

Matt. 26:65 CSRG/Od

جم حمد متح متح المحمد

τί ἔτι χρείαν ἔχομεν μαρτύρων;

Mark 11:3 CSRPc

الاحباء مربعة

Ό κύριος αὐτοῦ χρείαν ἔχει•

John 2:25 Sin^a

وراع مورع موني المناه المراء مراءه

καὶ ὅτι οὐ χρείαν εἶχεν ἵνα τις μαρτυρήση περὶ τοῦ άνθρώπου

John 13:29 CCR8

Αγόρασον ὧν *χρείαν ἔχομεν* εἰς τὴν ἑορτήν

In the above examples, the Greek expression χρείαν ἔχω "to have need" is translated by expressions that include the word wis, a Peal Passive Participle of vie "to lack, need." All the examples except John 2:25 translate Greek Present Indicatives. The instance in John 2:25 translates a Greek Imperfect Indicative, and the past time context accounts for the presence of Kan before the Passive Participle.⁷³ The employment of wi in the translation of the Greek expression χρείαν ἔχω "to have need" can be contrasted with the way the expression was generally translated in Syriac. In Syriac, the expression was clearly passive, since it consisted of the T-stem of \leftarrow often with Δ of the person in need (Williams 2004: 192). In contrast, two of the instances of 🛶 above (Matt. 26:65;

⁷³ As for the spelling win for wi in John 2:25, it is an example of a phenomenon more common in the late period of CPA. Müller-Kessler (1991: 46–47) explained the spelling interchange of the sibilants v, o, and s evidence of that they were no longer differentiated in pronunciation.

John 13:29) are accompanied by a subject personal pronoun. Thus, the above examples show a CPA Peal Passive Participle with an active meaning.

8.2.5. The CPA qaţţil Verbal Adjective

Participles generally have their origin as verbal adjectives. Therefore, the line of distinction between adjectives and Participles is not always clear-cut. Goldenberg (1992: 118–119) argued that although some Syriac verbs could have Passive Participles with active meaning, intransitive verbs could not, and, hence, other forms were employed instead, such as including. This is especially true of adjectives of the *qattil* pattern, which often express resultative states. There are at least 7 clear instances of CPA *qattil* verbal adjectives employed in the translation of Greek Indicative verbs, which may be listed as follows: 3 instances of com + verbal adjective (Matt. 25:5 CSRPd, CSROe; 26:43 CCR1, CSRPd; Mark 11:1 CSRPe), 2 instances of pronoun + verbal adjective (Mark 7:6 CSROe; 14:37 CSRPe), and 2 instances of the verbal adjective by itself (Matt. 27:6 CSRPf; Mark 10:2 CSROe).

The instances of <code>Koo</code> + *qattil* verbal adjective translate the Greek Imperfect Indicative (Matt. 25:5 CSRPd, CSROe) the Greek Periphrastic Passive Pluperfect (Matt. 26:43 CCR1, CSRPd) and the Greek Present Indicative with a historical present function (Mark 11:1 CSRPc).

Matt. 25:5 CSROe

ב**ו גי, המעל עלגא אידי, ב**מלמ**ץ ממס, נגיביץ** χρονίζοντος δὲ τοῦ γυμφίου ἐνύσταξαν πᾶσαι καὶ ἐκάθευδον

Matt. 26:43 CCR1

: <u>تس رهستند نح مهه بعتد</u>ه رهمه سعدده

⁷⁴ For a discussion of the resultative function of the Syriac Passive Participle and *qattil* adjective, see Van Rompay (1999: 121–125; 2008: 199–201). According to Van Rompay, the Syriac Passive Participle is a passive resultative, and the *qattil* adjective is an active resultative of intransitive verbs.

εὖρεν αὐτοὺς καθεύδοντας, *ἦσαν* γὰρ αὐτῶν οἱ ὀφθαλμοὶ βεβαρημένοι

Mark 11:1 CSRPc

καὶ ὅτε *ἐγγίζουσιν* εἰς Ἱεροσόλυμα εἰς Βηθφαγὴ καὶ Βηθανίαν

As discussed in section 2.1.3, the word تحمد "sleeping, asleep" in Matt. 25:5 above it is best analyzed as an adjective of the *qattil* pattern, rather than as either an Active or a Passive Participle of (see Goldenberg 1992: 118-119). In terms of function, however, omo can be analyzed either as a past time nominal sentence, ומבב "they were asleep," or as an equivalent to the expression con + Participle, "they were sleeping." Similarly, the expression oom in the example from Mark 11:1 could be interpreted either مةحدي as a sentence with an adjectival predicate, "they were close," or as equivalent to <a>o + Participle, "they were approaching." Finally, the fact that ... oom in Matt. 26:43 translates a Greek Periphrastic Passive Pluperfect makes the adjective "heavy" a good candidate for a resultative sense. Nevertheless, in that context, the simple adjectival meaning seems more prominent than the verbal meaning. All these instances have in common that they occur in past time contexts.

The 2 instances of the CPA pronoun + *qattil* verbal adjective translate the Greek Present Indicative expressing present time (Mark 7:6 CSRO^e; 14:37 CSRP^e).

Mark 7:6 CSRPe

[2] σενοδια [3] τουο [4] μα [4] σαρδια αὐτῶν οὖτος ὁ λαὸς τοῖς χείλεσίν με τιμᾶ, ἡ δὲ καρδία αὐτῶν πόρρω ἀπέχει ἀπ' ἐμοῦ

Mark 14:37 CSRPe

ومعده معدد المرام ويجدم مهدة العراء معدده المرام

⁷⁵ Note also κατίας in the example from Matt. 26:43 above, which translates the Greek Present Active Participle καθεύδοντας.

καὶ ἔρχεται καὶ εύρίσκει αὐτοὺς καθεύδοντας, καὶ λέγει τῷ Πέτρῳ• Σίμων, καθεύδεις;

Concerning the form in Mark 14:37, see the discussion above. The word in the example from Mark 7:6 above also belongs to *qatţil* pattern (Müller-Kessler 1991: 93).

The 2 instances of the CPA *qaṭṭil* verbal adjective by itself consist of the Greek impersonal Present Indicative ἔξεστιν "possible, permitted" translated in CPA with Δ-λ-ν "allowed" (Matt. 27:6 CSRP^f; Mark 10:2 CSRO^c).

Matt. 27:6 CSRPf

الم عليك الناهر ملام حمه احداث

Οὐκ ἔξεστιν βαλεῖν αὐτὰ εἰς τὸν κορβανᾶν

Mark 10:2 CSROc

[κ]λκ ή του του <u>τον</u> καλ αλκε με το αστοα Καὶ προσελθόντες Φαρισαῖοι ἐπηρώτων αὐτὸν εἰ ἔξεστιν ἀνδρὶ γυναῖκα ἀπολῦσαι

In both the above instances, the Greek ἔξεστιν "possible, permitted" is translated in CPA with the *qattil* verbal adjective "permitted, allowed." The word has passive, resultative, and stative nuances, though it is also adjectival in syntactic function.

In addition to the clear instances, there is at least 1 other possible instance of a *qattil* verbal adjective that translates a Greek Indicative verb. In Mark 14:42 CSRPe, translates the Greek Perfect Indicative ἤγγικεν, from the verb ἐγγίζω "to come near." However that instance is better analyzed as a CPA Perfect. See the discussion on this passage in chapter six, section 6.1.1.2.

Although adjectives of the *qattil* pattern are clearly verbal adjectives that can express resultative notions, the instances are too few to comment more extensively on their verbal/participial function. However, it is worth noting that instances of $\prec \circ \circ \circ + qattil$ verbal adjective occur in past time contexts, and instances of (pronoun +) *qattil* verbal adjective in present time contexts.

8.2.6. CPA Conditional Clauses

The various grammatical constructions discussed above also occur in conditional clauses. Since this study was based on the translation of Greek Indicative verbs, the instances of conditional clauses included in this study present only a partial picture of CPA conditional clauses. Nevertheless, they are sufficient to make the following observations.

8.2.6.1. Counterfactual Conditions

As already mentioned, the employment of past tense forms for the expression of hypothetical and counterfactual modality is a common cross-linguistic phenomenon (Palmer 2001: 203–221). Thus, CPA counterfactual hypothetical or conditional clauses are attested in this study with grammatical constructions that are related to the past time, i.e., $\prec \circ \circ \circ$ + Participle, the Passive Participle, and the Perfect. The counterfactual nature of the clause is expressed by the conjunction $\Delta i \prec \circ$ (Müller-Kessler 1991: 149), which is usually followed by one of the said verbal forms. However, it is difficult to discern any semantic difference between the various past time forms used. For example:

John 14:28 T-S°
שמל אור ממיש במשבים איר : איר המיש במשיפה מויר בארא ממישה במשבים איר : ירשר במשיפה איר : ירשר ש

Matt. 24:43 CCR1

KILL Kings Kings Lin Khini min Kom alki

[...] mhin and Kom Klo in Kom hik Khik

In the above example of $\leftarrow \infty$ + Participle occurs in both the protasis and the apodosis of the same counterfactual conditional clause. The above example also contains the Passive Participle in the apodosis (on this, see the discussion below and in chapter five, section 5.1.3). The following is another example of the em-

ployment of a CPA Passive Participle accompanied by Kom in a counterfactual hypothetical/conditional clause.

Mark 9:42 CSRO° (בים [רנים] המכיא [רנים] מוֹס בים [רנים] השליא [רנים] השליא [רנים] בים מוֹס בים מוֹס

In the above example, the Passive Participle it accompanied by com occurs as part of the protasis of a counterfactual hypothetical statement. The apodosis consists of a nominal clause.

In passing, it is of interest to notice that in a couple of the above cited examples, the particle has seems to function as a correlative with old "if . . ., then." There are possibly 3 instances in the corpus (Matt. 24:43 CCR1; Luke 10:13 CSRO; John 14:28 T-Sc). However, the instance in Matt. 24:43 (cited earlier) may be otherwise interpreted (see the discussion on the passage in chapter five, section 5.1.3). In both Luke 10:13 and John 14:28, has occurs immediately before a CPA Perfect. Since the instance in John 14:28 was already cited earlier, only the instance in Luke 10:13 is given below.

In the above example the particle had in the apodosis of a counterfactual conditional clause may function perhaps as a correlative with ald, i.e., "if . . ., then." If so, it is possible that this correlative function of had may be related to the fact that copulas can grammaticalize into focus markers (Heine and Kuteva 2002: 95–96). Of course, had has not stopped being a copula and become a full-fledged focus marker, but it may have expanded its functions to include that of a focus marker/correlative in this specific context. To Unfortunately, however, the attested instances are too few to

There is also a close relationship between cleft structures and focus markers. "What appears to characterize this evolution is that a copula having third person singular reference, functioning as the matrix predicate in a cleft construction, is reinterpreted as a marker of new information" (Heine and Kuteva 2002: 96). Thus, the combination and could

permit definite conclusions, and it is possible that these instances of kard could be otherwise explained.

Even if it turns out to be correct that $\lambda \prec c$ can function as a correlative with $\alpha \prec c$, this function does not seem to be shared by its negative counterpart $\lambda \perp d$. Negative counterfactual apodoses other than nominal sentences are negated with $\prec d$. For example:

In the above example, the counterfactual apodosis is negated with $\prec \Delta$ instead of $\lambda \Delta$. The latter is not attested as a focus marker on a negative counterfactual apodosis. See also another example in Mark 13:20 CSRPe cited earlier in this section.

8.2.6.2. Factual conditions

In contrast to counterfactual conditional clauses, factual conditional clauses employ a different conjunction, (Müller-Kessler 1991: 149), which in turn can be followed by non-past time verbal constructions, such as (pronoun +) Participle and the Imperfect, which are not commonly attested in counterfactual conditions.

The simple Participle without <code>Koo</code> is very common in factual conditional clauses (Matt. 21:24 CCR1; 21:25 CCR1; 21:26 CCR1; 24:50 CSRPd, CSROe; Mark 11:31 CSRPe; Luke 20:5 Damc; 20:6 Damc; John 11:48 Dame; 15:6 T-Sc, T-Sd; 15:10 T-Sc; 15:20 CCR8; 16:7 CCR8).

be understood as, "If . . . [counterfactual protasis], it would be that . . . [counterfactual apodosis]," which in turn can develop into simply, "If . . . [counterfactual protasis], then . . . [counterfactual apodosis]." However, as the instance in Luke 10:13 shows, as is not necessarily clause initial, but occurs immediately before the main verb of the apodosis.

In contrast to the Participle without <code><am>con</code> in the example above, the construction <code><am>con</code> + Participle and other past time expressions are mostly confined to counterfactual conditional clauses.

There is an interesting CPA textual variant in John 15:6 that deserves comment.

```
John 15:6  \sqrt{\lfloor m \rfloor} \text{ in a mixima } [\dots] : \text{ such that } \sqrt{\lfloor T-S^c \rfloor}   \sqrt{\lfloor m \rfloor} \text{ in a mixima } \sqrt{\lfloor T-S^d \rfloor}   \sqrt{\lfloor m \rfloor} \text{ in a mixima } \sqrt{\lfloor m \rfloor}   \sqrt{\lfloor m \rfloor} \text{ in a mixima } \sqrt{\lfloor m \rfloor}
```

For what it is worth, it is instructive to contrast the above example with the previously cited instance in Mark 9:42. Both passages employ a passive form of the Greek verb $\beta\acute{\alpha}\lambda\lambda\omega$ "to throw, cast," and both are translated with a form of the CPA verb However, the passage in John 15:6 has the Greek Aorist Indicative $i\beta\lambda\eta\theta\eta$ in a factual apodosis, which is translated in CPA with the T-stem Participle which, whereas Mark 9:42 has the Greek Perfect Indicative $\beta\acute{\epsilon}\beta\lambda\eta\tau\alpha\iota$ in a counterfactual protasis, which is translated with the Passive Participle in accompanied by Com. Thus, the contrast between the two passages may be another example of the CPA preference for forms that express past time in counterfactual conditions. Additionally, the contrast is also another

The majority of Greek manuscripts have an Aorist Subjunctive μείνη in the protasis, in contrast with the Present Subjunctive μένη of the main text of NA^{28} . It is not clear whether or not the Greek variant is behind the difference in the CPA witnesses.

example of how the Greek Passive Perfect and Pluperfects are translated by the CPA Passive Participle, whereas the other Greek Passives are generally translated by the CPA T-stem.

8.3. OBSERVATIONS ON CPA NOMINAL CLAUSES AND CLAUSES WITH ~000

Since the present study focused on the translation of Greek Indicative verbs, nominal clauses are outside the scope of this study. Nevertheless, because of the numerous instances of the Greek verb εἰμί, some brief remarks are in order. In the foregoing chapters, instances εἰμί functioning as a simple non-auxiliary verb were first categorized on the basis of syntax, and then by the CPA translation.⁷⁸

As it turns out, the various syntactic environments of εἰμί functioning as a simple non-auxiliary verb were not as significant to the CPA translation as its temporal sphere. The Imperfect Indicative of the simple verb εἰμί is usually translated in CPA with a form of Kon, which in most instances can be analyzed as a Perfect, and the Future Indicative of εἰμί is usually translated with the Imperfect of Kom. Occasionally, the T-stem of Local occurs instead. There is also 1 instance of a CPA textual variant between the presence (Matt. 25:2 CCR1, CSROe) or absence of Kam (Matt. 25:2 CSRPd) in the translation of the Greek Imperfect Indicative of εἰμί, as well as 1 instance where the Future Indicative of εἰμί is translated with a personal pronoun without Kom (Luke 11:36 CSRPc). However, the Participle of Kam is not attested in the translation of the Present Indicative of Eiui. Instead, most of the instances of the Present Indicative of εἰμί are translated in CPA with a personal pronoun, and a few instances with the CPA copula אל, or its negative counterpart אל. The following are examples:

Mark 6:44 CSRO° 1, מלב, האבל מביא המשל מלביר זי <u>מסס</u> מס

⁷⁸ I found Falla's (2000: 15–25) list of the functions of the verb **~oo** in Syriac a useful starting point, though I acknowledge that the situation in Greek is different from Aramaic.

καὶ *ἦσαν* οἱ φαγόντες τοὺς ἄρτους πεντακισχίλιοι ἄνδρες

Matt. 24:5 CSROe

Kurso an Kik

έγώ είμι ὁ χριστός

Matt. 23:11 CCR1

് രാജ്യം <u>ന്നം</u> രത ്യാട്

ό δὲ μείζων ὑμῶν *ἔσται* ὑμῶν διἀκονος

The above examples show the verb k000 employed in the translation of $\varepsilon l \mu l$ in the Imperfect (Mark 6:44) and Future (Matt. 23:11), but a pronoun in the translation of $\varepsilon l \mu l$ in the Present (Matt. 24:5).

The fact that the Participle of κοω is rarely employed to express the present tense (and not attested in the translation of εἰμί in the Present Indicative in this corpus) is best explained by the fact that the verb "to be" is not obligatory in Semitic. The Participle of κοω is attested once in the translation of the Imperfect Indicative of εἰμί (John 12:6 T-S²) and in at least 2 instances of the translation of the Future Indicative of εἰμί (Luke 1:34 CCR3; 9:41 CSROc, CSRSc). 79 Also, the expression pronoun + Participle of κοω is attested as an alternative to the Imperfect of κοω in the translation of the auxiliary εἰμί in the Periphrastic Future (Matt. 24:9 CSROc; Luke 1:20 CSROc). Further, the Participle of κοω "to be" is also attested at least once in the translation of the Present Indicative of γίνομαι (Luke 11:26 CSRPc).

In passing, it should be mentioned that older Aramaic grammars ascribed a copula function for the personal pronoun, especially the 3rd person, which is understandable when one compares the above examples (e.g., for Samaritan Aramaic, Vilsker 1981: 83; for Syriac, Nöldeke 1904: 246; for Jewish Babylonian/Talmudic, Margolis 1910: 87–88; etc.). However, this view has been challenged in

⁷⁹ The instance in Luke 9:41 consists of pronoun + Participle of κοω. There is also an instance of a CPA textual variant in the translation of the Future Indicative of εἰμί between the Imperfect κοω (Matt. 24:51 CCR1, CSRPd) and the Participle κοω (Matt. 24:51 CSROc). See chapter four. Further, the Future Indicative of εἰμί is also translated once with the T-stem Participle of κωω (Mark 11:24 CSRPe;).

recent years. For more recent views, see Van Peursen (2006a) and the responses of Goldenberg (2006); Joosten (2006); Muraoka (2006); Van Peursen (2006b). It is beyond the scope of this study to settle this issue.

Although the Greek verb εἰμί is generally considered a copula in Greek grammars (also γίνομαι in some contexts), the label copula in recent years has been mostly limited to the particle of existence in Semitic (e.g., Hebrew Ψ΄, CPA κα, etc.), but not applied to the verb "to be." Of course, it goes without saying that one cannot claim that the employment of the CPA verb κασ matches the function of the Greek verbs εἰμί and γίνομαι in every instance of translation. However, it is curious that the CPA particle of existence κα and its negative counterpart κω are never attested as a translation of εἰμί with the function of a verb of existence, "there is/are." The instances are too few to draw definite conclusions, but are suggestive of the fact that, at least in CPA, κακ has developed from a particle of existence to a present tense of the verb "to be."

Luke 19:9 CSRPc

: <u>ασιδως</u> παιτικαί αυτός νίὸς Ἀβραάμ *ἐστιν*

John 11:9 Dam^d

[...] - τος τος (τως), της δώδεκα ὧραί είσιν τῆς ἡμέρας

The above examples show two different functions of the Greek verb ɛl̄μl, as a linking verb "is" (Luke 19:9) and as a verb of existence "there are" (John 11:9). The linking verb is translated by which is more frequently absent) and a pronoun, and the verb of existence is negated not with who but with color (John 11:9).

Also, the combination of kind with rom as a tense marker, which is common in other forms of Aramaic (e.g., Syriac) is not attested in the translation of eight in the Gospels.⁸⁰

⁸⁰ There may be such an instance in Luke 9:58 CSRPc, where [...]a [,ωλω] Δ κοω translates the Greek ἔχει, a Present Indicative of the verb ἔχω "to have," expressing possession. However, the fragmentary condition of the CPA text and the implausible need for a tense marker to express the present time make this instance of doubtful significance.

To some extent, the Greek verbs εἰμί and γίνομαι have overlapping functions, and their CPA translation is similar. However there are a few important exceptions. First, in a number of instances, the Aorist Indicative of γίνομαι occurs in expressions such as καὶ ἐγένετο or ἐγένετο δέ, which function as discourse markers similar to the Biblical Hebrew [17]. Falla (2000: 18–19) explains such instances as "marking a sequence introducing new information." These are usually translated with the Perfect of can (and in only 1 instance with the T-stem of Luke 1:8 CSRPc).

Luke 2:1 CSROc

لاماده مراسع <u>لاداسه</u>

Έγενετο δέ εν ταῖς ἡμέραις ἐκείναις

In the above example the Greek Eyéveto $\delta \dot{\epsilon}$ serving as a discourse marker is translated with σ 0000.

In other contexts of the translation of γίνομαι there is a greater tendency for κοω to overlap with the T-stem of το "to be made/done," which is employed more often when the Greek verb can be rendered in the sense of "to happen, to occur." Notice the two instances of the Aorist Indicative of γίνομαι in the following example.

Matt. 28:2-4 CCR1

 (\ldots) שא בבג בל אבע בין בסו המס בים איז (א] שאל ביז באהבי מא המשאה... המשאה בים איז משם משם היא כישאה (\ldots)

And look *there was* a great earthquake. For an angel of the Lord descended from heaven. . . And his appearance was like lightning. . . [And for fear of him, the guards shook,] and *became* as dead.

καὶ ἰδοὺ σεισμὸς ἐγένετο μέγας• ἄγγελος γὰρ κυρίου καταβὰς ἐξ οὐρανοῦ . . . ἦν δὲ ἡ εἰδέα αὐτοῦ ὡς ἀστραπὴ . . . ἀπὸ δὲ τοῦ φόβου αὐτοῦ ἐσείσθησαν οἱ τηροῦντες καὶ ἐγενήθησαν ὡς νεκροί.

In the above example, the Aorist Indicative of γίνομαι is translated with the CPA Perfect of two different verbs, the T-stem of in v. 2 and the verb room in v. 4.

These brief remarks are preliminary in nature. Though the phenomena described above are not necessarily unique to CPA, a more comprehensive study of CPA nominal clauses is desirable.

8.4. OBSERVATIONS ON TEXTUAL ISSUES

Although this study did not focus on text critical matters, textual variants were frequent enough to warrant some brief observations. It is no surprise that the Greek text that served as the basis of the CPA translations of the Gospels differs from the standard published text (NA²⁸). The CPA translation of the Gospels often agrees with the Byzantine/majority text family of the Greek New Testament, as was demonstrated in the case of Mark 2:22 CCR1 (see the discussion of the passage in chapter three, section 3.3.4). See also Mark 8:22 CSROc; 11:23 CSRPe; 11:24 CSRPe (see chapter three, sections 3.2.3, 3.5.1, and 3.3.4 respectively).

However, there are also instances where the CPA translation departs from the Byzantine text, such as in Mark 14:41 CSRPe (see chapter five, section 5.1.8); 14:72 CSROe (see chapter two, section 2.2.3.2); 15:8 CSROe (see chapter two, section 2.2.2.5); John 15:7 T-Se (see chapter four, section 4.3.1); 19:29–30 Damf (see chapter six, section 6.1.2.3). Further, the example of the CPA textual variant in Luke 9:43 (CSRSe and CSROe) may suggest that more than one text type served as the Vorlage for the CPA texts. See the discussion on this passage in chapter two, section 2.1.5. These observations are of a preliminary nature, and it is hoped that the matter will be further studied by scholars with more expertise in New Testament textual criticism.

9. CONCLUSION

The foregoing study explored both the translation of Greek Indicative verbs in the CPA Gospels and its implications for the CPA verbal system. I argued here that though there is evidence that the language of the CPA translation is influenced by the Greek original, it is not a mechanical translation. It is real Aramaic, albeit with some Greek influence. The presence of textual, stylistic, and/or idiomatic variation in an otherwise literal translation provides useful clues concerning both the nature of the CPA translation and the functions of CPA verbs. Hence, the evidence afforded by translation technique concerning the syntax and morphosyntax of the CPA verbal system was discussed in light of synchronic and diachronic comparative evidence.

This research involved entering and analyzing hundreds of instances. I have personally double-checked the data and the analysis, and tried to the best of my ability to find and correct errors. However, it is inevitable that some errors remain, and I cannot claim that it is free from errors. Hopefully, in spite of any errors that might remain, the general conclusions of this study will still prove to be correct.

Since this study is based on only selected phenomena related to CPA translation technique and the CPA verbal system, a more complete study of both may confirm or disprove some of my conclusions. Nevertheless, it is my hope that this short study will make a modest contribution to the understanding of both CPA translation technique and the CPA verbal system.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Aland, Barbara, Kurt Aland, Johannes Karavidopoulos, Carlo M. Martini, and Bruce M. Metzger, eds.

2012 *Novum Testamentum Graece*. 28th rev. ed. Stuttgart: Deutsche Bibelgesellschaft.

Bar-Asher, Moshé

1988 Le syro-palestinien-études grammaticales. *Journal Asiatique* 276: 27–59.

Bauer, Hans, and Pontus Leander

1927 Grammatik des biblisch-Aramäischen. Halle: Max Niemeyer. Beyer, Klaus

1984 Die aramäischen Texte vom Toten Meer samt den Inschhriften aus Palästina, dem Testament Levis aus der Kairoer Genisa, der Fastenrolle und den alten talmudischen Zitaten: Aramaistische Einleitung, Text, Übersetzung, Deutung, Grammatik, Wörterbuch, Deutsch-aramäisches Wortliste, Register. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht.

Black, Matthew

1941 The Palestinian Syriac Gospels and the Diatesseron (Part 1). *Oriens Christianus* 36: 101–111.

Blass, Friedrich and Albert Debrunner

1984 Grammatik des neutestamentlichen Griechisch. Ed. Friedrich Rehkopf. 16th ed. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht.

Brock, Sebastian P.

1972 The Phenomenon of the Septuagint. In *The Witness of Tradition: Papers Read at the Joint British-Dutch Old Testament Conference Held at Woudschoten, 1970*, ed. A. S. van der Woude, 11–36. Oudtestamentische Studiën, 17. Leiden: Brill.

Brooks, James A. and Carlton L. Winbery

1979 Syntax of New Testament Greek. Lanham and London: University Press of America.

Burton, Ernest de Witt.

1898 Syntax of the Moods and Tenses in New Testament Greek. Edinburgh: T. & T. Clark.

Bybee, Joan L.

1994 The Grammaticalization of Zero: Asymmetries in Tense and Aspect Systems. In *Perspectives on Grammaticalization*, ed. William Pagliuca, 235–254. Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing Company.

Bybee, Joan L., Revere Perkins, and William Pagliuca

1994 The Evolution of Grammar: Tense, Aspect, and Modality in the Languages of the World. Chicago and London: The University of Chicago Press.

Cohen, David

1984 La phrase nominale et l'évolution du système verbal en sémitique: Études de syntaxe historique. Leuven and Paris: Éditions Peeters.

Comrie, Bernard

1976 Aspect. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press.

Dana, H. E. and Julius R. Mantey

1955 *A Manual Grammar of the Greek New Testament.* Toronto: The Macmillan Company.

Desreumaux, Alain

1997 Codex sinaiticus Zosimi rescriptus: Description codicologique des feuillets araméens melkites des manuscrits Schøyen 35, 36 et 37 (Londres - Oslo): comprenant l'édition de nouveaux passages des Évangiles et Catéchèses de Cyrille. Histoire du texte biblique, 3. Lausanne: Éditions du Zèbre.

Falla, Terry C.

- 2000 A Key to the Peshitta Gospels: Volume Two: Hē-Yōdh. Leiden, Brill.
- 2008 Grammatical Classification in Syriac Lexica: A Syntactically Based Alternative. In Foundations Syriac Lexicography III: Colloquia of the International Syriac Language Project, ed. Janet Dyk and Wido van Peursen, 71–158. Perspectives on Syriac Linguistics, 4. Piscataway, Gorgias Press.

Fanning, Buist M.

1990 Verbal Aspect in New Testament Greek. Oxford: Clarendon Press

Farina, Margherita

- 2006 A Survey on Semitic Verbal T-Forms: Status Quaestionis. Quaderni del Laboratorio di Linguistica 6:1–22.
- 2007–08 Review of Li, Tarsee (2008). Non-Active Participles in the Aramaic of Daniel. *Aramaic Studies* 6:111–136. *Quaderni del Laboratorio di Linguistica* 7:1–10.
- 2011 An Outline of Middle Voice in Syriac: Evidences of a Linguistic Category. Piscataway: Gorgias Press.

Goldenberg, Gideon

- 1992 Aramaic Perfects. Israel Oriental Studies 12:113-137.
- 1998 Studies in Semitic Linguistics: Selected Writings. Jerusalem: The Magnes Press.
- 2006 Comments on "Three Approaches to the Tripartite Nominal Clause in Syriac" by Wido van Peursen. In Corpus Linguistics and Textual History: A Computer-Assisted Interdisciplinary Approach to the Peshitta, eds. P.

S. F. van Keulen and W. Th. van Peursen, 175–184. Assen: Van Gorcum.

Goodwin, William W.

- 1889 Syntax of the Moods and Tenses of the Greek Verb. Rewritten and enlarged. Mcmillan and Co. [Reprinted in Eugene, Oreg.: Wipf and Stock Publishers, 2003]
- 1900 A Greek Grammar. Revised & enlarged ed. Boston: Ginn & Company.

Gzella, Holger

- 2004 Tempus, Aspekt und Modalität im Reichsaramäischen. Veröffentlichtungen der Orientalischen Kommission, 48. Wiesbaden: Harrassowitz.
- 2007 The Use of the Participle in the Hebrew Bar Kosiba Letters in the Light of Aramaic. *Dead Sea Discoveries* 14:90–98.

Haspelmath, Martin

- 1990 The Grammaticalization of Passive Morphology. *Studies in Language* 14:25–72.
- 1994 Passive Participles across Languages. In Voice: Form and Function, ed. Barbara Fox and Paul J. Hopper, 152–177. Typological Studies in Language, 27. Amsterdam and Philadelphia: John Benjamins Publishing Company.

Heine, Bernd and Tania Kuteva

2002 World Lexicon of Grammaticalization. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Holmes, Michael W.

2010 The Greek New Testament: SBL Edition. Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature.

Hopper, Paul J.

1991 On Some Principles of Grammaticalization. In Approaches to Grammaticalization; Volume 1: Focus on Theoretical and Methodological Issues, ed. Elizabeth Closs Traugott and Bernd Heine, 17–35. Typological

Studies in Language, 19:1. Amsterdam and Philadelphia: John Benjamins Publishing Company.

Hopper, Paul J. and Elizabeth Closs Traugott

2003 *Grammaticalization*. 2nd ed. Cambridge Textbooks in Linguistics. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press.

Joosten, Jan

- 1996 The Syriac language of the Peshitta and Old Syriac versions of Matthew: Syntactic Structure, Inner-Syriac Development and Translation Technique. Studies in Semitic Languages and Linguistics, 22. Leiden: Brill.
- 2002 Do the Finite Verbal Forms in Biblical Hebrew Express Aspect? *Journal of the Ancient Near Eastern Society* 29:49–70.
- 2006 Comments on "Three Approaches to the Tripartite Nominal Clause in Syriac" by Wido van Peursen. In Corpus Linguistics and Textual History: A Computer-Assisted Interdisciplinary Approach to the Peshitta, eds. P. S. F. van Keulen and W. Th. van Peursen, 185–188. Assen: Van Gorcum.

Kaufman, Stephen A.

1992 Languages: Aramaic. In *The Anchor Yale Bible Dictionary*, ed. David Noel Freedman, 4:173–178. New York: Doubleday.

Kemmer, Suzanne

- 1993 *The Middle Voice*. Typological Studies in Language, 23. Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- 1994 Middle Voice, Transitivity, and the Elaboration of Events. In *Voice: Form and Function*, ed. Barbara Fox and Paul J. Hopper, 179–230. Typological Studies in Language, 27. Amsterdam and Philadelphia: John Benjamins Publishing Company.

Kutscher, Edward Yechezkel

1976 Studies in Galilean Aramaic. Trans. and annotated by Michael Sokoloff. Ramat-Gan: Bar-Illan University Press.

Lewis, Agnes Smith, and Margaret Dunlop Gibson

1899 The Palestinian Syriac Lectionary of the Gospels: Re-edited from Two Sinai Mss. and from P. de Lagarde's Edition "Evangeliarium Hierosolymitanum." London: Kegan Paul, Trench, Trübner & Co.

Li, Tarsee

- 2008 Non-Active Participles in the Aramaic of Daniel. *Aramaic Studies* 6:111–136.
- 2009 The Verbal System of the Aramaic of Daniel: An Explanation in the Context of Grammaticalization. Studies in the Aramaic Interpretation of Scripture, 8. Leiden: E. J. Brill.
- 2010 The Syriac Active Participle and the Expression of the Past Imperfective and the Present. *Journal of the American Oriental Society* 130: 141–165.

Macuch, Rudolf

1982 *Grammatik des samaritanischen Aramäisch.* Berlin: Walter de Gruyter.

Margolis, Max Leopold

1910 A Manual of the Aramaic Language of the Babylonian Talmud: Grammar, Chrestomathy, and Glossaries. C. H. Beck.

Maslov, Jurij S.

1988 Resultative, Perfect and Aspect. In *Typology of Resultative Constructions*, ed. Vladimir P. Nedjalkov, 63–85.
Trans. Bernard Comrie. Typological Studies in Language, 12. Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing Company.

Metzger, Bruce M.

- 1977 The Early Versions of the New Testament: Their Origin, Transmission, and Limitations. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- 1994 A Textual Commentary on the Greek New Testament: Second Edition: A Companion Volume to the United Bible Societies' Greek New Testament (Fourth Revised Edition). London, New York: United Bible Societies.

Müller-Kessler, Christa

- 1991 Grammatik des Christlich-Palästinisch-Aramäischen: Teil 1: Schriftlehre, Lautlehre, Formenlehre. Hildesheim: Georg Olms Verlag.
- 1999 Christian Palestinian Aramaic and Its Significance to the Western Aramaic Dialect Group. *Journal of the American Oriental Society* 119: 631–636.

Müller-Kessler, Christa and Michael Sokoloff, eds.

1998 The Christian Palestinian Aramaic New Testament Version from the Early Period: Gospels. A Corpus of Christian Palestinian Aramaic, 2a. Groningen: STYX Publications.

Muraoka, Takamitsu

2006 A Response to the "Three Approaches to the Tripartite Nominal Clause in Syriac" by Wido van Peursen and a Bit More. In Corpus Linguistics and Textual History: A Computer-Assisted Interdisciplinary Approach to the Peshitta, eds. P. S. F. van Keulen and W. Th. van Peursen, 189–196. Assen: Van Gorcum.

Nedjalkov, Vladimir P. and Sergej je. Jaxontov

The Typology of Resultative Constructions. In Typology of Resultative Constructions, ed. Vladimir P. Nedjalkov, 3–62. Trans. Bernard Comrie. Typological Studies in Language, 12. Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing Company.

Nöldeke, Theodore

- 1868 Beiträge zur Kenntniss der aramäischen Dialecte. II.
 Ueber den christlisch-palästinischen Dialect.

 Zeitschrift der Deutschen Morgenländischen Gesellschaft 22:
 443–527.
- 1904 *Compendious Syriac Grammar.* Trans. James A. Crichton. London: Williams & Norgate. [Translated from the 2nd ed., 1898]

Palmer, F. R.

2001 Mood and Modality. 2nd ed. Cambridge Textbooks in Linguistics. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press.

Peursen, W. Th. van

- 2006a Three Approaches to the Tripartite Nominal Clause in Syriac. In Corpus Linguistics and Textual History: A Computer-Assisted Interdisciplinary Approach to the Peshitta, eds. P. S. F. van Keulen and W. Th. van Peursen, 157–173. Assen: Van Gorcum.
- 2006b Response to the Responses. In *Corpus Linguistics and Textual History: A Computer-Assisted Interdisciplinary Approach to the Peshitta*, eds. P. S. F. van Keulen and W. Th. van Peursen, 197–204. Assen: Van Gorcum.

Pierpont, William G., and Maurice A. Robinson

1995 The New Testament in the Original Greek: According to the Byzantine/Majority Textform. Roswell, GA: The Original Word Publishers.

Rogland, Max

- 2001 Performative Utterances in Classical Syriac. *Journal of Semitic Studies* 46:243–250.
- 2003 Remarks on the Aramaic Verbal System. In Hamlet on a Hill: Semitic and Greek Studies Presented to Professor T. Muraoka on the Occasion of His Sixty-Fifth Birthday, ed. Martin F. J. Baasten and Wido Th. van Peursen, 421–432. Leuven: Peeters.

Rosenberg, J.

1901 Lehrbuch der samaritanischen Sprache und Literatur. Die Kunst der Polyglottie, 71. Wien: A. Hartleben's Verlag.

Shibatani, Masayoshi

2006 On the Conceptual Framework for Voice Phenomena. *Linguistics* 44: 217–69.

Schulthess, Friedrich

- 1903 Lexicon Syropalaestinum. Berolini: In aedibus Georgii Reimer.
- 1924 *Grammatik des christlich-palästinischen Aramäisch*. Ed. Enno Littmann. Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr.

Taylor, Bernard A.

2004 Deponency and Greek Lexicography. In Biblical Greek Language and Lexicography: Essays in Honor of Frederick W. Danker, ed. Bernard A. Taylor, John A. Lee, Peter R. Burton, and Richard E. Whitaker, 167–176. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans.

Turner, Nigel

1963 A Grammar of New Testament Greek: Vol. III: Syntax, ed. James Hope Moulton. Edinburgh: T. & T. Clark.

Van Rompay, Lucas

- 1999 Le versions syriaques. In Le chaîne sur l'Exode: I. Fragments de Sévère d'Antioche: Texte grec établi et traduit, ed. Françoise Petit, 111–131. Leuven: Peeters.
- 2008 Jacob of Edessa and the Sixth-Century Syriac Translator of Severus of Antioch's Cathedral Homilies. In *Jacob of Edessa and the Syriac Culture of His Day*, ed. B. ter Haar Romeny, 189–204. Leiden: Brill.

Vilsker, Leib Khaimovich

1981 *Manuel d'araméen samaritain.* Trans. and ed. Jean Margain. Paris: Editions du Centre national de la recherche scientifique.

Wallace, Daniel B.

1996 Greek Grammar beyond the Basics: An Exegetical Syntax of the New Testament. Grand Rapids: Zondervan.

INDEX OF PASSAGES CITED

Matt.	24:47 CCR147, 157
1:20 CCR378, 118	24:47 CSRO ^c 157
2:4 CCR3 92	24:47 CSRPd47, 157
2:5 CCR3126, 136	24:50 CCR155, 157
2:18 CCR323, 79, 168	24:50 CSRO ^e 55, 157
2:22 CCR3 123	24:50 CSRPd157
2:23 CCR3 111	24:51 CCR1 107
18:10 CSRPe 51	24:51 CSRO ^e 107
18:14 CSRP ^e 73	24:51 CSRPd107
18:18 CSRP ^e 149	25:1 CSRO ^e 121, 166
18:20 CSRPe77, 141	25:2 CCR133, 153
21:27 CCR1 47	25:2 CSRO ^e 33, 153
21:28 CCR1 54	25:2 CSRPd33, 153
21:31 CCR183, 85	25:5 CSRO ^e 20, 177
21:33 CCR1 32	25:8 CSRO ^e
21:36 CCR1 155	25:13 CCR1140
21:40 CCR1 99	26:24 CCR192
22:46 CCR1 23	26:31 CCR1136
23:5 CCR1 50	26:40 CSRPd60
23:11 CCR1105, 184	26:43 CCR1148, 177
23:16 CCR1 75	26:45 CCR190
23:16 CSRO ^e	26:46 CCR1135
23:18 CCR1 54	26:48 BL
23:20 CCR1 164	26:48 CCR172
23:29 CSRO ^e 68	26:48 CSRPd
23:38 CSRO ^e 91	26:50 CSRPd62
24:5 CSRO ^e 71, 184	26:63 CSRG/Od 50
24:6 CSRO ^c 103	26:65 CSRG/O ^d 81, 175
24:9 CSRO ^c 112, 158	26:75 CSRO ^d 129
24:12 CSRO ^e 157	27:6 CSRPf178
24:12 CSRPd157	27:8 CSRO ^e 131
24:22 CSRPd122	27:11 CSRO ^e 127
24:26 CSRPd74, 78	27:11 CSRPf127
24:27 CSRPd109	27:15 CCR1146
24:39 CSRPd123	27:18 CCR1146
24:40-41 CSRPd 64	27:18 CSRO ^e 146
24:42 CCR1 64	27:30 CCR825
24:43 CCR167, 179	27:38 CCR892
24:43 CSRPd120	27:43 CCR171, 140

27:45 CCR1 130	11:23 CSRPe	89, 106, 156
28:2-4 CCR1186	11:24 CSRPe	66, 106
28:8 CCR1 167	11:27 CSRPe	
Mark	12:17 CSRPc	43
1:6 CCR1 148	12:23 CSRPc	125
1:8 CCR198	12:24 CSRPc	91
1:9c CCR1 160	12:44 CSRPc	36
1:21 CCR1 58	13:20 CSRPe	
1:22 CCR1 40	13:22 CSRPe	
1:29 CCR1121, 167	13:22 Dam	
2:7 CCR1 156	13:25 CSRPe	158
2:10 CCR1 80	14:36 CSRPe	38
2:16 CSRGd 37	14:37 CSRPe	53, 178
2:18 CCR161, 85, 89	14:42 CSRPe	135
2:18 CSRG ^d 61, 89	14:46 CSRPe	
2:19 CCR1 81	14:56 CSRPe	33
2:21 CCR1 87	15:7 CSRO ^e	
2:22 CCR165	15:8 CSRO ^e	173
4:8 CSROc168	15:10 CSRO ^e	
5:32 CSRO ^e 27	15:12 CSROe	38
5:35 CSRO ^e 57	15:16 CSRO ^e	80
6:44 CSRO ^e 184		58
6:47 CSRO ^e 35	15:17 CSROe	
7:6 CSRO ^e 53	15:19 CSROe	
7:6 CSRPe 177	15:20 CSROe	60
7:14 CSRO ^e 37	15:23 CSRO ^e	28
7:37 CSRPe40, 135	15:47 CSRPc	21, 138
8:2 CSRP ^e 68	16:4 CSRPc	160
8:3 CSRPe 82	16:6 CSRPc	77
8:17 CSRO ^c	Luke	
8:21 CSRO ^c		35
8:22 CSRO ^c 59, 164	1:8 CSRPc	
9:3 CSRO ^c 130	1:14a CSRPc	
9:4 CSRO ^c 29	1:15 CSRPc	
9:5 CSRO ^e	1:20 CSROc	
9:6 CSRO ^c 145	1:25 CSRO ^c	
9:11 CSRO ^c 83		160
9:13 CSRO ^c	1:33 CCR3	
9:28 CSRPc	1:34 CCR3	
9:30 CSRPe		74
9:31 CSRPc 100	1:37 CCR3	
9:34 CSRPc 129	1:59 CSROc	
9:39 CSRPc	1:80 CSROc	
9:42 CSRO ^c 137, 180	2:1 CSROc	
10:1 CSRO ^c	2:3 CSROc	
10:2 CSRO ^c	9:12 CSROc	
11:1 CSRPc61, 177	9:19 CSROc	,
11:2 CSRO ^c	9:41 CSRSe	
11:3 CSRP ^c 50, 63, 175	9:43 CSROc	21

INDEX 203

9:43 CSRS ^e 21	6:42 CSRPc	134
9:44 CSRS ^e 104	7:35 CSROc	127
9:48 CSRPc 76	7:37 CSROc	147
9:49 CSRPc 55	11:9 Damd	73, 185
9:49 CSRS ^e 55	11:30 CSRPd	144
9:50 CSRPc 78	11:32b CSRPd	34
9:50 CSRS ^e 78	11:34 CSRPd	86
9:53 CSRPc 30	11:34 Dam ^a	86
10:13 CSROc 180	11:38 CSRPd	174
11:26 CSRPc 87	11:38 Dam ^a	174
11:27 CSRPc 167	11:39 Dam ^a	76
11:31 CSRPc 112	11:48 Dame	182
11:36 CSRPc 107	12:6 T-S ^a	32
17:16 CSRS ^e 32	12:14 T-S ^a	173
17:21 CSRS ^c 78	12:16 T-S ^a	173
17:22 CSRS ^e 100	13:17 CCR8	76
17:27 CSRS ^e 42	13:19 CCR8	79
17:27–28 CSRS ^e 18	13:29 CCR8	36, 175
17:37 CSRS/Pc 86	14:27 T-S ^c	54
18:9 CSRS/Pc127	14:28 T-Sc	24, 179
18:27 CSRSc75	15:6 T-S ^c	52, 182
18:28 CSRSc 167	15:6 T-Sd	52, 182
19:4 CSRPc 104	15:7 T-S ^c	110
19:9 CSRPc 185	15:8 T-S ^c	123
19:46 Dam ^c 160	15:13 T-S ^c	81
19:47 Dam ^c	15:19 T-Sd	24
19:48 CSRO ^c 42	15:21 CCR8	140
John	15:22 CCR8	181
2:25 Sin ^a 175	19:28 Damf	137
6:33 CSRPc72	19:30 Dam ^f	138
6:39 CSRPc 156	19:31 Damf	33
0.57 0.514	17.51 Daiii	